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Company Profile
NGIIS R

Digital China is the largest integrated IT service provider in
China. Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”, stock
code: 00861) was listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1 June 2001. The
outstanding performance of Digital China has been widely
recognized in the industry, as evidenced by its inclusion in
“Forbes Asia’s Fab 507, “Fortune China 500” and “Top 100 PRC
Enterprises by Software Revenue”.

Digital China has integrated global resources in the IT industry,
having established working relationships with close to 300 IT
vendors at home and abroad, including long-term strategic
partnerships with a number of leading international IT players.
Digital China has built a complete value chain in IT services that
covers IT planning and consulting, integration of IT infrastructure,
design and implementation of solutions, design and development
of application software, outsourcing of IT system operation and
maintenance, systems integration, and IT distribution and
maintenance, providing integrated end-to-end IT services to its
customers.

“Digital China” is both the name by which we identify our
Company and a mission that we charge ourselves with.
Currently, we are driving the Sm@rt City initiative in tandem with
the 12th Five-Year Plan of the nation. By facilitating
amalgamation and innovation through IT advances such as cloud
computing, mobile internet and internet of things, we seek to
advance China’s new urbanization process. With the roll-out of
its “Sm@rt City” strategy across the nation, Digital China has
become “China’s leading Sm@rt City expert” who boasts a
forward-looking theoretical structure as well as having the largest
stock of successful cases.
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~inancial Highlights
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FY2012/13  FY2011/12  FY2010/11  FY2009/10  FY2008/09
—g—--  Z—%=——/ ZE-%/ ZTTh/S ZTIN\/
— =Bt —— B F —— B — T F T A
HK$m HK$m HK$m HK$m HK$m
EEEET ABEET AKEEL ABEERT BEEEL
For the Year REER
Revenue A 73,499 70,319 56,804 50,178 42,326
Profit from Operating Activities 7 5 2,114 1,945 1,462 1,164 884
Net Profit from Ordinary Activities REEEEEED
Attributable to Shareholders Z v F FRE 1,367 1,245 1,005 824 641
Earnings per Share (HK cents) AR CGEMW) 128.01 116.32 96.13 83.12 66.58
Dividends per Share (HK cents) KRB B 38.80 39.80 32.25 28.26 14.55
At Year-end WREER
Total Assets 188 E 28,408 26,822 19,946 15,670 11,546
Shareholders’ Funds RRES 7,826 6,821 6,033 4,201 3,140
Financial Ratio Mt =
Return on Equity (%) BREESERE(BEDL) 17.47 18.25 16.66 19.62 20.42
Interest Cover (times) MEEELE(E) 7.31 5.93 6.38 9.31 5.55
Current Ratio (times) BN 2 (%) 1.44 1.36 144 143 145
Total Interest Bearing Debts to BB 135 T8 1 B 3R
Shareholders’ Funds Ratio (times) & & () 0.70 0.59 0.33 0.41 0.57

Revenue
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Significant Events

NE [

April

Jiangsu Smart City Research Institute was officially unveiled

Jiangsu Smart City Research Institute, a joint effort by Yangzhou
Municipal Government, Yangzhou Guangling District Government
and Digital China, was officially unveiled at a start-up ceremony
during the 2012 China e Yangzhou Software and Information
Service Outsourcing Conference.

The foundation laying ceremony for Shandong Ji’nan
e-Commerce Industrial Base was held

The foundation laying ceremony for Digital China’s Shandong
Ji'nan e-Commerce Industrial Base was held.

Fuzhou Municipal Government entered into a
strategic cooperation framework agreement with
Digital China

Fuzhou Municipal Government entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement with Digital China.

May

The “Beijing-Shanghai Express”, the proprietary
trunk transportation line of IT Logistics, went
officially online

The “Beijing-Shanghai Express”, the proprietary trunk
transportation line of Digital China IT Logistics, went officially
online.

The upgrade and renovation of “Smart City
Innovation Centre” was completed

The upgrade and renovation of Digital China “Smart City
Innovation Centre” was completed and officially commissioned as
the first smart city innovation and implementation base in China.

June

“Decade Leadership Award of the China Software
and Information Services Industry”

At the 10th International Software and Information Service Fair of
China held at Dalian World Expo Centre, Digital China was
honoured with the “Decade Leadership Award of the China
Software and Information Services Industry”.
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Significant Events K= Bl

Digital China Information Service Co., Ltd. was
elected as the “Top 5 Leading Golden Services
Providers”

At the 2012 China Solution Provider Forum and the Golden
Software and Golden Service Survey and Awarding Ceremony
held in Beijing, Digital China Information Service Co., Ltd.,
subsidiary of Digital China, was invited to join the 1st executive
council of the Solution Provider Sub-committee of the China
Federation of IT Promotion and was elected the “Top 5 Leading
Golden Services Providers” in the 14th Golden Software and
Golden Service Survey.

July

Digital China entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with China-Japan Friendship Hospital in
Beijing

Digital China entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with
China-dapan Friendship Hospital in Beijing.

The portal of “Smart Jiangsu” was officially online

A ceremony was held in Nanjing to mark the start-up of the
portal of “Smart Jiangsu” (http:/www.smartjs.cn/) constructed by
Digital China, signifying the official commissioning of China’s first
integrated access platform for provincial smart city groups.

Listed in the top 100 of Fortune China 500 for 3
years in a row

Digital China was among the top 100 of Fortune China 500 for 3
years in a row and ranked first among IT companies for the
second year, according to the 2012 Fortune China 500 ranking
announced by Fortune China.

August

The official opening of the first experiential service
centre operated in collaboration with Apple

The official opening of "IT Logistics Technical Services Centre",
the first experiential service centre operated by Digital China in
collaboration with Apple.
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Significant Events K= EIE

New headquarters building in the Northwestern
China was officially opened

Digital China’s new headquarters building in the Northwestern
China was officially opened.

Digital China entered into a strategic cooperation framework
agreement with the Changshu Municipal Government

Digital China entered into a strategic cooperation framework
agreement and the “Smart Changshu” strategic development
planning project service agreement with the Changshu Municipal
Government.

Listed in the Forbes Asia’s Fab 50 for 4 years in a
row

Digital China was included in the Forbes Asia’s Fab 50 for 4
years in a row as the renowned global financial magazine
announced its list for 2012.

September

A ceremony was held for the presentation of Digital
China’s donations to Huai’an County, an poverty
county at national level

A ceremony was held at the Smart City Innovation Centre, Digital
China’s head office in Shangdi, Beijing, for the presentation of
Digital China’s donations to Huai'an County, an poverty county at
national level.

The signing ceremony of Wuhan Pass’s “Hankou City
Square” Smart Sub-district City Model Project
cooperation agreement was held in Wuhan

The signing ceremony of Digital China Wuhan Pass’s “Hankou
City Square” Smart Sub-district City Model Project cooperation
agreement was held in Wuhan.

Digital China worked with the Karamay Government
in Xinjiang to develop the Karamay Citizen Card

Digital China worked with the Karamay Government in Xinjiang to
develop the Karamay Citizen Card, the first citizen card of China
to include health card and residence card applications.
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Significant Events K= Bl

The Strategic Union for Technological Innovations of
China’s Smart City Industry was set up in Beijing

The Strategic Union for Technological Innovations of China’s
Smart City Industry was set up in Beijing and the “Smart City
Technology White Paper” (2012) was published. The Union was
started by 18 companies and institutions, including Digital China,
Beihang University, No. 3 Research Institute of the Ministry of
Public Security, Wuhan University, China Academy of Telecom
Research of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology,
Aerospace Hi-tech Holding Group, China Telecom Group,
Cybernaut Investment Group, Founder International Software Co.,
Ltd. and others, with the strong backing of the Ministry and
Science and Technology, Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology and National Development and Reform Commission.

“Outstanding Smart City Service Provider of China
Award”

At the 2012 China (Wuxi) City Informatization Promotion
Conference and 3rd Announcement of China’s Top 50 Cities in
Informatization, Digital China received the “Outstanding Smart
City Service Provider of China Award”.

October

Grand celebrations were held to commemorate the 15th
anniversary of the Digital China — Cisco partnership

Grand celebrations were held in Beijing to commemorate the
15th anniversary of the Digital China — Cisco partnership.

A grand signing ceremony for the strategic
cooperation agreement between Digital China and
Oracle was held

A grand signing ceremony for the strategic cooperation
agreement between Digital China and Oracle was held in Beijing.

The East China Centre of Digital China Institute of
Technology was officially commissioned

The East China Centre of Digital China Institute of Technology
was officially commissioned at Digital China Wuxi branch, being
the second enterprise-grade innovative base and IT service
research and development centre which claims a leading edge in
the domestic market, following the Digital China South China
Centre.
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Significant Events A==

Digital China undertook a National High Technology
Research and Development Program of China and
was approved by the government

The “Demonstration of the Renovation and Application of Trustie-
based Digital China Software Production Line”, a National High
Technology Research and Development Program of China (“863
Program”) undertaken by Digital China, was officially completed
after stringent examination by the experts of the inspection and
acceptance team at the Hi-Tech Centre of the Ministry of
Science and Technology.

November

Successful tender for the “Digital Meishan” general
planning project of Meishan City, Sichuan Province

Digital China won the tender for the “Digital Meishan” general
planning project of Meishan City, Sichuan Province.

The Zhangjiagang Citizen Card project was
presented in the Barcelona Smart City Expo

The 2nd Barcelona Smart City Expo and World Congress was
held in Spain. Digital China attended the grand occasion as a
representative of China’s smart city sector and addressed the
congress. The Zhangjiagang Citizen Card project endorsed by
Digital China was presented in the exhibition as an exemplary
case.

AMPON were named “Recommended Outstanding
Security Products for Safe City”

The network spherical cameras and decoding servers among the
control and surveillance products of Digital China AMPON were
named “Recommended Outstanding Security Products for Safe
City” in the national survey on safe city construction conducted
by the China Security and Protection Industry Association.
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Significant Events K= Bl

December

Digital China launched the first citizens’ Integrated
Services Platform in China in a joint effort with the
Fuzhou Municipal Government

The China (Fuzhou) Smart City Summit Forum was successfully
held in Fuzhou, as Digital China launched the first citizens’
Integrated Services Platform in China in a joint effort with the
Fuzhou Municipal Government.

Digital China and the Foshan Municipal Government
jointly announced the Foshan Citizens’ Integrated
Services Platform

At the 2012 China (Foshan) Smart City Innovation Summit, Digital
China and the Foshan Municipal Government jointly announced
the Foshan Citizens’ Integrated Services Platform, which was the
nation’s second citizens’ Integrated Services platform following
Fuzhou.

A start-up ceremony was held for the project
entitled “Mathematical Models for Population and
Development and Integrated Decision-making
Support System”

A start-up ceremony was held at China Population and
Development Research Centre for the project entitled
“Mathematical Models for Population and Development and
Integrated Decision-making Support System,” undertaken by
Digital China and China Population and Development Research
Centre as a “National Technological Support Programme under
the 12th Five-Year Plan”.

A launch ceremony for Shunde Citizen Card was held
at Shunfeng Park

A launch ceremony for Digital China’s Shunde Citizen Card was
held at Shunfeng Park.

Lin Yang, Chief Executive Officer of Digital China,
was elected a“2012 Leaders of the Year in the China
Information Industry”

At the 2012 Annual Conference of China Information Industry
Economy held in Beijing under the theme of “Driving Economic
Development with Innovation and Amalgamation”, Lin Yang, Chief
Executive Officer of Digital China, was elected a “2012 Leaders
of the Year in the China Information Industry”.
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Significant Events A==

Digital China Board Chairman Guo Wei was named
the “2012 Top 10 Leaders in the PRC Software and
Information Service Industry”

At the “2012 China Software Conference and Big Data
Development and Application Summit” held in Beijing under the
theme of “Creation of Wealth Through Data”, Digital China was
named the “2012 Top 10 Leading Companies in PRC Software
and Information Services”, while Board Chairman Guo Wei was
named the “2012 Top 10 Leaders in the PRC Software and
Information Service Industry”.

The 6th general assembly of China Non-
governmental Science Technology Entrepreneurs
Association (CASTE-NG) and Innovation Summit
Forum was held at Digital China

The 6th general assembly of China Non-governmental Science
Technology Entrepreneurs Association (CASTE-NG) and
Innovation Summit Forum was held at Digital China.
Representatives of 32 corporate members and close to 120
members of CASTE-NG attended the assembly and a new
executive council was elected with Guo Wei, Board Chairman of
Digital China, and Xiao Fangchen, Senior Advisor of Digital China,
as chairman and general secretary, respectively, assuring rotation
and succession of the association’s leadership and executive
functions.

January
“China’s Most Promising Companies in 2012”

Digital China was named among “China’s Most Promising
Companies in 2012” by The Asset.

Lin Yang, Chief Executive Officer of Digital China,
was named “2012 Top 10 People of the Year of
Zhongguancun”

At the *2012 Top 10 Series of Zhongguancun Nomination”
announced in Beijing, Lin Yang, Chief Executive Officer of Digital
China, was named “2012 Top 10 People of the Year of
Zhongguancun” following adjudication by experts and online
voting.
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Significant Events K= EIE8

Successful tender for Qingdao’s Smart City strategic
planning project

Digital China won the tender for Qingdao’s Smart City strategic
planning project, the Company’s second smart city strategic
planning project for a sub-provincial city following Wuhan.

February

“2012-2013 Success Enterprise of the Year in IT
Services in China”

The “2013 Annual IT Market Conference of China and the New
Generation Information Technology Industry Assembly” was held
in Beijing under the theme of “Serving ‘Synchronized development
of Four Modernizations’ and Advancing IT Amalgamation and
Innovation.” Digital China Information Service Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of Digital China, was honoured with the title of
“2012-2013 Success Enterprise of the Year in IT Services in
China”, one of the most prestigious awards presented at the
conference.

March

The signing ceremony of “Smart Hi-Tech” strategic
cooperation framework agreement was held at Xi’an

The unveiling ceremony of the Northwestern Centre of Digital
China Institute of Technology and the signing ceremony for the
“Smart Hi-Tech” strategic cooperation framework agreement
between Xi'an Hi-Tech Zone and Digital China were held in Xi'an.
Pursuant to the agreement, Digital China will work closely with
Xi'an Hi-Tech Zone in a joint effort to develop the “Smart Hi-Tech”
project for the building of a Hi-Tech Zone city.

Elected as the vice-chairman unit of the executive council
of the 4th general assembly of the Automatic
Identification Manufacture Association of China

At the 4th general assembly of the Automatic Identification
Manufacture Association of China was convened in Beijing.
Digital China was elected as the vice-chairman unit of the
executive council following elections conducted in strict
accordance with statutory procedures.
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Significant Events K=ol

Shenzhen Municipal Government and Digital China
entered into a strategic cooperation agreement

Shenzhen Municipal Government and Digital China entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement, pursuant to which the two
parties will leverage their respective strengths in a joint effort to
drive the city’s innovation transformation and upgrade, with the
aim of expediting the process Shenzhen’s development into a
modernized and advanced international city.

Phase | of the Suzhou meat and vegetable source
tracking system project passed the final inspection
process with success

Phase | of the Suzhou meat and vegetable source tracking
system project passed the final inspection process with success.
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Awards
TETEH iy

GOVERNMENT AND THIRD PARTY
ORGANIZATION

Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission
Certificate of Recognition for Technology R&D Institutes in Beijing
CCID Group

2012 China Brand of Choice in Network Management Technology and IT
Maintenance Service

CCID Group
2012-2013 China IT Service Market — Annual Enterprise of Success
China Software and Information Service Committee

2011-2012 Decade Leadership Award of China Software and Information
Services Industry

China Association of Trade in Services

2011-2012 China Best After-sales Service Award

China Center for Information Industry Development

2012 Best Information Security Solution — Government Sector
China Computer Industry Association

Top 5 Leading Golden Services Providers

China Computer Users Association

2012 Outstanding Service Provider in China Informatization and Digital
City
China Federation of IT Promotion

2012 Top 10 Smart City Model Cases in China — Zhangjiagang Citizen
Card

China Information Technology Security Evaluation Center

EAL3 Safety Assessment Certificate for IT Products (DCFW-1800 High-
end Core Firewall made in Digital China)

China International Software & Information Service Fair

2011-2012 Enterprises with Outstanding Contributions to the China
Software and Information Service Industry

China Software Conference

2012 Top 10 Leading Companies in China Software and Information
Services

Daonong Center for Enterprise

Certificate for 2012 China Top 100 Green Companies

Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC
2012 Top 100 China Enterprises in Software Revenue
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National Survey on Public Satisfaction Levels of the Service
Sector

Most Competitive Leading Brand for Smart City Construction in China

National Survey on Public Satisfaction Levels of the Service
Sector

Best Exemplary Brand in Public Satisfaction for Smart City Construction
in China

The Asia-Pacific Municipal Informatization Cooperation Office;
China Computer Users Association

2011-2012 Outstanding Smart City Services Provider of China

BUSINESS PARTNERS

Acer

2012 Gold Award for Major Account Partners
Agisson

Service and Sales Breakthrough Award
Agisson

2013 Outstanding Partners — C lass 1 Award
Autodesk

Autodesk 2012 Nomination of Outstanding Engineer — Special
Contribution Award

Avaya

2011 Value-added Distributors

BITIC

IMPERVA 2012 Best Dealer — Asia Pacific
BlueCoat

BlueCoat 2011 Best Distributor — Greater China
CipherLab

2011 Best Channel Award

Cisco

Cisco FY12 Best Partner — Greater China
Cisco

Cisco FY12 Best Distribution Dealer — Greater China
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Cisco

Cisco FY12 Best Dealer — South China

ClearOne

2011 Best Distributor — China

Hewlett-Packard

FY12 HP Best Distributor of High-end Storage Development
Hewlett-Packard

FY12 HP Best Distributor of Mass Storage
Hewlett-Packard

FY12 HP Best Distributor of Industry Standard Servers
IBM

IBM Outstanding Partner of Marketing

IBM

IBM 2012 Best General Distributor

IBM

IBM 2012 Unity and Fast Growth Award (Storage Partner, Blue
Whale Program)

Lenovo

Lenovo Business Star (FY12/FY13)
Lenovo

FY12/FY13 Loyalty Award

LifeSize Communications

2011 Best Distributor — Asia Pacific
Microsoft

Microsoft FY12 Strategic Partners — Best Industry Application
Award

Microsoft

Microsoft FY12 Strategic Partners — Best Results Award
Microsoft

Microsoft FY12 Named Account Resellers — Partner of the Year
Microsoft

Microsoft FY12 Authorized Distribution Partners — Distributor of
the Year
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Microsoft

Microsoft FY13 H1 Office Sales — Best Results Award
Motorola Solutions

2011 Best Value-added Distributor

Motorola Solutions

2012 Most Creditworthy Partner

Motorola Solutions

2012 Best Partner

Polycom

Best Solution of the Year — Asia Pacific
Polycom

Best Service Provider of the Year — Asia Pacific
Radware

2011 Best Distributor — China

Vmware

VMare Best Distributor — Asia Pacific

Walmart

Walmart 2012 Best Breakthrough Award — Electric Appliances
Zebra Technologies

2012 Best Distribution Award — Greater China
ZTE

2012 Channel Service Award

MEDIA ORGANIZATION

Business Partner

2012 Top 10 Providers of Government Sector Solutions
Business Partner

2012 Top 10 Providers of Telecommunications Sector Solutions
Business Partner

2012 Top 10 Providers of Banking Sector Solutions

Business Partner

2012 Top 10 IT consultation Service Providers
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CCW Research

2011-2012 Award of Excellence in IT Service Platform Application
Solutions for the China Education Sector

China Computer Users Association; China Federation of IT
Promotion; Software and Information Service Magazine

2012 Best Practice Award for China Informatization Data Centre
China Computerworld

2012 Product of Excellence

China Information World

2012 Best China Enterprise in Information Security Innovation
China Information World

2012 Award of Excellence for China Information Security Products

China Information World; China Federation of IT Promotion;
China Computer Industry Association

2012 Best Consultant Services in China Industry Informatization
Corporate Governance Asia

The Best of Asia 2012

Forbes

Forbes Asia’s Fab 50

Fortune China

2012 Top 100 of Fortune China 500
Smart Partner

2012 Top 10 Outstanding Distributors
Smart Partner

2012 Top 10 Outstanding Service Providers
The Asset

Corporate Gold Award

The Asset

China’s Most Promising Company

1M ESIEA B BR A A] | 2012/13 F 3R

i &

20112012 B B TEITRE FEEFEA TR AE

PEAERAFGE PEESLHEEBRSE KRG

B R
2012FHEE S REFEP LR EERE
rE MR

0126 EEHEMRL

PEGHEHEITER
012FEPHEES LA B EE
hEGHBITER
012FEFHAEEREERERE

PEE#TER PREESICHEERE  PEFHEE

T¥ERHE

012F EHRBITEE B RERARG R
S EER
012FE MR ERE

18 70 i

5K [ & E E AR50
B E (h3CHE)

20124 EH BI50058 A —H %
AHMERRKE
012FFETREMDHE
HHMERREE
2012FE T REBIREE
it &

hREAES R

it &

HAENPHEPE

19



Chairman’s Statement
FERE oy

Mr. GUO Wei
BEKE

Looking ahead into 2013, the management

is aware that prospects for China’s macro-

economic growth remain grim while

developments of the industry will continue

to experience profound reforms. We also

note our inherent inadequacies in the light

of the given context. In view of the

considerable downside risks for the result

in the 2013/14 financial year, the Group has

proposed “reinforcement of foundations

and steadiness in development” as a

guiding principle, aiming to lay a solid

business foundation. Moreover, we will

strengthen risk management and conduct

reviews of internal processes to prevent

any potential risks. Meanwhile, we will continue to identify and seize market opportunities and continue to
explore new business models in the Sm@rt City and the synergies associated with them. Our focus will be on
the accumulation and consolidation of our business capabilities, so that we will be fully prepared when the next
economic boom and growth cycle come along. The Board of Directors is confident that the experienced
management team will be able to overcome temporary difficulties and achieve our strategic objectives, thereby
continue to create value for shareholders.
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EOEEG EEEHEETEERHNEEREENER  FHELAARKRIENMHERE r BEREREHEBERE
FEMAKRREEEE -
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Chairman’s Statement ZE#HE

The year 2012 was important to China. The successful
conclusion of the 18th National Congress of the Communist
Party of China heralded fresh reforms in the coming decade after
it clearly defined the nation’s development goals for the period
and the new generation of Chinese collective leadership came to
the fore. The year 2012 also marked the beginning of second
decade of its listing in Hong Kong and the second year of its
third five-year plan. Inspired by outstanding results achieved in
the first decade of its listing and guided by the Sm@rt City
strategy under its third five-year planning, Digital China
conducted organisational restructuring as it embarked on a new
journey of business growth and development.

The year 2012 has also been a year underpinned by
uncertainties in the macro-economic landscape and sluggish
development for the IT industry. The Group’s operations met with
various challenges, notably the double bottom of the China
economy and the complicated and volatile marketplace. In
particular, the emergence of Mobile Internet products presented
unprecedented difficulties to traditional PC industry. As a result,
Digital China’s Distribution Business was adversely affected.
While we envisaged immense opportunities in novel sectors such
as Cloud Computing and Sm@rt City solutions, the fact that our
businesses in these areas were still delivered in traditional modes
means that there were a lot of room for improvements in our
capabilities in technologies, services and solutions.

Despite there were some unfavourable factors in the internal and
external environment, the Group reported trend-bucking growth
in both revenue and profit amidst intense market competition,
thanks to ongoing management control efforts in business mix
optimisation and efficiency enhancement under the leadership of
the management, in adherence to the guiding principle of
“prudent progress, streamlined establishment with enhanced
efficiency and with a focus on Sm@rt City” proposed at the start
of the year. For the 2012/13 financial year, the Group reported
aggregate revenue of approximately HK$73,499 million,
representing a growth of 4.52% as compared to last financial
year. Record-high quarterly revenue and gross profit margin
figures were reported successively for the second and third
quarters. Profit attributable to shareholders amounted to
approximately HK$1,367 million, 9.85% higher as compared to
approximately HK$1,245 million reported for last financial year.
Meanwhile, the Group invested HC International and Epro in
Sm@rt City collaborative industries, preparing for the Group’s
long-term strategy and transformation into an Internet-based
operation.

1HINBISIZAR AR A A | 2012/13 F3)

“ECF HPBEXFEREEN—F BTN
R BN A R ZE B B XA A— (5 ey R F R
THF KRR TFENBERBFEFUEL - HT—RKHOR
BERSINIE - E—F BEAKELHTFEH
BNE—F RIZAIRENE_F - ELHT+F
KRREMEFET  RRI=1 8 29 8 R
FoAMNBBEGIES2H M BEETT TABEE
HE EMMERRFEEE -

R —F——F HREZELHERERH TETE
M TEXRRAAMTH —F - FEEEN XK
K- MERENEMSE  HHAKENEETK
TALHE - LEHRBHEBRERNALEE - &
%%W%F%LUTW%*%%I% RS LAE
DHEBERBITHRE -GEEFE - E2WH
m&ﬁ*ﬁ%m%m BMBERNTERN TS H
CEREBEADMANERERRA - Bl R%
ﬂﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ$io

BIENINRIBE T EE —ETFEx - AEEE
FEEENEET BRTYIREM[EBRKE B
i BREESEHMINEE I BAEEEE
FREBEEERERS  IRAABIE W%Eﬁﬂ
WMEBFRRBFITRA FEHPERIER -
——/—ZBF $%l%%ﬁ%%%@%%%
73,4998 & 7T - Et%iﬁmﬁ§4&%oﬁ$%
_+fﬂ“—*ﬁ DRI BB 2= A A E R K5
B e RRERERAEE1367TEETT L EIFER
H) B 2ASA B L2 K0.85% » AR © ANEE th R
BTE2HN S2EZ(EE2RTIRRAEE  ARF
REBEIES - AR OB AN AT TR -

21



Chairman’s Statement X /E#RE

In 2012, new breakthroughs were also made in our ongoing
investigations in connection with Sm@rt City, our latest business
model incorporating state-of-the-art technologies in Cloud
Computing, Mobile Internet and Internet of Things. The
construction of integrated citizen service platforms for Fuzhou
and Foshan within a few months, representing completion of the
difficult first step of the process from concept, technology to
product delivery, has invited enthusiastic response at home and
abroad and bolstered our confidence and determination to
pursue the business of Sm@rt City.

The Group’s persistent growth attracted wide attention in the
capital markets as well. Digital China was included in “Forbes
Asia’s Fab 50" for the fourth year in a row and named one of the
top 100 of Fortune China 500 for the third time. Besides, the
Group was granted “Gold Award Winner” and “China’s Most
Promising Company” respectively by The Asset magazine. On
behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to thank our
shareholders and investors for their support and encouragement
throughout the year.

For the past 11 years since its listing on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”), the Group has been developing
and improving its mechanisms for decision-making, supervision
and incentives under a three-tier governance structure
comprising of general meetings, the Board of Directors and
management team in accordance with SEHK provisions. During
the 2012/13 financial year, the Board of Directors made
numerous valuable recommendations in connection with macro-
economic analysis and the formulation of corporate strategies,
while offering full support and facilitation to implementation of
strategy by management. The Audit Committee has done a great
deal of meticulous work to drive further enhancements in
operational compliance, truthfulness of financial data and
management transparency. In terms of management incentives,
the Remuneration Committee has formulated well-defined key
performance indicators (KPIs) and provided motivation for
continuous improvement and efficiency enhancement that
ultimately translate into greater value creation for the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement ZE#HRE

Looking ahead into 2013, the management is aware that
prospects for China’s macro-economic growth remain grim while
developments of the industry will continue to experience
profound reforms. We also note our inherent inadequacies in the
light of the given context. In view of the considerable downside
risks for the results in the 2013/14 financial year, the Group has
proposed “reinforcement of foundations and steadiness in
development” as a guiding principle, aiming to lay a solid
business foundation. Moreover, we will strengthen risk
management and conduct reviews of internal processes to
prevent any potential risks. Meanwhile, we will continue to
identify and seize market opportunities and continue to explore
new business models in the Sm@rt City and the synergies
associated with them. Our focus will be on the accumulation and
consolidation of our business capabilities, so that we will be fully
prepared when the next economic boom and growth cycle come
along. The Board of Directors is confident that the experienced
management team will be able to overcome temporary difficulties
and achieve our strategic objectives, thereby continue to create
value for shareholders.

GUO Wei 3B 5
Chairman F &

Hong Kong, 18 June 2013
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Management Discussion
and Analysis

BIRE T AT AT e

The Group reported stable growth in revenue and profit
for the 2012/13 financial year, thanks to the
management’s ongoing efforts to advance proactive yet
prudent business expansion plans, expedite the strategic
deployment of “Sm@rt Cities,” optimise business mix and
improve organisational efficiency in persistent
implementation of the guiding principle of “prudent
progress, streamlined establishment with enhanced
efficiency and with a focus on Sme@rt City” proposed at
the start of the year, amid austere economic conditions
and unprecedented challenges in various market sub-
segments. We achieved further breakthroughs in the
development of Sm@rt Cities during the financial year, as
the launch of the nation’s first integrated citizen services
platforms underscored our active exploration of transition
from solution business to operating services in
connection with the “Smert City” and further reinforced
Digital China’s leading position in the “Sme@rt City”
business sector. The Group was included in “Forbes Asia’s
Fab 50” for the fourth year in a row in the 2012/13
financial year, reflecting ongoing recognition of the
Group’s business endeavours by the capital market.

1.1. In-depth cooperation with strategic vendors,
expedited implementation of customer
development plans and enhanced business value
thanks to a stronger business focusing through
organisational optimisation. Stable revenue
growth is maintained with a double-digit growth
in profit attributable to equity holders.

Against grim market conditions, the business units strictly
adhered the business principle of “Prudent Progress” and
sought to reinforce our existing business foundation and
identify new business opportunities. Cooperation with
strategic vendors and core customers is enhanced on an
ongoing basis and the Group reported stable growth in
revenue and profit. For the year ended 31 March 2013, the
Group reported revenue of approximately HK$73,499
million, an increase of 4.52% as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year. In response to
intense market competition, the Group sought to stabilise
and improve its gross profit margin by engaging in
continuous efforts to optimise its business mix. Gross profit
margin for the financial year was stable at 7.31%. For the
year ended 31 March 2013, the Group reported profit
attributable to equity holders of approximately HK$1,367
million, a growth of 9.85% as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year.
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1.2. Stringent risk control and enhanced cash flow

1.3.

management contributed to sound cash flow
performance.

Amidst weaker macro-economic conditions and higher risks
of market volatility during the financial year, the Group
assured stable and healthy business growth as it continued
to adopt stringent risk management and control policies to
streamline its business flows and implement key tasks in
risk management and cash flow management. The Group’s
net cash inflow from operating activities amounted to
approximately HK$469 million for the year ended 31 March
2013.

Operating expense ratio (total operating expenses
as a percentage of total revenue) continued to
decrease as ongoing organisational optimisation
and key cost management initiatives contributed
to substantial improvements in organisational
efficiency.

Against the backdrop of escalating market risks and the
slowdown in revenue growth, the Group formulated
stringent cost management and control policies in
persistent adherence to the principle of “streamlined
establishment with enhanced efficiency” and secured more
efficient resource utilisation by forming business focuses
through organisational optimisation. The Group’s operating
expense ratio for the year ended 31 March 2013 was
obviously lower at 5.55% as compared to 5.85% reported
for the corresponding period of last financial vyear,
underpinning negative growth in the aggregate amount of
operating expenses.
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1.4. Defining breakthroughs were achieved in

21.

26

business deployments of the “Sme@rt City”
strategy, effectively driving the Group’s
transformation to a services-oriented business.

The “Sme@rt City” strategy continued to roll out in 69 cities
in the nation, while strategic cooperation framework
agreements were signed up with 14 cities, firmly
establishing the Group as “Leading Sm@rt City in China”
heralding the industry with a forward-looking theoretical
structure and the largest pool of successful cases. First of
all, by leveraging its focus and vision in Sm@rt City, the
Group successfully launched the nation’s first integrated
citizen services platforms in Fuzhou and Foshan on a trial
basis in December of the financial year. Characterised by
the homogenisation of social services and innovative social
administration mechanisms, this “people-oriented” integrated
service system has been widely reported in the public and
achieved an active exploration of transition from “Sm@rt
City” solutions business to operating services. Leveraging
this opportunity, the Group entered into a strategic
agreement with Shenzhen in the fourth quarter to build an
international operations base in the city. By offering an
integrated citizen services system which is dominated by
government, citizen-oriented and characterized by mobile
coverage, this project is set to improve the industry chain
of citizen-friendly electronic-commercial services and further
consolidate the Group’s position as a leading expert in
“‘Sma@rt City”.

Distribution Business: primary focus on the SMB &
Consumer Markets, engaging in the distribution of general
IT products such as notebook computers, desktop
computers, peripherals, accessories and consumer [T
products
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Through closely monitoring the market trends, diligent
adjustment of business mix and more efficient
utilisation of resources, business achieved a stable
transition.

The Distribution Business was subject to increasing market
risks in 2012 as the businesses of our principal products of
notebook computers and peripherals were considerably
affected by the notable decline in IT consumer market
demands amidst a grim macro-economic landscape, while
the effect of new products and technologies as a market
stimulant had yet to be realised. Under such
circumstances, the Group managed to sustain stability in
business results transition by diligently adjusting business
mix, pro-actively streamlining and cutting back product lines
with low output and enhancing efficiency in resource
application. The Group’s Distribution Business reported
revenue of approximately HK$37,657 million for the year
ended 31 March 2013, a decrease by 1% compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year. Gross profit
margin for the latter half of the year had improved notably
subsequent to a temporary decline in the first half of the
year owing to stock clearance measures to avert potential
business risks.
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2.2,

28

In product sub-segments, the business strategy of
“Prudent progress” was advanced with persistent
efforts, leveraging business growth opportunities in
accessories and other new business opportunities.

While revenue of the Distribution Business was
considerably affected by the decline in market demands for
IT consumer products, the Group maintained its leadership
in various sub-segments through persistent efforts in
market share management. Meanwhile, the Group made
diligent efforts to develop businesses in accessories and
secure opportunities in high-end product lines. We have
also strengthened our cooperation with Apple in the Mobile
Internet sector to tap new business opportunities.

Coverage of CES and e-commerce channels was
enhanced through proactive efforts to adjust the
focus of resource input in close tandem with
changes in retail business formats.

The Group made diligent efforts to drive the full coverage of
CES and e-commerce channels, leveraging opportunities
arising from changes in retail business formats. In the CES
business, we continued to enhance cooperation with large-
scale retail hypermarkets, underpinned by increasing
collaboration with Gome and Walmart for the development
of service regimes in connection with Apple products. For
the year ended 31 March 2013, our CES business reported
rapid growth of 59.60% as compared to the corresponding
period of last financial year. In connection with
e-commerce, the Group strengthened strategic cooperation
with core customers such as Jingdong, 51buy and Suning,
etc and expanded its coverage of e-commerce channels,
leveraging opportunities presented by the rapid growth of
the sector. Currently, CES and e-commerce channels have
become the largest source of revenue besides our
traditional IT product channels.

Systems Business: primary focus on the Enterprise
Market, offering value-added distribution of systems
products such as servers, networking products, storage
products and packaged software.
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Systems Business sustained stable growth by closely
tracking trends in the Enterprise Market and
maintaining absolute dominance in value-added
distribution segments.

In 2012, the Systems Business of the Group reported
outperforming growth as it closely tracked market trends
and capitalised on growth opportunities for new
businesses. For the year ended 31 March 2013, revenue
amounted to approximately HK$25,618 million, an increase
of 10.20% as compared to the corresponding period of last
financial year, while gross profit margin also increased by
60 basis points to 9.54%, effectively supporting the
achievement of the Group’s overall results.

Significantly outperforming growth achieved on the
back of focus on the in-depth development in
product segments and enhanced capabilities in
specialised services.

Amidst changing demands in the Enterprise Market, the
Group’s Systems Business sustained stable growth in key
product areas such as networking, servers and storage, as
it continued to upgrade its capabilities in specialised
services for various sub-segments, leveraging opportunities
in the construction of data centres and cloud-computing
facilities. For the year ended 31 March 2013, revenue from
servers, storage products and networking products
increased significantly by 15.30%, 24.42% and 14.46%,
respectively, as compared to the corresponding period of
last financial year.

Market shares for major product lines were largely
stable with some expansion, while novel areas were
developed in joint efforts with vendors, as we
continued to drive strategic cooperation with key
vendors.

The Group’s Systems Business continued to enhance
strategic cooperation with key vendors, as business
cooperation plans were drawn up in collaboration with
Cisco, IBM, Oracle and Microsoft and product layout was
improved to assure stable growth for its existing business.
Moreover, we also worked with key vendors to develop
novel sector markets, such as cloud computing and big
data, in close tandem with market trends.
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2.3. Services Business: primary focus on the Industry

30

Market, offering products and services in IT planning and IT
systems consultation, design and implementation of
industry application software and solutions, outsourcing of
IT system operation and maintenance, as well as systems
integration and maintenance.

Sustained rapid growth in the financial and
government & corporation sectors was driving fast
growth for the Services Business as we persisted in
advancing customer plans and enhanced
development of industries in which we already had a
competitive edge.

Substantial growth in our Services Business was driven by
diligent efforts of our Group management to drive customer
plans, build services support regimes with integrated
resources and secure notable progress for business
development in the government & corporation industry and
the financial industry. For the year ended 31 March 2013,
our Services Business reported revenue of approximately
HK$9,013 million, representing an increase of 14.20% as
compared to the corresponding period of last financial year.
The government & corporation and financial sectors
reported fast growth rates of 48.62% and 58.28%,
respectively.

Rapid expansion of software and services businesses
thanks to persistence in strategic transformation and
stronger efforts in capacity building.

The Group’s Services Business reported consecutive rapid
growth rates in proprietary services and ongoing
optimisation of its business mix, as we pursued strategic
transformation in persistent efforts. In the financial sector,
our financial SaaS business has become a pioneering force
in the cloud computing sector, registering fast expansion
with 51 township banks having been signed up for the
provision of operational services such as core banking
systems, credit systems and Internet banking systems.
Moreover, our taxation business continued to sign up new
customers including the Hainan Local Taxation Bureau,
Liaoning Local Taxation Bureau and Shenzhen Local
Taxation Bureau.
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2.4,

Business transformation effectively driven by
exponential growth in contract amounts signed in line
with faster progress in the strategic business
deployment of “Sme@rt City.”

The Group stepped up with its work to expand the
geographic coverage of its “Sm@rt City” business, leveraging
its leadership in this sector. For the year ended 31 March
2013, the Sm@rt City business was strategically deployed
in 69 cities across the nation, while strategic cooperation
framework agreements had been signed with 14 cities.
Following the implementation in various cities of the meat
and vegetable source tracking system and citizen card
project, data application solutions and cloud computing
solutions have also been commercialised with significant
growth in contract amounts as compared to the same
period of last financial year, effectively driving
transformation of this business segment. The exponential
growth in signed-up contract amounts was underpinned by
solution projects signed up for Xi'an, Shunde and Xinjiang
etc. during the fourth quarter.

Supply Chain Services Business: primary focus on
the markets of Hi-tech Industries, Branded e-Commerce
Platform Operators and Branded Services Providers,
providing “one-stop” consultancy and execution in logistics,
business flow, capital flow and information flow.

Profitability enhanced thanks to ongoing optimisation
of business mix and improvements in supply chain
servicing capabilities.

The Group’s Supply Chain Services Business optimised its
business mix by adjusting businesses that commanded
lower value as part of its ongoing efforts to improve
business layout in tandem with market development trends.
In logistics business, the scale of cooperation was
increased in IT, communications and apparel sectors, while
in service station business the weighting of the services
business was increased. Such efforts have driven
substantial growth in the overall profitability of the Supply
Chain Services Business. Our Supply Chain Services
Business reported overall revenue of approximately
HK$1,211 million for the year ended 31 March 2013. Gross
profit margin was 20.28%, an increase by 134 basis points
as compared to the corresponding period of last financial
year.
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32

Logistics business reported rapid growth in results on
the back of ongoing implementation of industry
development plans leveraging opportunities brought
by the growth of emerging markets.

We reported fast growth in our B2C logistics business
thanks to ongoing improvements to our capabilities in
warehousing, transportation and delivery for the logistics
business and the introduction of new brands riding the
trend of online shopping on the back of the e-commerce
warehousing business of TMall. Meanwhile, the substantial
growth in overall logistics business is also driven by further
business development efforts in the existing B2B logistics
business, new customer development in communications
sector focusing on carriers, and the introduction of LI NING
and other new customers in the apparel industry. For the
year ended 31 March 2013, the logistics business reported
overall revenue of approximately HK$440 million, sustaining
rapid growth with a 54.74% increase as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year.

Value of the service station business was enhanced
credit to improved specialised servicing and
optimized store layout.

Our services station business continued to improve its
capabilities in maintenance and services, driving rapid
growth of its out-of-warranty services by improving the
quality of under warranty services. Meanwhile, the
significantly improved profitability of the services station
business has also been driven by our ongoing endeavours
to optimise store layout, the introduction of maintenance
services for Apple products, and the establishment of
service stations in Beijing and Nanjing.
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3. Management outlook

The negative impact of the notable pressure for a
slowdown in macro-economic growth and an increasingly
complicated external market landscape will become more
evident for the IT market in 2013. Demands in the
Consumer Market will remain weak, while structural
changes in products and channels will become more
apparent, and we also feel significant pressure in the
Enterprise Market. As the Consumer and Enterprise Market
accounted for a rather large portion of the Group’s result,
the Group’s 2013/14 financial year result is facing an
unprecedented declining pressure. Against such a grim
market condition, the Group management will take following
measures to accommodate current complicated situation:
1. resolutely adhere to its strategic option of Sm@rt City,
grasp any opportunities for Sm@rt City developments and
actively explore operational models for Sm@rt City to
expedite the transformation of our business; 2. Improve our
cost structure by stringently implementing our cost control
policies; 3. Continue to optimise our business mix to
improve the efficiency of resource utilisation and enhance
organisational efficiency. Leveraging extensive experience in
the business, the management should be able to deal with
any impact of potential market upheavals in 2013 calmly,
with an unwavering commitment to delivering value to
shareholders as always.

Capital Expenditure, Liquidity and Financial
Resources

The Group mainly finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows, bank borrowings and banking facilities.

The Group had total assets of HK$28,408 million at 31 March
2013 which were financed by total liabilities of HK$19,737 million,
non-controlling interests of HK$845 million and equity attributable
to equity holders of the parent of HK$7,826 million. The Group’s
current ratio at 31 March 2013 was 1.44 as compared to 1.36 at
31 March 2012.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, capital expenditure of

HK$957 million was mainly incurred for the acquisition of land,
properties, office equipment and IT infrastructure facilities.
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The aggregate borrowings as a ratio of equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent was 0.70 at 31 March 2013 as
compared to 0.59 at 31 March 2012. The computation of the
said ratio was based on the total interest-bearing bank
borrowings and bond payable of HK$5,515 million (31 March
2012: HK$4,053 million) and equity attributable to equity holders
of the parent of HK$7,826 milion (31 March 2012: HK$6,821
million).

At 31 March 2013, the denomination of the interest-bearing bank
borrowings and bond payable of the Group was shown as

follows:

BHEERABEE AR RELERS 2 HLER =T
—=Z®#=ZA=+t—HA070 > MRA-ZE——F=A=
+—HA059 - Filltk RIZMBIRITER M ERE
FREABSSEE L (ZE——F=ZA=+—8:
B H4,053B B IL) R QR R L Em B k7,826
BEL(ZE——F=ZA=+—H:#5%¥68216&T)

NP
AT = ©

R-ZZE—=F=A=+—H A&EENHLERTE
REEMNEFOEREMET

Denominated

Denominated

in United Denominated in Hong Kong
States dollars in Renminbi dollars Total
LERTH BAR® &R
& =R EE i BIEREMN HBEREM &&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT BT T
Current i Eh
Interest-bearing bank B RITER -
borrowings, unsecured 1B 4K 1 1,481,044 6,171 1,253,994 2,741,209
Interest-bearing bank M B RITER -
borrowings, secured B i 1 — 24,682 — 24,682
Bond payable JERE S = 37,023 = 37,023
1,481,044 67,876 1,253,994 2,802,914
Non-current FE it Eh
Interest-bearing bank M ERITER -
borrowings, unsecured 47 4 4 2,712,494 — — 2,712,494
Total 4t 4,193,538 67,876 1,253,994 5,515,408
34

Digital China Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2012/13



Management Discussion and Analysis &2 Eff 5] 47

Included in the Group’s current bank borrowings of
approximately HK$25 million extended by a financial institution to
a subsidiary of the Group, Digital China Jinxin Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Beijing Jinxin”), were secured by fixtures and office
equipment with a value of approximately HK$26 million at 31
March 2013 in favour of Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech
Guaranty Co., Ltd., an independent third party, for securing a
guarantee issued by such pledgee on behalf of Beijing Jinxin.
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group’s subsidiary,
Digital China Technology Limited, entered into a facility
agreement with a syndicate of banks for a three-year loan facility
of US$150 million for the purpose of financing general working
capital of the Group. Included in the Group’s non-current bank
borrowings of approximately HK$1,163 million (equivalent to
US$150 million) as at 31 March 2013 represented the syndicated
loan repayable in three years from the date of the drawdown and
were guaranteed by the Company.

Included in the Group’s current and non-current bank borrowings
of approximately HK$530 million and HK$2,712 million
respectively represented the term loans and are repayable from
Year 2013 to 2015.

In September 2010, the Group completed the acquisition of the
remaining 89.56% equity interest in Beijing Jinxin Technology Co.,
Ltd. (now named as “Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.”) from
independent third parties (the “Acquisition”). Beijing Jinxin was
owned as to 10.44% by the Group prior to the Acquisition and
subsequent to which, it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group. In August 2010, i.e., before the Acquisition, Beijing Jinxin
and twelve other companies being independent third parties of the
Group (collectively referred as the “Issuers”) issued “2010 Collective
Bonds of Zhongguancun High-tech SME” (2010 Bonds”) to
institutional and public investors in Mainland China through the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The aggregate principal amount of the
2010 Bonds is RMB383 million, of which Beijing Jinxin accounts for
RMB30 million (equivalent to approximately HK$37 million). The fund
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raised by Beijing Jinxin will be applied to the development of its
ATM network construction project. The 2010 Bonds which carry
interest at a rate of 5.18% per annum, will mature in August 2016,
and are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed in full with joint
liabilities by Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd., an
independent third party, from the first to third years of the issuance
(“ZGC Guarantee”). At the same time, ZGC Guarantee is guaranteed
by Beijing SMEs Credits Re-guarantee Co., Ltd., and also
guaranteed by Beijing Jinxin for the principal amount of the 2010
Bonds it accounted for (i.e., RMB30 million). The Investors’ Put
Option and the Issuers’ Full Redemption Option in respect of the
2010 Bonds may be exercised under the following circumstances: if
the Issuers can provide a guarantor with good reputation before the
conclusion of the interest period in the third year of the issuance of
the 2010 Bonds, investors may opt to hold the 2010 Bonds in full
or in part and/or exercise the Investors’ Put Option to sell the 2010
Bonds back to the lIssuers within five working days from the
publication of the announcement in respect of information regarding
the continuing guarantee; and if the Issuers cannot provide a
guarantor with good reputation before the conclusion of the interest
period in the third year of the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, the
Issuers shall redeem the 2010 Bonds in full.

The Group’s total available credit facilities at 31 March 2013
amounted to HK$29,426 million, of which HK$3,888 million were
in term loan facilities, HK$15,085 million were in trade lines and
HK$10,453 million were in short-term and revolving money
market facilities. At 31 March 2013, the facility drawn down was
HK$3,242 million in term loan facilities, HK$3,861 million in trade
lines and HK$2,010 million in short-term and revolving money
market facilities.

Under the normal course of business, the Group has issued
performance bonds to some customers for potential claims of
non-performance in order to satisfy the specific requirements of
these customers. As no material claims had been made by the
customers under such performance bonds in the past, the
management considers that the possibility of realisation of any
actual material liabilities arising from such performance bonds is
remote.
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Human Resources

At 31 March 2013, the Group had approximately 10,600 (31
March 2012: approximately 12,900) full-time employees. The
majority of these employees work in the PRC. The Group offers
remuneration packages in line with industry practice. Employees’
remuneration includes basic salaries and bonuses. With the
decrease in the total number of staff to cope with its business
requirements, the Group has recorded a 6.17% decrease in staff
costs to approximately HK$2,513 million for the year ended 31
March 2013 as compared to approximately HK$2,678 million for
the last financial year. In order to attract and retain a high caliber
of capable and motivated workforce, the Company offers share-
based incentive schemes to staff based on the individual
performance and the achievements of the Company’s targets.
The Group is committed to providing its staff with various in-
house and external training and development programs.

1HINEISIZAR AR A A | 2012/13 F3)

ANER

RIE-—=ZF=ZA=+—R0 KXEBHE2HEE
10,600% (ZZE——F=A=+—H: #12,900%) °
ZEREBABHDHURTEIIE - AEBIRBITEE
PliREMESET TEE - BEMSRBEELATF &R
T4 - BREAEBRTRMELIRE  BHAEER
HE-Z—=ZFZA=Z1+—HLFEZEEB KA
BHEB2513EE L ' b EMFHE26788 8B
TLRBEBAT% - BRMRIEBEEREBZEE  AQ
AIEEARBEEMEN Z2ARGTERE  RESRMH
RESES - AFENRSR N AEEREZE
a0 K ShER BT I B Bt R At & o

37



Directors and
Senior Management

EEZNEEERBAE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EECHE

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. GUO Wei, aged 50, is the Chairman and Executive Director of the
Group and is responsible for the strategic development and management of
the Group. Mr. Guo had been the Vice Chairman, the President and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group since February 2001 and was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company in December
2007. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries and associates of the
Company. Mr. Guo obtained a Master’'s Degree from the Graduate School of
the Chinese Academy of Science (formerly known as Graduate School of the
University of Science and Technology of China) in 1988. He joined the
Legend group in 1988 and was once an Executive Director and Senior Vice
President. Mr. Guo was awarded such major prizes included China’s Top
Ten Outstanding Youths (2002), K24 H & F o R (L5 (Practical and
Outstanding Youth of Achievement) (2002) by the China Association for
Science and Technology, China’s Top Ten Outstanding Youths in Technology
Innovation (1998), Future Economic Leader of China (2003), and the First
Annual China Young Entrepreneurs Creative Management Golden Honour
(2005). He was also selected as the 50 Most Powerful Businesspeople in
China by Fortune Magazine (Chinese version) in 2011 and 2012.

Mr. Guo is currently a Non-executive Director of HC International, Inc. (a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Guo is also a Director of SJI Inc. (a company listed
on The Jasdaqg Securities Exchange Inc.) and an Independent Director of
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (a company listed on The
Shanghai Stock Exchange). In addition, he is a Director of Kosalaki
Investments Limited which is a substantial shareholder of the Company
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
Besides, Mr. Guo is currently a Standing Committee Member of the 12th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, a member of the 4th Advisory Committee for State
Informatization and the Chairman of both Beijing Informatization Association
and 6th Council of China Non-Governmental Science Technology
Entrepreneurs Association. He has over 25 years of experience in business
strategy development and business management.
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Mr. LIN Yang, aged 46, is the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director of the Group and is responsible for the overall business
management of the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Lin graduated in 1988 with a Bachelor’'s Degree in
Computing Communications from the Xidian University and in 2005 with
a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business. Mr. Lin was previously the Executive Vice
President and the President of the Group and was appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group in April 2011. He joined the Legend
group in 1990 and has over 22 years of management experience in
distribution business. Mr. Lin was awarded the Lifetime Achievement
Award by the IT Channel Elite Panel in 2001 and recognised as the
Most Influential Figure in IT Distribution of 20 Years in 2005. In 2013, he
was also selected as one of the Leaders of the Year 2012 of the China
Information Industry and Top-10 Annual Icons of the Year 2012 of
Zhongguancun. Besides, Mr. Lin has been appointed as the Director for
IT Channel Profession Council, under the MIIT (Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology).
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Mr. YAN Guorong, aged 39, is the President and Executive Director of
the Company. Mr. Yan is responsible for the overall operation and
management of the Group and he is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yan graduated from Renmin University
of China with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics and obtained an EMBA
Degree from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business. He joined the
Legend group in 1996 and has been responsible for the day-to-day
operation and management of the company’s network and value-added
business. From 2005 onwards, Mr. Yan has assumed duties of strategic
planning, operational management and regional management of the
Systems Technology Services Strategic Business Unit of 18 &fi (Fh )
A B2 7 (Digital China (China) Limited). Mr. Yan has nearly 16 years of
experience in distribution, customers services business and sales
management of IT value-added products.
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Non-executive Director

EBRITES

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, aged 55, is a Non-executive Director of the Company.
He received his Bachelor Degree in Engineering from the Nanjing
Aeronautic Institute in the PRC in 1982 and a Master of Arts’ Degree in
International Political Economy from Princeton University in 1989. Mr. Yan
joined the Company in December 2007. He is currently the Founding
Managing Partner of SAIF Partners (“SAIF”) and a Director of Sparkling
Investment (BVI) Limited (“SIBL”) and SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd. which are
substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Prior to joining SAIF, he was the
Managing Director and Head of the Hong Kong office of the Emerging
Markets Partnership from 1994 to 2001. From 1989 to 1994, he worked in
the World Bank, the renowned Hudson Institute and Sprint International
Corporation as an Economist, Research Fellow and Director for the Asia
Pacific Region respectively in Washington D.C.. From 1982 to 1984, he was
the Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.. Mr. Yan is a member of
China’s national “Thousand Talents Program” and served as a member of
its Selection Committee in 2012. He is also a Founding Director of China
Venture and Private Equity Association, and a Director of Peking University
Endowment Investment Committee. He was voted by the China Venture
Capital Association as “The Venture Investor of the Year” in both 2004 and
2007. He was also selected as one of the “Fifty Finest Private Equity
Investors in the World” by the Private Equity International in 2007, “No. 1
Venture Capitalist of the Year” by Forbes (China) in 2008 and 2009. He was
the “Venture Capital Professional of the Year” by Asia Venture Capital
Journal in 2009. Under Mr. Yan’s leadership, SAIF was voted as “VC Firm
of the Year” by the China Venture Capital Association in 2004 and 2007
and it was also named as “The Best Performing Fund in Asia” by Private
Equity International in 2005, 2006 and 2008, “The Best Growth Investment
Fund of the Year” in 2009.

Currently, Mr. Yan is an Independent Non-executive Director of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation,
China Resources Land Limited and Fosun International Limited; a Non-
executive Director of Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation
Limited, MOBI Development Co., Ltd., China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited
and eSun Holdings Limited (all listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, other than that China Petroleum &
Chemical Corporation is also listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange, The
London Stock Exchange and The New York Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan is
also an Independent Director of Giant Interactive Group, Inc. (listed on The
New York Stock Exchange); a Director of Acorn International, Inc. (listed on
The New York Stock Exchange), ATA Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ, USA) and
Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd. (listed on The Shenzhen Stock
Exchange). He was previously a Director of Global Education & Technology
Group Ltd. (listed on the NASDAQ, USA, the shares of which were
withdrawn from listing on the NASDAQ, USA in December 2011) from
March 2007 to December 2011 as well as the Chairman and Non-executive
Director of NVC Lighting Holding Limited (listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) from October 2006 to April 2013
respectively.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

BUAKBITES

Mr. HU Zhaoguang, aged 74, is an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company. He graduated from the Tsinghua University in 1964 and
also completed a management course in Sweden. Mr. Hu has over 41
years of experience in economics, finance and corporate management
and was wide recognised for his work in these areas. Mr. Hu joined the
Company in September 2004. Mr. Hu is currently serving as an
Independent Non-executive Director as well as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of both China Ground Source Energy Limited and
China City Railway Transportation Technology Holdings Company Limited
(both listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited). He is also the Independent Non-executive Director
of BBMG Corporation (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited). He was previously the Chairman of Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and its parent company, Beijing
Holdings Limited, and an Independent Non-executive Director of China
Overseas Land & Investment Limited (listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). From February 1993 to
January 1998, Mr. Hu served as a Vice Mayor of the Beijing Municipal
Government. From 1988 to 1993, Mr. Hu served as the Director of
Beijing Experimental Zone for the Development of New Technology
Industries and Chief Executive of Beijing Haidian District Government.
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Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, aged 48, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He holds a Master Degree in
Management conferred by Guangzhou Jinan University, the People’s
Republic of China. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a Certified Tax Advisor of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, an associate member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of the Society
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) and has over 25 years of experience in auditing, taxation,
management and financial advisory. Mr. Wong joined the Company in
August 2006. Previously, Mr. Wong worked for KPMG, an international
accounting firm, for 6 years and the Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited for 2 years. Mr. Wong has the appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee as well as a
member of the Nomination Committee of China Oriental Group Company
Limited (listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited); and an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of Wai Kee Holdings Limited (listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was an
Independent Non-executive Director of eForce Holdings Limited (listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Wong
is the Managing Director of Union Alpha C.P.A. Limited and a Director of
Union Alpha CAAP Certified Public Accountants Limited, both being
professional accounting firms, and a Founding Director and member of
Francis M C Wong Charitable Foundation Limited, a charitable institution.
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Ms. NI Hong (Hope), aged 41, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Ms. Ni received her J.D. Degree from the
University of Pennsylvania Law School and her Bachelor's Degree in
Applied Economics and Business Management from Cornell University.
Ms. Ni joined the Company in September 2010. Currently, Ms. Ni is the
Chairman of Inspire Capital. From August 2004 to January 2008, Ms. Ni
served as the Chief Financial Officer and Director for Cogo Group Inc.
(“Cogo”), and served as Vice Chairman of Cogo until early 2009, a
NASDAQ Select Global Market-listed company (NASDAQ: COGO). Prior
to joining Cogo, Ms. Ni spent six years as a Practicing Attorney at
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP in New York and Hong
Kong, specializing in corporate finance. Prior to that, Ms. Ni worked at
Merrill Lynch’s investment banking division in New York.

Ms. Ni is currently serving as Independent Director and acting as the
Audit Committee Chairman as well as Compensation and Nomination
Committee member at JA Solar Holdings, Co. Ltd., a NASDAQ-listed
company (NASDAQ: JASO) and ATA Inc., a NASDAQ-listed company
(NASDAQ: ATAI). Ms. Ni is also an Independent Director at KongZhong
Corporation, a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: KONG). Ms. Ni was
previously a Non-executive Director and a member of the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee and the Compensation
Committee of ChinaCast Education Corporation (the shares of which
were withdrawn from listing on NASDAQ, USA in 2012).
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Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, aged 49, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Ong holds a Master of Science Degree
and a Bachelor of Science Degree major in Electrical Engineering from
Columbia University (New York City). He is acting as the Responsible
Officer (Types 1 and 2) of Licensed Corporation for Alpha Securities
Company Limited and Alpha Futures Company Limited respectively
under the registration of Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong. Mr. Ong joined the Company in September 2010.

Mr. Ong awarded the BBS, Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of
the Hong Kong SAR in 2008. Mr. Ong served on the board of The Tung
Wah Group of Hospitals from 1998 to 2008 and took the chair of the
board from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Ong also joined the Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals advisory board from 2008 to 2009. Mr. Ong served on the
hospital governing committee of the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from
2002 to 2013. He is also a Founding Member and Chairman of the
Green Investment Promotion Association.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SEEEA8 ZBHE

Senior Management
EEEEAS

Mr. WONG Chi Keung, aged 46, is the Company Secretary of the
Company. Mr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with
a Bachelor’'s Degree in Social Sciences and is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has over
23 years of experience in financial management and corporate
administration. He is mainly responsible for the financial reporting and
listing issues of the Group.
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The Group is committed to promote the highest standards of
corporate governance so as to enhance its transparency,
accountability and corporate value to the shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles, code provisions and certain recommended best
practices set out in the “Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report” as amended in 2012 (the “Code”)
and contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the Code
throughout the year under review, except for the following
deviations from certain code provisions with considered reasons
as given below:

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company were not
appointed for any specific term. Since all Directors (save for the
Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director) are subject to
retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting in
accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”)
and shall be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that the
retirement of Directors by rotation at each annual general
meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws has given the
shareholders of the Company the right to approve the
continuation of the service of the Directors.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Under the Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of
the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, the number nearest to one-third shall retire
from office, the Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director
shall not, whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by
rotation. Therefore, Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman of the Board,
shall not be subject to retirement by rotation.
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Code Provision A.5.1 stipulates that company should establish
a nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman of the
board or an independent non-executive director and comprises a
majority of independent non-executive directors.

The Company does not establish a Nomination Committee at
present. The Company considers that the setting up of a
Nomination Committee may not be necessary as the Board has
the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as addition
to the Board according to the Bye-Laws, therefore, the Board
has been able to assume the responsibilities of a Nomination
Committee. The Board will identify and assess whether the
candidate has the balanced composition of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the businesses of the
Company and suitably qualified to become board members.

Code Provision D.1.4 stipulates that directors should clearly
understand delegation arrangements in place. Company should
have formal letters of appointment for directors setting out the
key terms and conditions of their appointment.

The Company has not entered into any written letters of
appointment with its Non-executive Director or any Independent
Non-executive Directors. However, the Board recognizes that (i)
the relevant Directors have already been subject to the laws and
regulations applicable to directors of a company listed on the
Stock Exchange, including the Listing Rules as well as the
fiduciary duties to act in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders; (i) all of them are well established in their
professions and have held directorships in other listed
companies; and (i) the current arrangement has been adopted
by the Company for years and has proved to be effective.
Therefore, the Board considers that the relevant Directors are
able to carry out their duties in a responsible and effective
manner under the current arrangement.

Moreover, the Company publishes quarterly financial results of the
Group by way of announcement which exceeds the code
provisions set out in the Code. However, the Company does not
publish and distribute report for quarterly financial results of the
Group as the Board is of the view that publication of quarterly
financial reports does not bring significant benefits to
shareholders, but at the cost of their own.
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The Stock Exchange implemented the Code and certain
amendments on the Listing Rules in 2012. In order to reinforce
and enhance our commitment to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance, the Company has taken measures and
made appropriate arrangements to comply with the Code and
the Listing Rules as amended.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its code
of conduct for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry with the Directors, all of the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2013.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 March 2013, the Board comprised seven Directors,
including two Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director
and four Independent Non-executive Directors. An additional
Executive Director was appointed with effect from 1 April 2013.
To the best knowledge of the Company, the Board members
have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
heading “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 38 to 46
of this annual report.

Role and Function

The Board takes responsibility for the formulation of the overall
strategy and the leadership and control of the Group such as the
Group’s long term objectives and strategies, the approval of the
Group’s corporate and capital structure, financial reporting and
controls, internal controls and risk management, material
contracts, communication with the shareholders, the Board
membership and other appointments, remuneration of Directors
and other key senior management, delegation of authority to
Board committees and corporate governance matters.
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During the year ended 31 March 2013, one general meeting was
held and the Board held four regular meetings at approximately
quarterly intervals and one ad hoc meeting where the Directors
attended the Board meetings either in person or by other means
of electronic communication. The individual attendance records of
each of the Directors are set out below:

RBE-_T—=F=ZA=+—BLFER 2817
—RBRAELEFEETONAEHRER(ANE
FE-RIAR—REREZE  EFHRGHIAEM
BETBASTALFEESFE SR SEFZAALR
FLERE DI INT

Number of Board Number of
meetings general meeting

Directors attended/held attended/held
HE 21T HE 817

BEE ESTERARY BEXEXRH

Executive Directors HITEE

GUO Wei (Chairman) 2B (EE) 4/5 1/1

LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer) W (BEHITE) 5/5 0/1

Non-executive Director FEHITEE

Andrew Y. YAN ko 4/5 0/1

Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE

HU Zhaoguang HARE & 5/5 0/1

WONG Man Chung, Francis =R 5/5 1/1

NI Hong (Hope) {573 4T 5/5 1/1

ONG Ka Lueng, Peter FxKF 4/5 1/

Appointments and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the Bye-Laws to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board. Only the qualified candidates will be
proposed to the Board for consideration and the selection
criteria are mainly based on the assessment of their professional
qualifications, experience and their possible contribution to the
Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed four Independent Non-executive
Directors, one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.
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Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the
Independent Non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group
are segregated, which are held by Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. LIN
Yang respectively. Mr. Guo is responsible for the strategic
development and management of the Group whereas Mr. Lin is
responsible for the overall business management of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2001 with specific
written terms of reference. The Audit Committee comprised three
members and all of them are Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Audit Committee is currently chaired by Mr. HU
Zhaoguang, with Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis and Ms. NI
Hong (Hope) as members.

In order to comply with the Code, an amended Terms of
Reference for Audit Committee was approved and adopted by
the Board on 30 March 2012 taking effect from 1 April 2012.
The Terms of Reference for Audit Committee is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

Under the amended Terms of Reference for Audit Committee,
the Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, monitoring
the integrity of the financial statements of the Group; reviewing
the Group’s financial controls, internal controls and risk
management systems; reviewing the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices; reviewing and monitoring the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function and ensuring
co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
performing the Group’s corporate governance function delegated
by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Function

Under the amended Terms of Reference for Audit Committee,
the Audit Committee has been delegated by the Board to
perform the corporate governance function to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board. The Audit
Committee shall also review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and review the Company’s compliance with the Code
and the disclosure in this Report as set out under Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Audit Committee held
four regular meetings at approximately quarterly intervals where
the members attended either in person or by other means of
electronic communication. The individual attendance records of
each of the Audit Committee members at the Audit Committee
meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2013 are set out
below:

EEEQRE
REEFIZERZRECRERET  EXRESR
EFERBBETERERME  UHE RIS AR
AMEEERBRRERER LRESGREES -
ERZEENTBERMREREENSNEERAR
MBIIEFEEERR R MEEARTEET
EREEERESTENBRNER  HIE - BT K
ERREENEENBETEARERAFMIE) K
A ARBE ST RIE AR BI85 1+ 0 AR R ey <P RY
R B R A M H) B ER

RBEE-_ZT-—=F=ZA=+—HILFER BRZ
BgRTmREReR(RNEFTE— m)WEW
BMESINEMEFRASTALE - RBE_T—=
FZA=+—BHLEFEAR EFKRZLZER W SE S
REREBegRZEALFECEEINMT

Number of Audit

Committee

meetings

Audit Committee Members attended/held
HE BITER

BEZZEEHE EEEERRY
HU Zhaoguang (Chairman) A E (£ /) 3/4
WONG Man Chung, Francis =R 4/4
NI Hong (Hope) {573 4T 4/4

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Audit Committee has
reviewed with senior management and the Auditors of the
Company their respective audit findings, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, legal and
regulatory compliance, and discussed auditing, internal control,
risk management and financial reporting matters. The Board has,
through the Audit Committee, conducted regular reviews on the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group and
discussed matters related to corporate governance function
during the year ended 31 March 2013.
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The Audit Committee has no disagreement with the Board on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditors of
the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 31 August
2006 with specific written terms of reference. The Remuneration
Committee comprised three members with majority of
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee is currently chaired by Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, an
Independent Non-executive Director, with Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, a
Non-executive Director and Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, an
Independent Non-executive Director as members.

In order to comply with the Code, an amended Terms of
Reference for Remuneration Committee was approved and
adopted by the Board on 30 March 2012 taking effect from 1
April 2012. The Terms of Reference for Remuneration Committee
is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively.

Under the amended Terms of Reference for Remuneration
Committee, the Remuneration Committee is responsible for,
among others, making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy. The Remuneration Committee shall also make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management, which
includes benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments and on the remuneration of Non-executive Director.
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During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting where the members attended either
in person or by other means of electronic communication to
review the remuneration of Executive Directors of the Company.
The individual attendance records of each of the Remuneration
Committee members at the Remuneration Committee meeting
held during the year ended 31 March 2013 are set out below:

RBE-_T-—=F=ZA=+—"HFERN HFMEE
ERIT-REFE  KEOBRFIUEMLETEAS
AHEFE AR ARBMTEZTOME - REE=
T—=F=ZA=THFER EFMHZEEKE
REHEZEEERZBEALFEREHIWT:

Remuneration Committee Members

Number of
Remuneration
Committee meeting
attended/held

g2 17 Bl

FMEEEERE ZEEEHRRY

ONG Ka Lueng, Peter (Chairman)* ERE(EE)" 1/1

Andrew Y. YAN* 8 0/1

WONG Man Chung, Francis =R 1/1
* Mr. Andrew Y. YAN (a Non-executive Director) has acted as the * BE-EE+F+-A+hB Bkt GERmTES)

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee since 19 December
2007. In order to comply with the Listing Rules that the
remuneration committee must be chaired by an independent non-
executive director, the Board has on 21 February 2012 announced
that Mr. Yan ceased to act as the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee but remained as a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter (an Independent Non-
executive Director and previously as a member of the
Remuneration Committee) was appointed as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, all with effect from 1 April 2012.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
March 2013 are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

DIRECTOR INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Newly appointed Directors will receive comprehensive induction
on appointment to ensure understanding of the directors’
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company also organizes and arranges seminars
for Directors which emphasize on the roles, functions and duties
of being a director of a listed company and the development of
their knowledge on the regulatory updates whenever necessary
or appropriate.
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During the financial year, the Company has organized and
arranged seminars presented by external lawyers on legal and
regulatory requirements for all Directors, namely Mr. GUO Wei ,
Mr. LIN Yang, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, Mr. HU Zhaoguang, Mr.
WONG Man Chung, Francis, Ms. NI Hong (Hope) and Mr. ONG
Ka Lueng, Peter. In addition, the Directors were provided with
the relevant training materials to keep them abreast of the latest
development of rules and regulations. The Company has
received the records of training from all Directors.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 March 2013, remuneration to Auditors of
the Company was approximately HK$5,200,000 for audit
services and HK$690,000 for non-audit services (HK$450,000 on
agreed-upon procedures on quarterly/interim results and
HK$240,000 on tax retainer service).

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Principle

The Board should ensure that the internal control of the Group is
solid, sound, effective, so as to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Group’s assets.

Internal Control

A well-designed internal control system is very important to the
protection of the Group’s assets, the reliability of its financial
statements, and its compliance with legislation and rules. As
such, the Group is committed to establishing and maintaining a
sound internal control system to provide reasonable, though not
absolute, assurance against any serious misrepresentation or
loss, and to manage, though not eliminate, any risk of serious
mistakes regarding the operation system and the objectives of
the Group. The Board also perceives its overall responsibility for
the internal control, financial control and risk management, and
will review its effectiveness from time to time.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit Department, which is
responsible for the internal audit of the Group, independent
assessment of risks, and internal control procedures and system,
and reports its findings, with recommendations, to the Audit
Committee on a quarterly basis.
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The Internal Audit Department will assess the risks to which the
Group is exposed, and formulate an audit plan on that basis
annually, so as to ensure that the internal audit covers all areas
of high risks. The audit plan will be submitted to the Audit
Committee for approval. The scope of audit review is determined
based on the risk assessment results. Special reviews will be
conducted on matters which are of concern to the management
or the Audit Committee.

Monitoring Procedures

The Board establishes and maintains a good internal control
system through the following principal procedures:

—

(

) Establishing a reasonable and effective organisation
structure with clear functions, responsibilities and authority;

(2) Laying down stringent procedures for budget preparation
and budget management; formulating business plans and
financial budgets annually; rationally adjusting the
organisation structure based on business planning; ensuring
the effective operation of the organisation; reviewing the
implementation of budgets and making reasonable
adjustment based on the latest conditions;

(8) The Internal Audit Department — independently assessing
the comprehensibility and effectiveness of the monitoring of
principal business, reporting its principal findings, with
recommendations, to the Audit Committee on a quarterly
basis; and

(4)  The Auditors — making a“Management Proposal”in its audit
of annual results, recommending ways to address some
internal management areas which are correspondingly
weak; the management making serious reviews, and making
and submitting improvement proposals to the Audit
Committee.
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Assessment of Annual Internal Monitoring

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Internal Audit
Department adopted a risk-based methodology to focus on and
monitor principal workflow, and reported the internal audit results
to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis. Through the Audit
Committee, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group. The internal control system covers
all important matters to be monitored, including finance,
operation and compliance matters, risk management functions as
well as the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
on a going concern basis in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the Auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group
is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 71 to 72
of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and the investment community.

One of the principal channels of communication with the
Shareholders of the Company is the Annual General Meeting and
all corporate communications of the Company, including but not
limited to interim reports, annual reports, notices of meeting,
announcements, circulars and other relevant Company’s
information are available on the Company’s website (www.
digitalchina.com.hk).

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication
Policy to handle enquiries put to the Board.
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The Company believes that communicating with Shareholders
through its website is an efficient way of delivering information in
a timely and convenient manner. Information on the Company’s
website will be continuously reviewed and updated to ensure that
information is current, or appropriately dated and archived.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company recognises the rights of Shareholders and
encourages Shareholders to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend the meeting. The general
meeting provides an important opportunity for Shareholders to
express their view to the Board and management and to
exercise Shareholders’ rights. Under the Bye-Laws, Shareholders
have the rights to convene a special general meeting and put
forward agenda items for consideration by Shareholders. The
latest Bye-Laws has been uploaded onto the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange respectively.

Shareholders are encouraged to use their attendance at
meetings to ask questions about or comment on the results,
operations, strategy, corporate governance and/or management
of the Group. The Board members, in particular, either the
Chairmen or members of the Board committees, appropriate
management executive, external auditors and legal advisers shall
be available at general meetings to answer questions from
Shareholders.
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Report of the Directors
EERWE

The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. lts principal
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sale and distribution
of general information technology products and systems
products, and provision of supply chain services and information
technology services.

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 March
2013 are set out in note 20 to the financial statements. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2013 and
the state of affairs at that date of the Company and the Group
are set out in the financial statements on pages 73 to 225 of
this annual report.

The Directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 38.80 HK cents (2012: 39.80 HK cents) per share in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2013 to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
23 August 2013. This recommendation has been incorporated in
the financial statements as an allocation of retained profits within
the equity section of the consolidated and company statements
of financial position respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on page 226 of this annual report. The five-year
financial summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 15
to the financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements, together with the reasons therefore, in the
share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note
34 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 36 to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity set out on pages 77 to 78 of this annual report,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2013, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Act of Bermuda, amounted to HK$1,235,906,000, of which
HK$414,592,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for the
year. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$2,058,336,000, may be distributed in the form of
fully paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
Laws or the laws of Bermuda although there are no restrictions
against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman)
Mr. LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YAN Guorong (President)*

Non-executive Director
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. HU Zhaoguang

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis
Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter

# Mr. YAN Guorong was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company with effect from 1 April 2013.

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, Mr. HU Zhaoguang and Ms. NI Hong (Hope)
will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Bye-Law 99
of the Bye-Laws and Mr. YAN Guorong who was appointed as a
director with effect from 1 April 2013 will hold office until the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with Bye-Law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws. All of them
being eligible will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Changes in the information of Directors required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman and the Executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as the Chairman of the 6th Council of
China Non-Governmental Science Technology Entrepreneurs
Association.

The fixed emolument of Mr. LIN Yang, the Chief Executive Officer

and the Executive Director of the Company was adjusted from
RMB2 million to RMB3 million.
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Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, a Non-executive Director of the Company,
was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with
effect from 10 January 2013. Besides, Mr. Yan ceased to act as
the Chairman and Non-executive Director of NVC Lighting
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, all with effect from 3
April 2013. Mr. Yan was appointed as a member of China’s
national “Thousand Talents Program” and served as a member of
its Selection Committee in 2012. Besides, he is also a Founding
Director of China Venture and Private Equity Association and a
Director of Peking University Endowment Investment Committee.

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, ceased to act as the Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of Audit Committee, member of
Remuneration Committee and member of Nomination Committee
of eForce Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited all with effect
from 19 April 2013.

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, ceased to serve on the hospital
governing committee of the Tung Wah Group of Hospitals.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the Executive Directors of the Company entered into a
service agreement with the Company which shall continue in
force unless and until terminated by (i) either the Company or the
Director serving on each other of not less than three months’
notice, or (i) his retirement as a director without being re-elected
as a Director by the Shareholders of the Company in an annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws, or (iii) in the
event of the Director’s default under the terms of the said
service agreement.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service agreement with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than the statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has two share option schemes. One of the share
option schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the “2002 Share
Option Scheme”) and the other share option scheme was
adopted on 15 August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”),
each with life span of ten years. Details of movements in the
share options during the year are set out in note 35(a) to the
financial statements.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the
“RSA Scheme”) on 28 March 2011 for the purpose of rewarding
and motivating, among others, Directors (including executive and
non-executive) and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Participants”) with the shares of the Company.
Details of the RSA Scheme are set out in note 35(b) to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2013, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)
which were required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executive were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be and are
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers adopted by the Company (the “Model
Code”) were as follows:
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GUO Wei Beneficial owner and Interests of 1,604,000 69,414,286 960,000 2,000,000 73,878,286 6.76
a controlled corporation (Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4)
B BEREAARRZIE LB 2w (K1 7t2) (K1 7%3) (Kt i#4)
Andrew Y. YAN Interests of a controlled corporation = 119,111,744 = = 119,111,744 10.92
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1P XEEE R (K1 it6)
LIN Yang Beneficial owner 56,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 2,056,000 0.19
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Notes:

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the
shares of the Company.

These 69,414,286 shares of the Company were beneficially held by
Kosalaki Investments Limited (“KIL”), of which Mr. GUO Wei is the
controlling shareholder and also a director of KIL, therefore, Mr.
GUO Wei was deemed to be interested in such shares in which
KIL was interested.

These 960,000 share options held by Mr. GUO Wei were granted
on 21 May 2008. The exercisable period of these share options is
from 21 May 2009 to 20 May 2016, during which can be
exercised at an exercise price of HK$5.89 per share for
subscription of ordinary shares of the Company.

These 2,000,000 restricted share units (“RSUs”) held by Mr. GUO
Wei were granted on 13 April 2011 under the restricted share
award scheme (“RSA Scheme”) of the Company, which will be
vested on 1 August 2014 subject to fulfillment of certain
performance targets.

These 119,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by
Sparkling Investment (BVI) Limited (“SIBL”), which is wholly-owned
by SAIF Partners Il L.P.. SAIF Partners Ill L.P. is controlled by SAIF
Il GP, L.P, and SAIF Il GP, L.P. is indirectly controlled by Mr.
Andrew Y. YAN through SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd., therefore, Mr.
Andrew Y. YAN was deemed to be interested in such shares in
which SIBL was interested.

These 1,000,000 share options held by Mr. LIN Yang were granted
on 21 May 2008. The exercisable period of these share options is
from 21 May 2009 to 20 May 2016, during which can be
exercised at an exercise price of HK$5.89 per share for
subscription of ordinary shares of the Company.

These 1,000,000 RSUs held by Mr. LIN Yang were granted on 13
April 2011 under the RSA Scheme of the Company, which will be
vested on 1 August 2014 subject to fulfilment of certain
performance targets.
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8. Each RSU granted under the RSA Scheme of the Company adopted
on 28 March 2011 represents one ordinary share of the Company
and will be held by the trustee until vesting in accordance with the
provisions of the RSA Scheme.

9. The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate
nominal value of the shares/underlying shares comprising the
interests held as a percentage of the aggregate nominal value of
all the issued share capital of the Company of the same class
immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the
register maintained under Section 352 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2013, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company or their associates
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which the directors and
chief executive were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2013, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
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following persons, not being a Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, had the following interests and short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or required to be recorded in the register

required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Kosalaki Investments Limited Beneficial owner 69,414,286 6.35

(Note 2) (#i7#2) EmEAA

Sparkling Investment (BVI) Limited Beneficial owner 119,111,744 10.92
EmBEA (Note 3) (H1:#3)

SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd. Interests of a controlled 119,111,744 10.92
corporation (Note 3) (1 :#3)

RIEEE 2w

Allianz SE Interests of controlled 109,588,000 10.02

corporations (Note 4) (ffi#4)
RIEEE 2w

Matthews International Capital Investment Manager 87,811,000 8.08
Management, LLC 1% & K38 (Note 5) ([ i£5)

Legend Holdings Limited (Note 6) Beneficial owner/Interests of 15,013,077/ 517
BB IR B R A |l (A7 76) a controlled corporation 41,368,642
EnlAA/ EEBZER (Note 7) (K1 7i£7)

TN BB IR E R AT | 2012/13 3 67



Report of the Directors 2 &k

Notes:

—

68

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the
shares of the Company.

KIL is controlled by Mr. GUO Wei, a director of the Company, of
which Mr. GUO Wei is also a director of KIL.

These 119,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by
SIBL, which is wholly-owned by SAIF Partners Il L.P. SAIF
Partners Ill L.P. is controlled by SAIF Ill GP, L.P., and SAIF Il GP,
L.P. is indirectly controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN through SAIF IlI
GP Capital Ltd., therefore, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN was deemed to be
interested in such shares in which SIBL was interested.

Out of these 109,588,000 shares in aggregate, 100,678,000 shares
were held by RCM Asia Pacific Ltd., 4,541,000 shares by Allianz
Global Investors Taiwan Ltd., 485,000 shares by Allianz Global
Investors Singapore Ltd., 2,352,000 shares by Allianz Global
Investors Europe GmbH, 1,430,000 shares by RCM Capital
Management LLC and 102,000 shares by PT Asuransi Allianz Life
Indonesia p..c.. All of the aforementioned companies were
indirectly controlled by Allianz SE.

Matthews International Capital Management, LLC was deemed to
be interested in an aggregate of 87,811,000 shares by virtue of the
SFO. Those interests were held in the capacity of investment
manager.

The English name “Legend Holdings Limited”is direct transliterations
of its Chinese registered name “H A8 44 It A7 PR 2 77,

These 41,368,642 shares of the Company were held by Right Lane
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary and a controlled corporation of
Legend Holdings Limited, and therefore Legend Holdings Limited
was deemed to be interested in such shares by virtue of the SFO.

The approximate percentage of interests is based on the aggregate
nominal value of the shares/underlying shares comprising the
interests held as a percentage of the aggregate nominal value of
all the issued share capital of the Company of the same class
immediately after the relevant event and as recorded in the
register maintained under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2013, the Company had
not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in shares or underlying shares of the Company which
were required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of Part XV of the SFO.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donation of HK$3,077,000
(2012: HK$671,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers was less than 30% (2012: less than 30%)
of the Group’s total turnover for the year.

The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers was approximately 30% (2012:
approximately 30%) of the Group’s total purchases and the
percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier was approximately 8% (2012: approximately 9%) for the
year.

None of the directors, any of their associates or shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s major customers or suppliers noted
above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2013, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2013 of the Group were audited by Ernst & Young.
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Report of the Directors 2 &k

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float during the year ended 31
March 2013 and up to the date of this report as required under
the Listing Rules.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
REEFE

%
GUO Wei 3BA&

Chairman T /&

Hong Kong, 18 June 2013
58 ZE—=F,A+NH
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Independent Auditors’ Report
&N A7 ER A

L
Ell ERNST & YOUNG
[ ]
=z ik
To the shareholders of Digital China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Digital
China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 225, which
comprise the consolidated and company statements of financial
position as at 31 March 2013, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report %37 % gkEmsk &

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2013, and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young LK ETEEEAT
Certified Public Accountants HEZIA

22/F CITIC Tower BEBFIR

1 Tim Mei Avenue NZE B

Central, Hong Kong iz KE22E

18 June 2013 —E-=%FXATNH
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Consolidated Income Statement

e Wk

Year ended 31 March 2013 HE—Z

—=F=ZA=+—HItFE

2013 2012
—EB—-=%5 —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ok BETT 7S BT T
REVENUE [N 5 73,498,913 70,319,367
Cost of sales §H & A AN (68,128,346) (65,013,476)
Gross profit £ A 5,370,567 5,305,891
Other income and gains - N 5 822,607 755,170
Selling and distribution expenses HEMDHEHER (2,939,133) (3,046,983)
Administrative expenses THEA (647,570) (668,029)
Other expenses, net H &R FE (492,463) (400,910)
Total operating expenses EEE R 6 (4,079,166) (4,115,922)
Finance costs RPN 8 (293,205) (335,388)
Share of profits and losses of: G TRII AR 2
i ) K B 18
Jointly-controlled entities H R 22 il 1 2 6,997 (3,590)
Associates H"“* Al 23,474 47,005
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B %t 5 itk F 7 1,851,274 1,653,166
Income tax expense FiEHiE A 11 (332,122 (314,478)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AEEHF 1,519,152 1,338,688
Attributable to: mﬁ%fﬁ’\ 3
Equity holders of the parent UNGIE R 12 1,367,369 1,244,813
Non-controlling interests é‘H [i% #E &= 151,783 93,875
1,519,152 1,338,688
EARNINGS PER SHARE BATEERKRE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FEIE B EFI
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 14
Basic HA HK$#E#51.287T HK$ B ¥1167T
Diluted 5 HK$# #51.265C  HK$ & #1.167T
Details of the dividend payable and proposed for the year are REE 2 EAREREIRRKRE ZFBE NI B
disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements. R MTEEIS o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

N\ 7/
IR

sreEml

Year ended 31 March 2013 HZ =T —=F=A=+—HIFE

2013 2012
—E—-=%5 —E——F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
o2 BETT BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 7 5 BE itk F 1,519,152 1,338,688
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hith2mis
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale  AIfEHE 2R E 2 A FEE
investments e 58,931 26,904
Reversal of revaluation gains (N ElE (110,578) —
Exchange differences on translation of BINEBRE 2 [E K ERE
foreign operations 49,348 97,587
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ BINBRBMENEEE
(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR, Hb2mlkzx (R
NET OF TAX (2,299) 124,491
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME XEEZEKE
FOR THE YEAR P 1,516,853 1,463,179
Attributable to: BEEN:
Equity holders of the parent & 2 7] R% B = 12 1,361,113 1,345,297
Non-controlling interests IE 128 IR #E = 155,740 117,882
1,516,853 1,463,179
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Are ISR

31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=H=+—H

2013 2012
—E—=%5 —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
K1 it BETIT BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE 15 1,515,037 1,236,475
Investment properties wEY 16 335,197 305,005
Prepaid land premiums FEN LS 17 503,849 163,215
Goodwill [EES 18 239,012 236,377
Other intangible assets Hih\Emp & E 19 10,079 4,591
Investments in jointly-controlled entities REREFICEZKE 22 126,601 33,224
Investments in associates REE N Na 2’ E 23 681,976 780,739
Available-for-sale investments At EZIRE 24 473,952 214,321
Deferred tax assets REHIBEE 25 78,567 32,135
Total non-current assets BIETRBE E 3,964,270 3,006,082
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories FE 26 5,793,742 5,154,490
Trade and bills receivables FE W E 50k 3R & e W R & 28 10,324,760 10,787,427
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIE e R HMmERK
receivables KIE 4,082,068 3,527,378
Derivative financial instruments TEERIA 31 53,511 92,440
Cash and cash equivalents ReNREFED 29 4,189,519 4,253,966
Total current assets wREE E 24,443,600 23,815,701
CURRENT LIABILITIES HRENE &
Trade and bills payables JERE SRR R ENEE 30 10,873,485 12,315,472
Other payables and accruals EMEMNRERBRER 3,041,381 2,728,849
Tax payable JE 2 % 18 306,462 201,525
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT EIRITER 32 2,765,891 2,323,895
Bond payable E &+ 33 37,023 —
Total current liabilities wWREAE 17,024,242 17,569,741
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 7,419,358 6,245,960
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEER
CURRENT LIABILITIES REERE 11,383,628 9,252,042
MBS A R AR | 2012/13 &3 75



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 424 B1#

31 March 2013 —Z—=F=A=+—H

IR

2013 2012
—E—=%5 —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ogza BETT BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERHER
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M ERITE R 32 2,712,494 1,692,000
Bond payable B EH 33 - 36,615
Total non-current liabilities BIERBER 2,712,494 1,728,615
Net assets BEFE 8,671,134 7,523,427
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity holders B A SRR
of the parent FEIh S
Issued capital BETIRA 34 109,346 109,273
Reserves 1 36(a) 7,302,560 6,286,928
Proposed final dividend ¥R RH IR B 13 414,592 424,986
7,826,498 6,821,187
Non-controlling interests RS 844,636 702,240
Total equity S EE 8,671,134 7,523,427

’

N
Ef i@
GUO Wei 385
Chairman F &

LIN Yang # 15
Director E#
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

AR

VYear ended 31 March 2013 HZE =T —=F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BRAARR R
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share Employee  share-based  investment Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium  Capital share  compensation  revaluation Reserve fluctuation  Retained final controling Total
capital  account  reserve trust reserve reserve funds reserve profits ~ dividend Total interests equity
WRAXA mEHE2
BEf i) EE EEZ REz GHE ELED *E Bk FiEk i3
RAE  HER AREE REEE MewE fERE E i wH RERE &zt & ag
Notes  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000 HKS'000
Wit E8Tr BETn BETn BT BT BETR B%Tr BETr E%Tr A%t BETr BETT BT
At 1 April 2011 RZE——%MmA-H 109121 2,041,222 878,244 (24,041) 16,423 — 200,280 194,717 2,265114 351,916 6,032,996 537,837 6,570,833
Profit for the year REEET = = = = - - - - 124813 - 1244813 93875 1338688
Other comprehensive income REEEM2ANE :
for the year:
Change in fair value of an AHHNEZREL
avallable-for-sale ATEE
investment b2 = = = = = 26,904 = = = - 26904 - 26904
Exchange differences in BNERBEL
translation of foreign ERES
operations - - - - - - - 73,580 - - 73580 24007 97587
Total comprehensive income rEE2ENE
for the year 8% - - - - = 26,904 - 73,080 1,244,813 - 1,345,297 17,882 1,463,179
Exercise of share options fE BRRE 34 152 11,484 - - (2,662) - - - - - 8,974 - 8,974
Share-based compensation DR A 2 e 3 = = = = 90,518 = = = = - 90518 - 90518
Contribution to an employee BERZESHF
share trust 35(0) - - - (335873 - - - - - - (335873) - (33587
Capital contribution from —HHEAR
non-controlling shareholders FERREZ
of a subsidiary BAEE - - 208 - - - - - - - 208 4404 37342
Acquisition of non-controlling Wi SR i
interests = = = = = = = = = = = (3309 (3309
Partial disposal of an investment ~ HE—RHBAF 2
in a subsidiary PARE = = = = = = = = = = = 35,515 35515
Change in net assets of an BERAZFEE
associate 28 = = 457 = = = = = = = 457 = 457
Final 2011 dividend “I--ERERE = = = = = = = = 7796 (351,916) (344,120) - (344120
Proposed final 2012 BR-F-—F
dividend FERE 13 = = = = = = = —  (424980) 424,986 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controling 2R 8FJE 12Kk
shareholders BE = = = = = = = = = = = (95) 95)
Transfer to reserve funds BREGEAS = = = = = - 63098 - (63,093 - - - -
At 31 March 2012 R=F—=
=R=t-H 109,273 2,052,706° 901,639* (359,914 104,279° 26904 263373  268,207* 3,029,644* 424986 6,821,187 702,240 7,523 427

1N EIS AR AR AR | 2012/13 F#
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

=]

Year ended 31 March 2013 H{Z =T —=F=A=+—HItFE

4n A s

e

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BAFRRES
Available-
Employee  for-sale
Share Employee  share-based investment Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued premium  Capital share compensation revaluation Reserve fluctuation Retained final controlling Total
capital account reserve trust reserve reserve  funds  reserve  profits dividend Total interests  equity
NRBXM THEEZ
E¥fT BB &8 82 K&z HE ERR RE iR 3203 [ 5
k¥ ERER AXRE REER Haft fERE  E2 1 H KHRE @it E L
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wit B%Tn EETn BETR BETR BETR BETn BETR BETR BETR EMTR BETR A%Tn E%TR
At 1 April 2012 R=E-ZEmA-H 109,273 2,052,706 901,639 (359,914) 104,279 26,904 263,373 268,297 3,029,644 424,986 6,821,187 702,240 7,523,427
Profit for the year RERRT - - - - - - - - 1,367,369 - 1,367,369 151,783 1,519,152
Other compensative income REEEM2ANE :
for the year:
Changes in fair value of ARHEL REZ
avallable-for-sale ATEE
investments i) - - - - - 63,248 - - - - 63,248 (4,317) 58,931
Reversal of revaluation gain BNz RE - - - - - (110,578 - - - - (110,578) - (110,578
Exchange differences in BINEBRE
translation of foreign EXEE
operations - - - - - - - 4,074 - - 4,074 8,274 49,348
Total comprehensive income AEE2ARE
for the year 8% - - - - - (47,330) - 41,074 1,367,369 - 1,361,118 155,740 1,516,853
Exercise of share options T1E BRI 34 73 5,630 - - (1,391) - - - - - 4,312 - 4,312
Share-based compensation WRAZfcMe 3 - - - - 64,987 - - - - - 64,987 - 64,987
Disposal of subsidiaries HESEHBAR 37 - - - - - - - - - - - (13,344 (13,344)
Change in net assets of an KERARZREE
assoclate 2y - - (115) - - - - - - - (115) - (115)
Final 2012 dividend ZE-CERERE - - - - - - - - —  (424,986) (424,986) - (424,986
Proposed final 2013 BE-E-Z%
dividend KRS 13 - - - - - - - - (414,592 414,502 - - -
Transfer to reserve funds BREREES - - - - - - 107,595 - (107,59) - - - -
At 31 March 2013 RZE-=F
=A=t-8 109,346 2,058,336* 901,524* (359,914)* 167,875  (20,426)* 370,968*  309,371* 3,874,826* 414,502 7,826,498 844,636 8,671,134

statement of financial position.
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These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$7,302,560,000 (2012: HK$6,286,928,000) in the consolidated

6,286,928,0007T) °
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Conso\idated Statement of Cash Flows

,\\/\ Eﬁi//lbiﬁ

Year ended 31 March 2013 =

—E=FZA=+—HIEFE

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 EETR B F T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING HEXBHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 50 A1 4 A 1,851,274 1,653,166
Adjustments for: P
Finance costs A& A 8 293,205 335,388
Share of profits and losses of jointly- JE i 2k (7] 28 1) 1 35 K B
controlled entities and associates NEZm A & EiE (30,471) (43,415)
Interest income A EW A (95,561) (89,967)
Dividend income from available-for-sale AHEEZREZ
investments iz B A 5 - (37)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWZE BERZEZ
property, plant and equipment RV AC &) 7 (4,233) 8,288
Fair value gains on investment BEMEZ AFEEKS
properties 5 (15,954) (30,391)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZHEKB AR 2K 5 (251,012) —
Gain on disposal of associates & SRS AR 2 Wi 5 (573) —
Depreciation e 7 159,749 138,287
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums TE 4 76 & 8 7 4,128 621
Amortisation of other intangible assets H b 4B 7 B B 5 7 916 2,011
Provisions/(reversal of provisions) for and PRETFERE (BERD)
write-off of obsolete inventories T dih 88 7 (2,597) 82,769
Impairment of trade receivables FE IR B SR OB B 7 116,948 19,514
Impairment of an investment REEE QR 2 IRERE
in an associate 7 110,620 =
Reversal of write-off L th JrE UK R TE i 5E 1 E
of other receivables 7 — (2,439)
Share-based compensation PARE 1D 2454 2 Bl & 7 64,987 90,518
2,201,426 2,164,313
Increase in inventories FE L (637,321) (1,091,961)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills FE U 2 5 iR 3 K B W R iR
receivables B, (38 40) 280,557 (2,483,711)
Increase in prepayments, deposits TENFIE  Ze RHME
and other receivables W R IE 2 N (468,149) (1,695,832)
Increase/(decrease) in trade &1 & 5 Ik 5K )Si ER R &
and bills payables # Ol (1,412,142) 3,472,522
Increase in other payables and H b & < 518 }Sﬁﬁ REHA
accruals 3 624,912 404,451
Decrease/(increase) in derivative PTEEMIT AR
financial instruments (3% 0) 38,929 (72,237)
Effect of foreign exchange WEHEB) s 2 FE
rate changes, net 7,844 (12,734)
PINBHE IR AR AR | 2012/13 4 79



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &RE& R & REx

Year ended 31 March 2013 B2 —E—=F=A=+—HILtFE

2013 2012
—EF—-=F —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 EETR ok il
Cash generated from operations REFIZH® 636,056 684,811
Interest received B U F & 108,535 58,287
Hong Kong profits tax paid EBNEERNEH (3,950) —
Mainland China income tax paid BB AR B K BE B A5 R (271,579) (270,277)
Net cash flows from operating activities KEXEBIBIRESRE FH 469,062 472,821
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEEHNHEREE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEAY ¥ - FE M K&
equipment (548,994) (430,170)
Additions to prepaid land premiums ARERMNLHHES (317,173) (65,212)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME BEMRLEZ
property, plant and equipment FT 18 3R 727 3,902
Additions to other intangible assets NEEMEREE 19 (6,313) (3,004)
Acquisition of subsidiaries W 8 % KT 8 A R - (149,797)
Disposal of subsidiaries & % EKT B AT 37 197,185 —
Proceeds from disposal of investments HEZHEBE A ARKEZ
in associates FT 15 3838 11,896 —
Proceeds from partial disposal HE—HENBRARIHIEE
of an investment in a subsidiary 2 FiS k18 - 447,686
Dividends received from W ER — [ £ R4 il 1 5 2
a jointly-controlled entity % 2 - 5,670
Dividends received from associates U ER % [l Bt & A B 2 IR B 8,141 97
Dividends received from available-for-sale ~ YgERAJfE H & 2 3% & 2
investments % 8 - 37
Investments in jointly-controlled entities REREFIEEZKE (99,354) (9,162)
Investments in associates REtE N Na 2" E (9,029) (58,038)
Investments in available-for-sale AHEEZIREZRE
investments (310,458) (185,819)
Increase in other receivables H b fE Uk FRIE 0 (324,157) —
Net cash flows used in investing activities HEFBMARSREFH (1,397,529) (433,810)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #2&

Year ended 31 March 2018 BiE =T —=F=A=+—HIEFE

REemER

2013 2012
—EFE—-=F —E——4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 BETR BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REIHNHRESREE
ACTIVITIES
Exercise of share options 17 {5 B P 4 34 4,312 8,974
Contribution to an employee share trust EEREESHRK 35(b) - (335,873)
New bank loans FIERITE K 10,718,304 16,150,515
Repayment of bank loans ERETER (9,162,206) (14,079,330)
Interest paid B F A (293,205) (335,388)
Dividends paid ERRE (424,986) (344,120)
Dividends paid to non-controlling ENRETIEZERRE
shareholders - (95)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests L B JE P e - (3,303)
Capital contribution from non-controling ~ — & i /8B A & JE#2 AR AR 58 2
shareholders of a subsidiary EARMEE - 37,342
Net cash flows from financing activities BEFEMER S REFE 842,219 1,098,722
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH W& RIIR&EZEEMY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS wm, (GRL)BE (86,248) 1,137,733
Cash and cash equivalents FHzReRREEEY
at beginning of year 4,253,966 3,049,455
Effect of foreign exchange FE) s EFHE
rate changes, net 21,801 66,778
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERZESRREEEY
END OF YEAR 4,189,519 4,253,966
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HeRBEEEYZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B am
Cash and bank balances R & RIRIT 4% 29 3,530,666 3,785,901
Non-pledged time deposits 4K 18 F BiTF 3K 29 658,853 468,065
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RERE B S AR S 2k
the consolidated statement of financial HRERESREXRMEZ
position and the consolidated statement ReRkBSEEY
of the cash flows 4,189,519 4,253,966
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Statement of Financial Position

BT TEAR I 2R

31 March 2013 =Z—=F=A=+—H

2013 2012
—E—=%5 —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ofza BT BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B EREE 15 230 272
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR & & 20 902,576 842,082
Total non-current assets RIERBEE 902,806 842,354
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE - ZEek
receivables E A g U 5RIE 20,019 9,494
Due from subsidiaries JiE W B B A B FR IE 21 3,936,457 3,625,593
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMIBEEEY 29 1,912 1,974
Total current assets BRENEE 3,958,388 3,637,061
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals B RERERE R 15,945 13,525
Due to subsidiaries FE A B /8 A Rl 3k IE 21 894,949 992,502
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B ERITE R 32 738,751 —
Total current liabilities wREAE 1,649,645 1,006,027
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFHE 2,308,743 2,631,034
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERRHEE
LIABILITIES 3,211,549 3,473,388
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2013 2012
—E—-=%5 —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ogza BT BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERSHER
Interest-bearing bank borrowing M ERITE R 32 - 390,000
Net assets BEEFHE 3,211,549 3,083,388
EQUITY s
Issued capital BT A 34 109,346 109,273
Reserves (k=] 36(b) 2,687,611 2,549,129
Proposed final dividend R R HA I B 13 414,592 424,986
Total equity HEZS Mm% 3,211,549 3,083,388
N
GUO Wei 385 LIN Yang # 15
Chairman E /& Director & %
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.1

84

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The head office
and principal place of business of the Company is located
at Suite 2008, 20/F., Devon House, Taikoo Place, 979
King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the sale and
distribution of general information technology (“IT”) products
and systems products, and the provision of supply chain
services and IT services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and certain equity investments, which
have been measured at fair value as further explained in
note 2.4. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2013. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and
dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

2.1
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is
attributed to the non-controlling interest even if it results in
a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities
of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as

appropriate.
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time
Amendments Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards — Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters
HKFRS 7 Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Amendments instruments: Disclosures — Transfers
of Financial Assets
HKAS 12 Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes
Amendments — Deferred Tax: Recovery of

Underlying Assets

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact
of amendments to HKFRS 7 and HKAS 12, the adoption of
the revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect
on these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES

86

IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures
about financial assets that have been transferred but not
derecognised to enable users of the Group’s financial
statements to understand the relationship of those assets
that have not been derecognised with their associated
liabilities. In addition, the amendments require disclosures
about the entity’s continuing involvement in derecognised
assets to enable users to evaluate the nature of, and risks
associated with, such involvement. Apart from the
additional disclosures for transactions involving the transfer
of financial assets in order to provide greater transparency
of risk exposures when financial assets are transferred and
derecognised, the adoption of the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group. Details of the entity’s continuing involvement in
derecognised assets are included in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes —
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

The HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of
deferred tax for investment property measured at fair value
and introduce a rebuttable presumption that deferred tax on
investment property measured at fair value should be
determined on the basis that its carrying amount will be
recovered through sale. Furthermore, the amendments
incorporate the requirement previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21
Income Taxes — Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable
Assets that deferred tax on non-depreciable assets,
measured using the revaluation model in HKAS 16, should
always be measured on a sale basis. The presumption that
deferred tax on investment property measured at fair value
should be determined on the basis that its carrying amount
will be recovered through sale has been rebutted by the
Group as the Group’s investment properties are held within
a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Accordingly deferred tax has been determined on the basis
of recovery through use. The adoption of the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

2.2
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 7
Amendments

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12
Amendments

HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011)
Amendments

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1
Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)
— Int 20

Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
— Government Loans?

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Financial Instruments*

Consolidated Financial Statements?

Joint Arrangements®
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities®

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 — Transition Guidance®

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS
27 (2011) — Investment Entities®

Fair Value Measurement?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income'

Employee Benefits?
Separate Financial Statements?
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures®

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine?

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in
June 20122
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

88

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2015

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require an entity to disclose
information about rights to set-off and related arrangements
(e.g., collateral agreements). The disclosures would provide
users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect
of netting arrangements on an entity’s financial position.
The new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation. The disclosures also
apply to recognised financial instruments that are subject to
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar
agreement, irrespective of whether they are set off in
accordance with HKAS 32. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of
phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely replace
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification and
measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying
financial assets into four categories, an entity shall classify
financial assets as subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify the
approach for the classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS
39.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS
9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and
incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the
Additions were carried forward unchanged from HKAS 39,
while changes were made to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option (“FVO”). For these FVO liabilities,
the amount of change in the fair value of a liability that is
attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in
other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder of the
change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless
presentation of the fair value change in respect of the
liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts which have
been designated under the FVO are scoped out of the
Additions.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance in
HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of financial
assets continues to apply. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2015. The Group will quantify the
effect in conjunction with other phases, when the final
standard including all phases is issued.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies
to all entities including special purpose entities or
structured entities. It includes a new definition of control
which is used to determine which entities are consolidated.
The changes introduced by HKFRS 10 require management
of the Group to exercise significant judgement to determine
which entities are controlled, compared with the
requirements in HKAS 27 and HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation
— Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the portion
of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. It also addresses the issues raised in
HK(SIC)-Int 12. Based on the preliminary analyses
performed, HKFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact
on the currently held investments of the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers. It describes the
accounting for joint arrangements with joint control. It
addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e., joint
operations and joint ventures, and removes the option to
account for joint ventures using proportionate
consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured
entities previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Staterments, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint
Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates. It also
introduces a number of new disclosure requirements for
these entities.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

In July 2012, the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS
10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 which clarify the transition
guidance in HKFRS 10 and provide further relief from full
retrospective application of these standards, limiting the
requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to
only the preceding comparative period. The amendments
clarify that retrospective adjustments are only required if the
consolidation conclusion as to which entities are controlled
by the Group is different between HKFRS 10 and HKAS 27
or HK(SIC)-Int 12 at the beginning of the annual period in
which HKFRS 10 is applied for the first time. Furthermore,
for disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities,
the amendments will remove the requirement to present
comparative information for periods before HKFRS 12 is first
applied.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 issued in December 2012
include a definition of an investment entity and provide an
exception to the consolidation requirement for entities that
meet the definition of an investment entity. Investment
entities are required to account for subsidiaries at fair value
through profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9 rather
than consolidate them. Consequential amendments were
made to HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011). The amendments
to HKFRS 12 also set out the disclosure requirements for
investment entities. The Group expects that these
amendments will not have any impact on the Group as the
Company is not an investment entity as defined in HKFRS
10.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and
HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11 and HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (2011), HKAS 28 (2011),
and the subsequent amendments to those standards
issued in July and December 2012 from 1 April 2013.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a
single source of fair value measurement and disclosure
requirements for use across HKFRSs. The standard does
not change the circumstances in which the Group is
required to use fair value, but provides guidance on how
fair value should be applied where its use is already
required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April
2018.

The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items
presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or
recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for
example, net gain on hedge of a net investment, exchange
differences on translation of foreign operations, net
movement on cash flow hedges and net loss or gain on
available-for-sale financial assets) would be presented
separately from items which will never be reclassified (for
example, actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit
plans and revaluation of the land and buildings). The
amendments will affect presentation only and have no
impact on the financial position or performance. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that
range from fundamental changes to simple clarifications
and re-wording. The revised standard introduces significant
changes in the accounting for defined benefit pension plans
including removing the choice to defer the recognition of
actuarial gains and losses. Other charges include
modifications to the timing of recognition for termination
benefits, the classification of short-term employee benefits
and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Group
expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 April 2013.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

The HKAS 32 Amendments clarify the meaning of “currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off” for offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments
also clarify the application of the offsetting criteria in HKAS
32 to settlement systems (such as central clearing house
systems) which apply gross settlement mechanisms that are
not simultaneous. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group upon adoption on 1 April 2014.

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle
issued in June 2012 sets out amendments to a number of
HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
from 1 April 2013. There are separate transitional provisions
for each standard. While the adoption of some of the
amendments may result in changes in accounting policies,
none of these amendments are expected to have a
significant financial impact on the Group. Those
amendments that are expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s policies are as follows:

(@) HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Clarifies
the difference between voluntary additional
comparative information and the minimum required
comparative information. Generally, the minimum
required comparative period is the pervious period. An
entity must include comparative information in the
related notes to the financial statements when it
voluntarily provides comparative information beyond
the previous period. The additional comparative
information does not need to contain a complete set
of financial statements.

In addition, the amendment clarifies that the opening
statement of financial position as at the beginning of
the preceding period must be presented when an
entity changes its accounting policies; makes
retrospective restatements or makes reclassifications,
and that change has a material effect on the
statement of financial position. However, the related
notes to the opening statement of financial position as
at the beginning of the preceding period are not
required to be presented.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(o) HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation: Clarifies
that income taxes arising from distributions to equity
holders are accounted for in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes. The amendment removes existing
income tax requirements from HKAS 32 and requires
entities to apply the requirements in HKAS 12 to any
income tax arising from distributions to equity
holders.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

94

POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual
arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates
as a separate entity in which the Group and the other
parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers
stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture
parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on
which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.
The profits or losses from the joint venture’s operations and
any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital
contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Joint ventures (Continued)

A joint venture is treated as:

(@) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly
or indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or
joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally
not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered
capital and is in a position to exercise significant
influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly,
less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital
and has neither joint control of, nor is in a position to
exercise significant influence over, the joint venture.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to
joint control, resulting in none of the participating parties
having unilateral control over the economic activity of the
jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s investments in jointly-controlled entities are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

96

POLICIES (Continued)
Jointly-controlled entities (Continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
reserves of jointly-controlled entities is included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves,
respectively. Where the profit sharing ratio is different to the
Group’s equity interest, the share of post-acquisition results
of the jointly-controlled entities is determined based on the
agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its
jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the jointly-controlled entities, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a
jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
reserves of associates is included in the consolidated
income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates and is not individually tested for
impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair value of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at the fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual items, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
that is a financial instrument and within the scope of HKAS
39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is
not within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

98

POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative values of
the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the
period in which it arises in those expenses categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
the income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

100

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@  the party is a person or close member of that person’s
family and that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the assets as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that
the fair value of a revalued assets does not differ materially
from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of
property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements
in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis,
the excess of the deficit is charged to the income
statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to
the income statement to the extent of the deficit previously
charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference
between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying
amount of an asset and the depreciation based on the
asset’s original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained
profits as a movement in reserves.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

102

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the lease terms 2% to 5%,
whichever is shorter
Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms or 20% to
33%, whichever is shorter
10% to 33%

Land and buildings

Fixtures and office
equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or
for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement
in the year in which they arise.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-
occupied properties, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and
the fair value of the property is accounted for as a
revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of five years.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESAHEHME(E)

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the income statement as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over commercial lives of the underlying products not
exceeding five years, commencing from the date when the
products are put into commercial production.

Systems software

Purchased systems software is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of ten years.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to the income statement
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially
stated at the cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments,
or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as other expenses in the income statement.
These net fair value changes do not include any dividends
or interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade
these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable future
significantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify
them. The reclassification from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss to loans and receivables or available-
for-sale financial assets depends on the nature of the
assets. This evaluation does not affect any financial assets
designated as at fair value through profit or loss using the
fair value option at designation, as these instruments
cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and
includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains in the
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in other expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments
and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither classified as
held for trading nor designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time and which may be sold in response to needs for
liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement in other income, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or
loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve to the income statement in other
expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as
interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the income statement as other income in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used
in estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management’s intent to do so significantly
changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect to
reclassify these financial assets. Reclassification to loans
and receivables is permitted when the financial assets meet
the definition of loans and receivables and the Group has
the intent and ability to hold these assets for the
foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the
held-to-maturity category is permitted only when the Group
has the ability and intent to hold until the maturity date of
the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset
is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income
statement.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the assets.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financing difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the assets in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The
present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect
of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is
later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses
in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not
carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and
must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity
instrument, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the
income statement, is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in the income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for
sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its
cost. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the
period in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative
loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that investment previously recognised in the income
statement — is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through the income statement. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
The Group determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because that
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (i)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in
active markets is determined by reference to quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long
positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value is
determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the current market value of
another instrument which is substantially the same; a
discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign currency
risk. Such derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is
negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the income
statement.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

24 T2 HERMB(E)

Fris#

FIERERANEHENRELERE - FRNE
mIAINER 2 THB Z FAE RN B s A SRR -
BIRNEMEER S EEZN B PR -

AHELRAHZRBHBAEERABARE RS
MBEHBEERR AN EHEHRE LS BAE
AERBEREHRARCHITHEE L HTT
ZHRE(ERBEDN)  WEEBRANEELEE
BHREBZKBTTZRBERIED -

BRERALEREEE AR BESHERKR
REEMNBEZHARERMBERANZ
REEMZMAEERHEERFEHEE -

EXERIBREIUMARRRE R IEE 2
B ETERS

e EEEHBABRUSERBEN A
Rp(AFEBAMZEERRBEME
£ BERRZETHIENEE SR
KRR A B &

c BRHBAR BEANRAEAF
BEZERHMEBEERMS  HHM
28y HERMT TR B
245 TR BT R YR o

Digital China Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2012/13



Notes to Financial Statements Br 1§ & iz

31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the income statement over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) from contract revenue, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Contract accounting” below;

(c) from the rendering of services, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Contracts for services” below;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset; and

(f)  dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Contract accounting

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and
incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise
equipment and material costs, the costs of subcontracting,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and
fixed construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the proportion of work completed to date to the
estimated total work of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they
are anticipated by management. Where contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated as an
amount due from contract customers. Where progress
billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Contracts for services

Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises
the agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services
comprise labour and other costs of personnel directly
engaged in providing the services and attributable
overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised
based on the percentage of completion of the transaction,
provided that the revenue, the costs incurred and the
estimated costs to completion can be measured reliably.
The percentage of completion is established by reference to
the costs incurred to date as compared to the total costs
to be incurred under the transaction. Where the outcome of
a contract cannot be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred
are eligible to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (Continued)
Contracts for services (Continued)

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they
are anticipated by management. Where contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is treated as an
amount due from contract customers. Where progress
billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is
treated as an amount due to contract customers.

Employee benefits

Share option schemes

The Company operates two share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 35(a) to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to the income statement for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that
all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-
based payment, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee
as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Restricted share award scheme

The Company operates restricted share award scheme (the
“RSA Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. An employee share trust
is established and administered by an independent trustee
and is funded by the Group’s cash contributions. The
considerations paid (including any related transaction costs)
by the Company to purchase share of the Company for the
RSA Scheme are deducted from equity as an employee
share trust. The administrator of the employee share trust
purchases the Company’s shares in the open market as
award shares to employees upon vesting.

The fair value of the award shares granted under the RSA
Scheme is recognised as an employee benefit expense
over the vesting period, further details of which are given in
note 35(b) to the financial statements.

Upon vesting of the award shares, the corresponding
amount in the employee share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to the employee share trust.

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate has been applied to the expenditure on the individual
assets.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as
a separate allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a
liability.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised to the income
statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary item measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on
retranslation of a non-monetary item measured at the fair
value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
differences on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
jointly-controlled entities and associates are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their income statements are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income
statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determined whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore,
the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the
Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion
that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a
finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue
withholding taxes arising form the distributions of dividends
by certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules
enacted in the jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the
plan of the distributions of dividends.

1M RS IEAE B BR A A | 2012/13 F 3R

il

BERes A ks (&)

¥ i (48)
REVEHEEBAMEZE S

AEBEE-BAVNFERENAREMEZIK
- XRERBEHE B RSP HEBRIFE -
REMEDEFABARDRESHEARNEERX
RALAMEZYE - At AEEEEZEY
XEDBUNAKEREZEMMEMNH K
REnRA- BONEBRFEURDESHE
ARIRME 2 B0 B 45 1 A S B W) 3l BR 7%
HITBAEZ 8B - MZ RO A B HE
FARMBEEEBI LA  AEESEZEHD
BN - WMZEBNEEBILE  BIZ
MERERFFELEEIHRBBEYM X IRBHITER
REZBOMTIREZBRT  HEIHERE
ME - FHABREENEESEYE - N
EETRERBREERENTEREFTERE
Y PA LS S

SRBRBMEEZENR

AREERRERBKBRDEBREHE2H
ARG RRAGES THERR DR E TE
EZENBE  BHYIRRKREZFEELH
Iﬁ:fﬁo

129



Notes to Financial Statement

S ISR

31 March 2013 —Z—=F=A=+—H

130

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment for trade receivables

The policy for impairment assessment for trade receivables
of the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability
and ageing analysis of trade receivables and on the
judgement of management. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each customer. If the
financial conditions of customers of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, additional impairment may be required. Net
impairment of trade receivables of HK$116,948,000 (2012:
HK$19,514,000) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year. The carrying amount of trade and
bills receivables as at 31 March 2013 was
HK$10,324,760,000 (2012: HK$10,787,427,000).

Provision for obsolete inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of
the Group and makes provision for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable
for sales. Management estimates the net realisable value for
such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices
and current market conditions. A considerate amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation
of these inventories. If the market conditions were to
change, resulting in a change of provision for obsolete
items, the difference will be recorded in the period it is
identified. Net reversal of provision of inventories of
HK$2,597,000 (2012: net provision of inventories of
HK$82,769,000) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year. The carrying amount of inventories
as at 31 March 2013 was HK$5,793,742,000 (2012:
HK$5,154,490,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements,
investment properties are revalued at the end of the
reporting period on an open market, existing use basis by
independent professional valuers. These valuations were
based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual
results. In making the judgement, information from current
prices in an active market for similar properties is
considered and assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of the reporting
period are used. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 March 2013 was HK$335,197,000 (2012:
HK$305,005,000).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based on
available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
March 2013 was HK$239,012,000 (2012: HK$236,377,000).
Further details are given in note 18 to the financial
statements.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax
liability is settled. Certain entities of the Group were
recognised as “High New Technology Enterprises” in
Mainland China and entitled to a preferential corporate
income tax rate at 15% for a three-year period. The tax
regulations call for a renewal process after the expiry. For
the measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
judgement is required to determine whether these entities
will continue to meet the criteria of “High New Technology
Enterprise” and estimate the tax rates expected to be
applied. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised
based upon the likely timing and amounts of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying amount of net deferred tax assets at 31 March
2013 was HK$78,567,000 (2012: HK$32,135,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses and certain deductible
temporary differences at 31 March 2013 was
HK$22,692,000 (2012: HK$32,090,000). Further details are
given in note 25 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various regions. As
a result of the fact that certain matters relating to the
income taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax
bureau, objective estimates and judgements based on
currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related
policies are required in determining the provision of
corporate income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts originally
recorded, the differences will impact the corporate income
tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Where the fair value of derivative financial instruments
recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using
valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are taken
from observable markets where possible, but where this is
not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in
establishing fair values. The judgements include
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk
and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair value of derivative financial
instruments.

Percentage of completion of contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage
of completion of individual contracts. The stage of
completion is estimated by reference to the proportion of
work completed to date to the estimated total work of the
relevant contract, and the corresponding contract revenue
is also estimated by management. Due to the nature of the
activity undertaken in these contracts, the date at which the
activity is entered into and the date at which the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting periods.
Hence, the Group reviews and revises the estimates of both
contract revenue and contract costs for each contract as
the contract progresses. Where the actual contract revenue
is less than estimated or the actual contract costs are more
than estimated, a foreseeable loss may arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and
recognises movements of its fair value in equity. When the
fair value declines, management makes assumptions about
the decline in value to determine whether there is an
impairment that should be recognised in the income
statement. The Group also recognises unlisted equity
investments as available-for-sale and states them at cost
less impairment. Losses arising from the impairment of
such investments should be recognised in the income
statement. The carrying amount of available-for-sale
financial assets at 31 March 2013 was HK$473,952,000
(2012: HK$214,321,000). Further details are contained in
note 24 to the financial statements.

mEt

B Xgst A M fh s (&)
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ZEEBERNERER AIREE SR E
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WMEMW 24 ©
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating
businesses are structured and managed separately
according to the nature of their operations, target customer
segments and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group’s reportable operating segments
represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of the other reportable segments.
Particulars of the Group’s four reportable operating
segments are summarised as follows:

(@  the“Distribution” segment, with a primary focus on the
SMB & Consumer markets, focuses on meeting the
demand for IT products from SMB and consumer
markets, and also explores new opportunities in
mobile internet devices and their applications with the
implementation of the Sm@rt City strategy. It engages
in the sale and distribution of general IT products
which consist of notebook computers, desktop
computers, peripherals, accessories and consumer IT
products;

(b) the “Systems” segment, with a primary focus on the
Enterprise market, focuses on meeting the IT demand
from the urban information infrastructure construction,
as well as the enterprise market and also makes
direct sales to regional customers to enhance direct
control over the demand of the enterprise market. It
engages in the sale and distribution of systems
products which consist of servers, networking
products, storage products and packaged software;

(c) the “Supply Chain Services” segment, with a primary
focus on the Hi-tech Industries, Branded e-Commerce
Platform Operators and Branded Service Providers, is
targeted at manufacturers of IT and other high-value
density products manufacturers and industry
customers, branded e-commerce platform operators
and branded service providers, providing one-stop
consultancy and execution services in logistics,
business flow, capital flow and information flow; and
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, EEHEER(E)
(Continued)
(d) the “Services” segment, with a primary focus on the @ [REIS>BIE@MEITERPL @ B4

MERBEER R EANREZH TR -
BERBEKBEERTE B ERRE
REZWMER  URERAREITER

provision of urban information infrastructure and
Sme@rt City services to the Industry market, focuses
on the provision of urban information infrastructure
and Sme@rt City services targeted at large-scale P RETHRBMTRAZER  17EE
industry customers, offering products and services in RAEGRBARTRETEER TR
IT planning and IT systems consultation, design and BHEING RRERMEREERTR
implementation of industry application software and TEHET o

solutions, outsourcing of IT system operation and

maintenance, as well as system integration and

maintenance.

The Group made certain adjustments to its business REBRATFRBE FEBH o EETHE - £
classification at the start of this financial year, the main ZRAMT:
details of which are as follows:

(1) A sub-segment of the “Supply Chain Services Segment” ) [EERE D HBIPH— MO EBEE

will be devoted to the provision of professional supply
chain management services including one-stop
logistics and maintenance services to hi-tech
corporate customers and industry customers; another
sub-segment will provide purchasing services to chain
electronic stores (CES) for terminal products such as
PC, notebooks, smart devices, digital products, where
CES is deemed to be a retail format and an effective
complement to the Distribution Segment which aims
at a comprehensive coverage of all business formats.
Therefore, this sub-segment has been reallocated to
the Distribution Segment. In order to provide a more
appropriate presentation for the Group’s operating
segment information, the Group reallocated this sub-
segment from the “Supply Chain Services Segment”
to the “Distribution Segment” at the start of this
financial year and the relevant results for the
corresponding period of last financial year have been
restated accordingly; and

MEIRBEMEEERPRITRERP
REHE—UEANYR. #EFHERER
R m— MO R/KREETEH(CES)R
HEAER. FLA E2LKRE. 85
ERmEMKBRBOER - CESEBR
TEXRN—E ZEXBRYUDED
MEXEBENARET  BELER
BREZEDHEDE - ATHAKENL
EnHEMRER-—EEGENZ®R
AEEREAMFRBREMY KA
RGO EMIAZ(DED B XKL
MERBBRNODBRETAEN &
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(2) A sub-segment of the “Distribution Segment” will
continue to focus on full channel coverage for all retail
formats for IT products and devices, developing and
supplying IT products of broader variety and higher
value to consumers and SMB customers. Another
sub-segment in the original Distribution Segment,
covering products such as PC and servers, will
become an important part of IT infrastructure building
in line with the development of cloud computing,
which will be more compatible with the business
positioning of the Systems Segment, which aims to
become a supplier of IT infrastructure products.
Therefore, this sub-segment has been reallocated to
the Systems Segment. In order to provide a more
appropriate presentation for the Group’s operating
segment information, the Group reallocated this sub-
segment from the “Distribution Segment” to the
“Systems Segment” at the start of this financial year
and the relevant results for the corresponding period
of last financial year have been restated accordingly.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on the reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before
tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest
income, finance costs, unallocated corporate income and
gains, unallocated corporate expenses and share of profits
and losses of jointly-controlled entities and associates are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments,
deferred tax assets, derivative financial instruments, cash
and cash equivalents and other unallocated corporate
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, bond payable and
other unallocated corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.
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Bt

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, KLEHEERE(E)
(Continued)

il

The following tables present revenue, profit and certain TREVNAEEHE-_ZT—=GER_T——F
asset, liability and expenditure information for the Group’s “AZT—HILEFELEB2WA - BF R
operating segments for the years ended 31 March 2013 ETEE BEREREM-
and 2012.

Distribution Systems Supply Chain Services Services Consolidated

S R4 SR R g
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
—¥-= T Z¥-Zf "B CZ¥-= T CZ¥-Zf T C"%¥-Zf C-T-CF

HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETR  BETT BETR BRI EETR  BBTT  BETR BRI BETR BRI

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E71) (Z31) (E71)
Segment revenue: SEUAN:

Sales to external customers HETHINER 37,656,787 38,032,412 25,618,478 23,248,113 1,211,041 1,147,210 9,012,607 7,891,632 73,498,913 70,319,367
Segment gross profit SBEH 1,239,269 1,717,451 2,444,860 2,078,446 245,540 217,246 1,440,898 1,292,748 5,370,567 5,305,891
Segment results HER 413,916 639,127 1,198,531 1,066,569 47,637 25,376 468,073 260,205 2,128,157 1,991,277
Interest income, unallocated FIBMA - RABERA

income and gains R 354,582 355,220
Unallocated expenses APERAX (368,731) (401,358)
Finance costs BAKA (293,205)  (335,388)
Share of profits and EETHRRZEF

losses of: LR

Jointly-controlled entities SR A% - = - = - = 6,997 (3,590) 6,997 (3,590)

Associates kYN - - - - - - 23,474 47,005 23,474 47,005
Profit before tax 0l 1,851,274 1,653,166
Income tax expense MEHER (332,122 (314,478)
Profit for the year AEERF 1,519,152 1,338,688
Assets and liabilities AERER
Segment assets AHEE 5,958,383 6,023,102 8,357,682 7,416,513 293,529 251,680 4,844,748 5,627,259 19,454,342 19,218,554
Investments in jointly-controlled RERBHOCEZ

entities k& - = - = - = 126,601 33,224 126,601 33,224
Investments in associates REEREZRE - - - - - = 681,976 780,739 681,976 780,739
Unallocated assets APBEE 8,144,951 6,789,266
Total assets BEE 28,407,870 26,821,783
Segment liabilities KHEE 4,648,083 4,998,309 5,276,006 5,665,441 303,518 305,386 3,700,738 4,711,182 13,928,345 15,670,318
Unallocated liabilities APBEEE 5,808,391 3,628,038
Total liabilities aafE 19,736,736 19,298,356
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Q@ A A\ 32T R
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEDEEFR(E)
(Continued)
Distribution Systems Supply Chain Services Services Consolidated
bk EY e 48 R 75 % &8
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
“§-=f -T--% Z%-Zf -—Z--f -B-=f ~T--% Z¥-Zf ~—ZT--—F -“B-Zf —T %
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT BTt  BETR  A¥Tr  BETr BBTrT  RE%TR  B%Tr  #ETR  BETx
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(&51) (Z51) (Z51)
Other segment information: HthpBEH :
Depreciation of property, Mm% BERR
plant and equipment ZHE 4,563 4,461 17,871 17,615 15,313 9,192 66,912 69,159 104,659 100,427
Unallocated amounts AR R 55,090 37,860
159,749 138,287
Amortisation of other intangible HinEvaESS
assets - - - - - - 916 2,011 916 2,011
Amortisation of prepaid land Bt S8
premiums — Unallocated - X528 4,128 621
Capital expenditure BRREX 6,854 4,140 63,508 30,143 22,135 36,402 112,439 59,766 204,936 130,451
Unallocated amounts AR 752,279 603,339
957,215 733,790
Impairment/(reversal of EKE SRR
impairment) of trade HE/(AE
receivables BE) 33,576 47,082 (109,580) (18,555) 1,348 489 191,604 (9,502) 116,948 19,514
Provisions/(reversal of REGERE/
provisions) for and write-off (BERR)R
of obsolete inventories g (100,558) 88,926 92,624 (11,812) 1,141 (875) 4,196 6,530 (2,597) 82,769
Impairment of an investment REERRIZRE
in an associate HE - - - - - = 110,620 - 110,620 -
Geographical information i [E &

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is generated in the Mainland China and over
90% of the non-current assets of the Group (except for
investments in associates) are located in Mainland China,
no geographic information is presented.

Information about major customers

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012, there
was no revenue derived from transactions with a single
external customer which individually amounted to 10% of
the Group’s revenue.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA EMhig A R aw
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the WATRAEREE 2 E%8E  EHEERZIBER
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns BEHBRREEESTM AT FRMERSE 2

and trade discounts and the value of services rendered to
customers, net of business tax and government
surcharges.

BEMBREXRHEBF#EE) -

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: H g ARz 2o T:

140

Group
AE
2013 2012
—g—-=f —E—C—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b aF BET T &M T T
Other income Hfth dr A
Government grants’ BRI 8 B T 121,234 96,451
Interest income B U A 95,561 58,287
Imputed interest income on HMERHRIBEE 2
other receivables & & F B A - 31,680
Gross rental income A WA 29,569 32,558
Dividend income from AHEEZIREZ
available-for-sale investments f& B A - 37
Others EHAh 52,150 33,240
298,514 252,253
Gains W ==
Fair value gains on investment BEYE 2 A EERE
properties 16 15,954 30,391
Gain on derivative financial instruments ~ $74 & &t T A Wk 25 31 113,981 181,922
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZHENBAR ZWzE 37 251,012 —
Gain on disposal of associates HE Z M E AR 2 W 573 —
Foreign exchange differences, net SN T = FE 134,691 285,563
Others HAh 7,882 5,041
524,093 502,917
822,607 755,170
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

(Continued)

t Various government grants have been received for the sale
of self-developed software products approved by the tax
authority in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the
development of software products in Mainland China, and
the investments in specific provinces in Mainland China.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating

to these grants.

WA~ B A R a8

=
(%)

AEBEERHEEFEARKMBETHED B

BEMRAZATRERSE  RPBEAERH
BEMRNPREAESEANETREME
BETHRAME - SR ERERZIK

ek REH -

6. TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 6. HEBEHER
An analysis of total operating expenses by nature is as REMEEENZEERRBBEOMBOT:
follows:
Group
£ ¥ S
2013 2012
—F—-=f T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Selling expenses $HE & A 335,559 382,498
Promotion and advertising expenses HEERSEEA 307,184 253,922
Staff costs included in operating TN EEERZ
expenses (including directors’ BITHA(BIE
remuneration (note 9)) EEMWE (H29) 2,017,419 2,124,642
Others HAh 1,419,004 1,354,860
4,079,166 4,115,922
14
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRTADR A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBZBRBANRFBE LB (GHA) :
(crediting):
2013 2012
—EF—-=% —ET——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B i BEETT BT
Cost of inventories sold and services EHTERRERBEZ
provided X AR 66,200,901 63,520,011
Auditors’ remuneration % 8RN Bl & 5,200 5,150
Depreciation e 15 159,749 138,287
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums  F&{< £ b FH & 8% £ 17 4,128 621
Research and development costs* fift 7% % A 3 Bl A+ 255,384 293,137
Amortisation of other intangible assets*  Hfih 4% /2 & &= 4 65+ 19 916 2,011
Minimum lease payments under T REFZ
operating leases in respect of land =IELE
and buildings HEHS 150,039 144,931
Provisions/(reversal of provisions) for and FREFE & #E, ~
write-off of obsolete inventories* (BB ) K o (2,597) 82,769
Impairment of trade receivables* JE W B 5 R SR (B 28 116,948 19,514
Impairment of an investment in an REEERE 2
associate* L& RE" 110,620 —
Reversal of write-off of other FL A 18 MR TR Bl SH
receivables* o]~ - (2,439)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME BEREZE
property, plant and equipment 2B () (4,233) 8,288
Employee benefit expense (including EERMAX(BREES
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): B <& (ff 229)) -
Wages and salaries TERF® 1,898,218 2,061,086
Share-based compensation LARE D S 15 2 B & 64,987 90,518
Pension scheme contributions** ROKNE 5T B 4 F0 180,845 165,170
Other benefits H fth 48 F 369,146 361,554
2,513,196 2,678,328
Direct operating expenses (including ARDESHIEEED
repairs and maintenance) arising on ERLEER(BELE
rental-earning investment properties MRE) 4,855 9,628
Rental income on investment TEMEZH AR
properties less direct operating BEEEEEREK
expenses of HK$4,855,000 4,855,000 (= &F——
(2012: HK$9,628,000) F @ 75 #9,628,0007T) (24,714) (22,930)
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

*

*k

The amortisation of other intangible assets, the provisions/
(reversal of provisions) for and write-off of obsolete
inventories, the impairment of trade receivables, the
impairment of an investment in an associate, the reversal of
write-off of other receivables and research and development
costs are included in “Other expenses, net” in the
consolidated income statement.

At 31 March 2013, the Group had no material forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
pension schemes in future years (2012: Nil).

8. FINANCE COSTS

7. BRBAE A (E)

HMMIPAESRE RETERE (BHA
B - BUKEZIRFORE  REEERE
ZAERFE  E A R YRR M B KA 5T
RFRERABFAGRRERFZEMER
FEEIA -

o RZE-=F=A=+—0 AEETESETAKA
AR ARRFEE 2 RN EIHA W8
WHA(ZZ—=F  #],) -

8. RLE A

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: FEERK AR 2 DT

Group

AEEH
2013 2012
—F—=% —F——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRT BT
Interest on bank borrowings RITERH A 166,479 197,834
Interest on a bond payable R E ST B 1,932 1,883
Interest on discounted bills EAREERNE 124,794 135,671
293,205 335,388
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEM=E
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to REEABEAERIFMERAFESFLEMHEA
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock (B RZ AT D LR A D RE AR FEH F161
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) BHERERNEAFEACEEHSMOT :

(the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Group
&
2013 2012
—E—=f —ET—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETFIT T T
Fees e 1,500 1,277
Other emoluments: H A B <
Salaries, allowances and E AN =4: T
benefits in kind B Y& A 7,947 7,856
Performance related bonuses KM@ 2 EA 3,346 3,590
Share-based compensation (note) VARG (0 2 1+ 2 Bl & (B 77) 7,712 10,220
Pension scheme contributions BRIKEFT B3R 82 74
19,087 21,740
20,587 23,017
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9. DIRECTORS REMUNERATION (Continued) 9. EFEME (&)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (@) BIAFERITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RAFERNESIN TBILIERNTEEZ
during the year were as follows: w|EWMT:
2013 2012
—E¥—-=% —ET——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT T
Mr. HU Zhaoguang LA 300 263
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis B REE 300 263
Ms. NI Hong (Hope) {52 4T /)N 28 300 263
Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter ERBELE 300 263
1,200 1,052
There were no other emoluments payable to the RAFEATEINTEIIERNTES
independent non-executive directors during the year EREMME(ZT——F &)
(2012: Nil).
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive (b) BRITESERFHITES
director
Salaries, allowances Performance Share-based Pension scheme Total
Fees and benefits in kind related bonuses compensation contributions remuneration
Fe 2W E 3] VAR 83 32 £ Bhe
e REYEHN ez 4 ZHh2 ATEIER Mews
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT EETT BETT EETT BETT BETR
(Note)
2013 —¥-=%
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. GUO Wei BREE - 5,276 2,437 5,138 # 12,892
Mr. LIN Yang* Wi - 2,671 909 2,574 M 6,195
- 7,047 3,346 7,712 82 19,087
Non-executive director: FHiTES:
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN Mt ks 300 - - - - 300
300 7,947 3,346 7,112 82 19,387
* Mr. LIN Yang is also the chief executive of the * MG EENMRBRARNITHEH
Company.
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and
director (Continued)

146

a non-executive

9. EXH

N

% (&)

(b) MITESRIMNTES(H)

Salaries, allowances Performance Share-based  Pension scheme Total
Fees and benefits in kind  related bonuses compensation contributions remuneration
e 2R x5 PARR A7 S RikE
ik REMER 2L ZHE FTEIER BMewsm
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BETT
(Note)
i)
2012 —E-CF
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. GUO Wei BREE - 5,230 2,383 6,800 37 14,450
Mr. LIN Yang* WG e = 2,626 1,207 3,420 37 7,290
- 7,856 3,590 10,220 74 21,740
Non-executive director: FHITES:
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN BT E 225 = = = = 225
225 7,856 3,590 10,220 74 21,965

* Mr. LIN Yang

Company.

is also the chief executive of the

There was no arrangement under which a director or
a chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

Note: In prior years, certain directors were granted share
options and restricted share units (“RSUs”), in respect
of their services to the Group, under the share option
scheme and the RSA scheme of the Company,
respectively, further details of which are set out in
note 35 to the financial statements. The fair values of
such options and RSUs, which have been recognised
in the income statement over the vesting period, were
determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above directors’ remuneration

disclosures.

B EETRRARRB M ITHARH -

RAFER  BEFLTHRERL BT
MESXRERBEAME 2 ZHE -

Hret: RBEFER ETEZFARERE

SERHERB T BBREARRBR
BB R ZREIRO R EERE
PR ZRE RO (ZRGBRK)D A
ME—SHBAR LT B REM
35 ZEMBBERZREIBDZAF
BEDRELHAMER  TERER
HAERSERAER  MAARNEE
BHBRZEBFOHALRERTIE
Bt -
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2012: two) directors and chief executive, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of
the remuneration of the remaining three (2012: three)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company for the year are as follows:

10.

(=]

B A7 & = Fr B

RAFEAZEUGFMEEREMA(Z
T_F MBEFITHAH  FEZHE
HBENEXMEIR - AFEEHT=2(=F
—CHF ZR)BRTMEEB(UEARFNE
FRTHAHF)ZMEFBHAMT :

Group

P
2013 2012
—g—-=f T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETR ok
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ % - 28 & B W& 1l 3,399 3,128
Performance related bonuses FIBEBEEA 1,462 1,299
Share-based compensation (note) AR 3 A 2 B & (7 aE) 10,741 13,680
Pension scheme contributions RIKE 5T S 5K 124 104
15,726 18,211

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

REFMIFEERFTRARREE Z AR

BesEnT:

Number of employees

BE A
2013 2012
—E—-=4% ===
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 75 #4,000,0017T £ /8 #4,500,0007C 1 —
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 75 #4,500,0017T £ /7 #5,000,0007C - =
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 75 #5,000,0017T 2 /& #5,500,0007C 1 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 75 15,500,001 7T & /& #6,000,0007T - 1
HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 75 6,000,0017T £ 7 #6,500,0007T 1 —
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 78 #6,500,0017T £ 7 #7,000,0007T - =
HK$7,000,001 to HK$7,500,000 75 17,000,001 T £ /& #7,500,0007T - 1
3 3
1M RS IEAE B BR A A | 2012/13 F 3R 147
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31 March 2013 —Z—=F=A=+—H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Note: In prior years, certain non-director and non-chief executive

1.

148

highest paid employees were granted share options and
RSUs, in respect of their services to the Group, under the
share option scheme and the RSA scheme of the Company,
respectively, further details of which are set out in note 35
to the financial statements. The fair values of such options
and RSUs, which have been recognised in the income
statement over the vesting period, were determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above

10. Afumzm % EE(E)

Hyat

RBEFEN  ETRSHMIFESRIET
BAHEEBRBRESA KRB RMERSE D
R AR # AN X B B e mE AT &) R R IR AR £ 8
BEERERELIRBIBRG  GRE
—HHBHN LMWK EIS - ZFB
Mt R ZREIRG 2 X FEETIRRL A
ER TERBBHALERSRAER - M
AARFEEMBRET 2B HA L&
SEFMFEERFTRLAREENSEN
& oo

non-director and non-chief executive, highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. FFEFMER
2013 2012
—g—-=f —E—_fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETRT BT T
Group: REE :
Current — Hong Kong rEE — FF 805 2,963
Current — Mainland China REFE — hEIARE 377,122 302,112
Deferred (note 25) i (47 7#25) (45,805) 9,403
Total tax charge for the year REERBEZHEF 332,122 314,478

(@)

During the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012,
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong.

PRC corporate income tax represents tax charged on
the estimated assessable profits arising in Mainland
China. In general, the Group’s subsidiaries operating
in Mainland China are subject to the PRC corporate
income tax rate of 25% except for certain subsidiaries
which are entitled to preferential tax rates.

BE-_ =K -_E——F=A=+—
AEFER EFNEHNEERBE
A2l ET E R B i B 1216.5% 2 B K 5

=H o
>t

PECEAERERPERAEEL 2
FHERBURMN AT 2 BIA - BRETH
BRARIZAMBERIN AKEEFTH
BENHBAR —RAGMTELEN
B 2B ERB25% -
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

1.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(c) The share of tax charge attributable to jointly-controlled
entities of HK$597,000 (2012: HK$468,000) and the
share of tax charge attributable to associates of
HK$12,297,000 (2012: HK$16,645,000) are included in

“Share of profits and
entities”
associates”,
statement.

losses of jointly-controlled
and “Share of profits and

losses of

respectively, in the consolidated income

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are

1.

PREmEM(E)

© EEHEHXRZEHERZHEILSES

597 000t (=& ——4:

Bl A%\
PSRN

E(_;—_¢

2 BIEF AR 7

REBARA R AEBOENEQ

75 #5468,0007T)
Al Z ML M ABE12, 297000
7 1£16,645,0007T)
Gl EKRTP TG H%*
Bl 2 m M K& E e B
2w R EEIA -

i 2% N 5]
Hs & 2 A

NA T DA R

ZOEEREAERBRANEN 2 A - A
BRERBREAEZIHAIOLEIKR - U@

domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and BEEVEERER)HERREEIRAOT
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:
2013 2012
—ET—-=%5 —E—_4F
HK$’000 % HK$’'000 %
Group AEE HEBETT Bk BETT BHL
Profit before tax B 35 Al & A 1,851,274 1,653,166
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERAMEFEZTIE 462,820 25.0 413,292 25.0
Lower tax rates for specific provinces or 45T & 10 8k b 75 # B8 45
local authority F 2 BRAR B & (214,518) (11.6)  (203,304) (12.3)
Profits and losses attributable to jointly- 3% [ #22 | 1> 2 K2 Bt
controlled entities and associates 7] 2 FEAh i@ 7 & 548 (622) (0.0) 971 0.1
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RIEFR 2 AR B) A7 IE &
recognised ¢g IR B 21,174 1.1 29,370 1.8
Income not subject to tax mARM WA (72,744) (3.9) (38,118) (2.3)
Expenses not deductible for tax T—HD 2> 170,289 9.2 179,366 10.8
Tax losses utilised from previous A ABEER B
periods & 18 (52,591) (2.8) (67,099) (4.1)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on = —EREZ K EAF]
dividend income declared by a PRC 2 BEIkE IR S AG
subsidiary B10%ENH 2 & 18,314 1.0 — —
Tax charge at the Group’s EAREEERTEGE
effective rate Z I 332,122 18.0 314,478 19.0

PINBIBIER AR AR | 2012/13 3
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

12.

13.

150

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 12. & RAIIR R FE(G &
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the AARRRIFBERENEBEE_ZE—=F=-A=
parent for the year ended 31 March 2013 includes a loss of T—BEEFENSRARRREEGEEEF &
HK$119,907,000 (2012: loss of HK$67,437,000), which was B AR B F A #427,846,000L (Z T2 ——
arrived at after deducting dividend income received from a % #%398,628,0007T) F 1k 2k B i & 2 7
subsidiary and other intercompany income totalling fREWAREANIE AW AL EE
HK$547,753,000 (2012: HK$466,065,000) from the 547,753,0007T (== —— 4 : 75 466,065,000
Company’s profit of HK$427,846,000 (2012: JT) 1%+ 518 A 7 119,007,000 (ZE — =
HK$398,628,000), that has been dealt with in the financial & 518 A B #67,437,0007T) (M 5£36(b)) °
statements of the Company (note 36(b)).
DIVIDENDS 13. Ix B
2013 2012
—g—-=f —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETRT BT T
Proposed final dividend — 38.80 HK MERERE — %Z=H
cents (2012: 39.80 HK cents) per =+ —HHBEBITRA
ordinary share based on issued &% B 12 38.808 {1l
share capital at 31 March —Z——1F :39.80/8 1) 424,264 434,908
Less: Dividend for shares held for B R B (D BN ET 2N = A
the RSA Scheme at 31 March =t+—HREROORE (9,672) (9,922)
414,592 424,986

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

REFHRHIRRPRBALARA R RENH
BITZBRRBFRGLEHAE -
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Notes to Financial Statements Br#&R& iz

31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 14, AR ERAKRKRRENETREF

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$1,367,369,000 (2012:
HK$1,244,813,000), and the weighted average of
1,068,181,622 (2012: 1,070,204,311) ordinary shares in issue
less shares held under the RSA Scheme during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount for
the year ended 31 March 2013 is based on the profit for
the year ended 31 March 2013 attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$1,367,369,000 (2012:
HK$1,244,813,000) and the weighted average of
1,082,073,741 (2012: 1,077,348,072) ordinary shares, which
represented 1,068,181,622 (2012: 1,070,204,311) ordinary
shares in issue during the year ended 31 March 2013, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average of 13,892,119 (2012: 7,143,761) ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares relating to the Group’s share-based incentive
schemes into ordinary shares.

fE MBS IEAE B BR A A | 2012/13 F 3R

ERXEREFNDEAFE ZERAGEBKRR
TR FE (5 3% R A 78 161,367,369,000C (&2 ——
@ ¢ E#1,244,813,0007T) A EREAFERNE
BT TR TR B EE T B AT R D
2 DN HE T 5 #01,068,181,622 (—ZFE —— & :
1,070,204,311A% ) 5T & -

HE-_Z—=F=-A=+—HILFEZH8EE
BaA NREE-T-=F=-A=+—H1t
FEZERARETBRRBREEMG N AEE
1,367,369,000t(= & — = F: & &
1,244,813,0007T) X hn#EF39£01,082,073,741 %
TFE T :1,077,348,0720%) L@ E -
RO BEAERHEEASRANNNE
ECE—=F=-A=+—HLEFERZBET
T 3B R 21,068,181,6220% (= & — — £
1,070,204,311%) - A RBBEAEE 2 R E
BErB AR BEHENTRREGE AR
TEITHREAEEERTEBER 2 NETFY
£13,892, 1198 (= — 4 : 7,143,761/% ) 2 #&
o
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

AL Ny =1
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W% - BMENEE
Group x5
Leasehold Fixtures
land and Leasehold and office Motor Construction in
buildings improvements equipment vehicles progress Total
HELH RER
RigF HERE BROERE RE ERBIE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
31 March 2013 —®-=%=A=+-H
At 31 March 2012 and R-Z——&=A=+—-H8BK
at 1 April 2012: RZZE——FWA—A:
Cost B A& 588,537 140,623 908,532 48,175 207,988 1,893,855
Accumulated depreciation EG g (35,494) (98,621) (501,872) (21,393) - (657,380)
Net carrying amount 1R EF B 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475
At 1 April 2012, net of RZF——FWA—H"
accumulated depreciation Mk BT E 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475
Additions RE - 11,143 104,266 2,475 501,867 619,751
Disposals & - ®) (14,052) (897) - (14,957)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR
(note 37) (Ht7£37) (67,906) (5,235) (13,709) (436) (840) (88,126)
Transfers i 308,726 17,378 36,216 - (456,320) (94,000)
Depreciation provided during AEEHE
the year (18,712) (18,506) (115,853) (6,678) - (159,749)
Exchange realignment IE 5 3% 9,397 321 4,474 240 1,211 15,643
At 31 March 2013, net of R-E—=5=A=+—8"
accumulated depreciation Mk BT E 784,548 47,095 408,002 21,486 253,906 1,515,037
At 31 March 2013: R-ZZ-=4=ZfA=1+—H:
Cost B AME 833,260 156,817 968,429 47,588 253,906 2,260,000
Accumulated depreciation BEME (48,712) (109,722) (560,427 (26,102) - (744,963)
Net carrying amount 1R EF B 784,548 47,095 408,002 21,486 253,906 1,515,037
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

Al T x =
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W% - KENZREE)
(Continued)
Group (Continued) AEE(H)
Leasehold Fixtures
land and Leasehold and office Motor Construction
buildings improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE LT EER
REgF HERE BAERME AE EgIRE gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BET T BETT
31 March 2012 —E--§=ZA=+-H
At 1 April 2011: R-ZE——&EpmA—R1:
Cost K A{E 246,748 109,672 830,180 37,217 59,795 1,283,612
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (24,638) (82,858) (458,733) (19,571) = (585,800)
Net carrying amount IR & 222,110 26,814 371,447 17,646 59,795 697,812
At 1 April 2011, net of R-ZZ——4mA—A"
accumulated depreciation MK REME 222,110 26,814 371,447 17,646 59,795 697,812
Additions NE 327,058 23,720 126,385 13,860 167,771 658,794
Disposals HeE = (129) (8,584) 672) (2,805) (12,190)
Transfers B = 6,183 13,494 = (19,677) =
Depreciation provided AEENE
during the year (9,871) (15,551) (108,291) (4,574) - (138,287)
Exchange realignment IE 5, A B 13,746 965 12,209 522 2,904 30,346
At 31 March 2012, net of R—E——F=A=1+—H
accumulated depreciation SR 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475
At 31 March 2012: R=Z—=fF=HA=+-H
Cost R AE 588,537 140,623 908,532 48,175 207,988 1,893,855
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (35,494) (98,621) (501,872) (21,393) = (657,380)
Net carrying amount REFE 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are situated in
Mainland China and are held under medium term leases.

At 31 March 2013, certain of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment with a net carrying amount of
HK$25,721,000 (2012: HK$53,079,000) were pledged to
secure certain bank loans granted to the Group (note 32).

1N EIS AR AR AR | 2012/13 ¥R

AEBZEEL W REFTHMR P EAE -
WARHIHAORFS -

NZE—=—F=ZA=+—0 A& BEREFE
B B ¥o5721,000 (= & — Z F: 8 &
53,079,0007T) 2 & T % - BERFZHED T
B (EAAEEESETRITERZER
(P 5E32) °
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT
(Continued)

AND EQUIPMENT

15. W% - BMENMKE(E)

Company AAT
Leasehold Office
improvements equipment Total
HERE MAEIRE &t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR BETRT &BEBTXT
31 March 2013 —E—=%5=H=+—H
At 31 March 2012 R—T——F=ZA=+—HBK
and at 1 April 2012 RZE——FMAH—H
Cost [P NE] 2,990 1,187 4177
Accumulated depreciation E i (2,990) (915) (3,905)
Net carrying amount R EF B - 272 272
At 1 April 2012, net of RZZE——FMA—H -
accumulated depreciation R BTN E - 272 272
Additions NE — 66 66
Depreciation provided REENE
during the year - (108) (108)
At 31 March 2013, net of R-ZE—=F=A=+—8 "
accumulated depreciation Mk BT E - 230 230
At 31 March 2013: RZE—=F=A=+—8:
Cost DN 2,990 1,233 4,223
Accumulated depreciation kR E (2,990) (1,003) (3,993)
Net carrying amount R EF B - 230 230
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT
(Continued)

Company (Continued)

AND EQUIPMENT 15. W% MENMEZEE)

XAE (&)

Leasehold Office
improvements equipment Total
HEEE WAERE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT T BETT BETT
31 March 2012 —E—-#£=H=+—H
At 1 April 2011: RZZE——FMA—H:
Cost B ANE 2,990 1,227 4,217
Accumulated depreciation Z2EtinE (2,973) 972) (3,945)
Net carrying amount IR F A 17 255 272
At 1 April 2011, net of RZE—-——FWA—H "
accumulated depreciation MR RETITE 17 255 272
Additions NE — 128 128
Disposal | = = (7) @)
Depreciation provided REEIE
during the year (17) (104) (121)
At 31 March 2012, net of R-ZZE——F=A=+—H"
accumulated depreciation MR REHITE = 272 272
At 31 March 2012: RZT——F=A=+—8:
Cost DN =] 2,990 1,187 4177
Accumulated depreciation MR REHITE (2,990) (915) (3,905)
Net carrying amount R T F B = 272 272

1N EIS AR AR AR | 2012/13 ¥R
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. W E W
Group
&
2013 2012
—E—-=4% ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
Carrying amount at 1 April KA —BZREE 305,005 265,581
Net gain from a fair value EATEBEARZZ
adjustment (note 5) F U w (B 525) 15,954 30,391
Transfer from owner-occupied ERAERAWE
property/prepaid land premium AN TS 12,482 —
Exchange realignment ME 5, 58 B 1,756 9,083
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BZkEE 335,197 305,005
The Group’s investment properties are situated in Mainland AKEE2IEEMHEHM R RBI AR - W LAF
China and are held under medium term leases. HEAEE -
The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 RZE—=F=ZA=+—08 AKEKREME
March 2013 by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, HBYEXAERMGEMBRTEETHE
independent professionally qualified valuers, at MAERAREAFMSRRITHREESHA
HK$335,197,000 on an open market, existing use basis. The 7 #5335,197,0007T - ZE R EMEREBELE
investment properties are leased to third parties under MOBHETE=F  E—TFEBEREHN LY
operating leases, further summary details of which are 1% R 2% MY 5E39(@a) °
included in note 39(a) to the financial statements.
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. I E WM (E)

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties as RZZE—=F=A=+—H8 AEEKREYMZE
at 31 March 2013 are as follows: ZE—FSFBOAT:

Attributable
interest of
Location Use Tenure the Group

b B A& F 8 AREEGEDR

Digital China Xi'an Science and Office building Medium term lease 100%
Technology Park,

No. 20 Zhangba 4th Street,

Xi’an Gaoxin Technology

Development District,

Xi'an, Shaanxi Province,

The PRC

hERFEE NN - REAFE A9 100%
AxmafRmEXRER

SO\ & 205%

1o 0 BUES 7R = B B B

Digital China Wuhan Science and Office building Medium term lease 100%
Technology Park,

North of Da Shu Road East,

East of Guang Gu Road,

Wuhan Donghu Technology Development

District,

Wuhan, Hubei Province,

The PRC

B I NN FEAFE A 100%
I E T RO T B T B 3 =

KAKBEINR

A& R AL

N 8RS O BHE
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

17. PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS 17. Nt E®
Group
AEE
2013 2012
—E—-=4% ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT ok
Carrying amount at 1 April PPN A—BZIREE 164,510 86,661
Additions NE 331,151 74,996
Transfers R 14,907 —
Amortisation during the year INEE (4,128) (621)
Exchange realignment M 5, 8 B 2,350 3,474
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BZiREE 508,790 164,510
Current portion included in mENEB D BIEE
prepayments, deposits and other BRHE ek
receivables H b fE Y 5k IR (4,941) (1,295)
Non-current portion FE 7 B) & 1 503,849 163,215
The Group’s leasehold lands are situated in Mainland China AEEZHEE TR KR - 3 EAF
and are held under medium term leases. A4 E -
At 31 March 2013, a certificate of a land use right with RZE—=F=A=1T—H BEHEBRTKEN
respect to one parcel of the Group’s leasehold land R AEE U PR ARKEEIREFEL
situated in Mainland China with an aggregate net carrying B B B #317,290,0000L(Z T ——F : B
amount of HK$317,290,000 (2012: HK$40,903,000) had not 40,903,0007T) 2 T & £ b B ) 1 s R -
been issued by the relevant government authority, which REBREREHED KB ZESE -
was obtained by the Group subsequent to the reporting
period.
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

18. GOODWILL 18. &
The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising WEZENBERAREEMEAEEEZR
from the acquisition of subsidiaries, was as follows: BLBEWNT:
Group
xE
2013 2012
—g—-=f —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETR ok i
At 1 April: MREHA—A:
Cost DN =] 284,107 276,331
Accumulated impairment 25T RE (47,730) (47,730)
Net carrying amount R FF B 236,377 228,601
Cost at 1 April, net of accumulated RO A—HZKAE
impairment Nk 2EHRE 236,377 228,601
Exchange realignment e H 2,635 7,776
Net carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BZiREFE 239,012 236,377
At 31 March: R=A=+—8:
Cost PN =] 258,176 284,107
Accumulated impairment 25 RE (19,164) (47,730)
Net carrying amount IR [ FE 239,012 236,377
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18.

160

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the industry application software and solutions
cash-generating unit, which is under the Services segment,
for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the industry application software
and solutions cash-generating unit is determined based on
a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied
to cash flow projections is 14% and cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the industry application software and solutions cash-
generating unit.

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit.

18. ME (&)

2 R E Al 5
EREBAGNEBEEHRTLEAR
HRFRTRESELBE  WARES S
U AR E RS -

TERERREHLBRTRREELEM 27
WERIEDLREEREEBETE  mEMREED
RABBESREREHECIFHVKEE
BAZREREFE -BARSREMEN
ZERRES14% MR A EE A FH3%IE KK
HERERE -

AETRERRHERBRATRACELEN
ZEREERBELHEZRR

NCELAE IR E LA 1T R R R EDR B TR ORI IR
TREMRBIZHREERR:

BEEFF - BEENXEEZETEER
EEREFEAM—EFEMRBIENEK -

MEE — RBZBRESHEHRAER
BRMREBEMS R 2 ERRE
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31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BBz & E
Group &
Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total
Bi#ER i 3 R 3%
HO & RF R @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EETR BT BETR BETR
31 March 2013 —E-=5=HA=t+-H
At 1 April 2012; R-ZE——GmMA—B:
Cost B ANE 6,457 5,031 35,290 46,778
Accumulated amortisation 2t EER
and impairment HE (6,457) (546) (35,184) (42,187)
Net carrying amount IREFE - 4,485 106 4,591
Cost at 1 April 2012, net of RZZE——-FMA—-HZ
accumulated amortisation BCAE « 5 R 5T 8
and impairment X RE - 4,485 106 4,591
Additions NE 5,680 633 - 6,313
Amortisation provided during the year AEEHE - (882) (34) (916)
Exchange realignments BE X R 39 51 1 91
At 31 March 2013 RZE—=F=A=+—H 5,719 4,287 73 10,079
At 31 March 2013: R-E—=%=fA=+—H:
Cost BKAE 12,137 5,664 35,290 53,091
Accumulated amortisation R BER
and impairment ERE! (6,418) (1,377) (35,217) (43,012)
Net carrying amount IR EFE 5,719 4,287 73 10,079
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 19. B\ & E (&)
Group (Continued) EEE(E)
Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total
EMER ERERE
Fra] B B AR R a M it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T BT T BETT BT
31 March 2012 —E--—#=H=+-H
At 1 April 2011: R-ZE——%WmMA—HB:
Cost XA ME 6,457 2,136 35,181 43,774
Accumulated amortisation 2t EER
and impairment A (4,985) (169) (35,181) (40,335)
Net carrying amount 1R EFE 1,472 1,967 = 3,439
Cost at 1 April 2011, net of RZE——FMA—HZ
accumulated amortisation BCAE + 005 R 5T 8
and impairment ALl 1,472 1,967 = 3,439
Additions NE - 2,895 109 3,004
Amortisation provided during the year REE # (1,506) (502) &) 2,011)
Exchange realignments X R 34 125 = 159
At 31 March 2012 R-E——F#=A=+—H = 4,485 106 4,591
At 31 March 2012 R-E——F=f=+—-HK
and at 1 April 2012: RZE——FmA—H:
Cost R AE 6,457 5,031 35,290 46,778
Accumulated amortisation B BER
and impairment E (6,457) (546) (35,184) (42,187)
Net carrying amount IREFE = 4,485 106 4,591
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. RMBARIZKE
Company
AT
2013 2012
—E—-=%5 —E——4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT
Unlisted shares, at cost ELETRG - RKAE 699,407 699,407
Capital contribution in respect of AR R E 2B &

employee share-based compensation BAAREE 203,169 142,675
902,576 842,082

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: FTEMNBRARFIBNOT:

Place of

incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value Percentage of equity

of issued and

attributable to

Name operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect
MR B BRTRAURE
E1 1 REEHE BAEZEHE FASEGEEZTSL EEEH
BE el 4
Digital China (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$5,125 100 - Investment holding
ERARRHE 5125% 7T REER
Digital China Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding
M EIE B R AR Ak 2T REZER
Digital China (China) Limited** Mainland China HK$1,000,000,000 100 Distribution of IT products
10 B () ER AR FE KR 7 #1,000,000,0007T D HITE @
Chengdu Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$5,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
B A M BB AR AR B K B 75 #5,000,0007T DHITE @
Shenyang Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$39,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
&GN EIS R AR o B K BE 7 #:39,000,0007C 2 81T E @
Shanghai Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$30,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BB ER AR B K B 7% #30,000,0007T D HITE @B
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

RHBRAR 2 &RE (&)
TEWBAAFEMT: (8)

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value Percentage of equity
registration and of issued and attributable to
Name operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect
M B BETRARE
& REEHE BAZEHE FAFEIGEZETSLE TEEH
HE e
Digital China (Shenzhen) Limited** Mainland China HK$12,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
f N B ORIDBR AR B K B 7 #12,000,0007C P HITE @
Xian Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$10,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
BAREMNBIEERAR" A BE 75 #10,000,0007T DIHITE @
Nanjing Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$3,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
R M BT H R AR B A B 7 %3,000,0007T 2 8HITE @
Guangzhou Digital China Limited*~ Mainland China HK$12,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
& M A M 805 75 PR A |- B K B 76 #12,000,0007T D EITE @
Jinan Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$6,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
B NRBEFR AR FE KB 7% %:6,000,0007T D HITE R
Digital China Marketing & Services Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
ERERRES IE REER
Digital China Technology Limited Hong Kong/ HK$1,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
BNEBREERERAT Mainland China 75 #1,000,0007T DIEITE R
Bt/ B
Digital China (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
8N 0 (B ) AR AR ik 7 #10,0007C P HITE &
E-Olympic International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Holding of trademarks
HEEBRES 1E7T RAEBHR
Digital China Networks, Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$10,000,000 — 100 Investment holding
MBI R A AR AR REERREE 10,000,000% 7t REER
Digital China Networks (HK) Limited Hong Kong/ HK$810 - 100 Investment holding and
WMNEBEREEB)ERAA Mainland China 7 18107T distribution of networking products
B/ REKE REZERK D HBEER
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TR RE

20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

KRB AR 2 &RE (&)
EEWBAAFEMT : (8)

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value Percentage of equity
registration and of issued and attributable to
Name operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect
M B BETRHRE
£ REEHE BAZEHE FASEIGEBESLL TEEH
HE e
Digital China Networks (Beijing) Limited*~ Mainland China HK$3,409,091 = 88 Development and distribution of
MBS A (L) AR AR B A B 7 #3,400,0917C networking products
FBERDHBEEM
Grace Glory Enterprises Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
BEEEERAA" EBERRES 1E7T REZR
Beijing Digital China Limited* Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
tREMNBETEERAR B K A %1,000,000,0007C DEITE R
Beijing Digital China Supply Chain Services Co., Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Ltd.* B K B A K %10,000,0007T D HEITE R
bR MBS B RS B IR AR
Shenzhen Instant Logistics Co., Ltd.* Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100 Provision of logistics services
FNFEDRER AR B K BE A R #50,000,0007C REDRRE
Digital China (Zhengzhou) Limited* Mainland China RMB5,100,000 = 90 Distribution of IT products
14 2085 (M) B R AR K BE A R #5,100,0007C 2 8IT 2
Talent Gain Developments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
HBERRHS 1%£7T REER
Power Gateway Limited British Virgin Islands US$100 - 100 Investment holding
EEERAREE 100% 7T REER
Guangzhou Digital China Information Technology Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
Co., Ltd.** B K fE 50,000,000 7T P EITE &
BE M A N B = SRR A R AR
Hangzhou Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$3,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
M AN EBER R R A" B K B 7% #:3,000,0007C 2 HITE @
Digital China Software Limited** Mainland China US$6,000,000 = 100 Investment holding
MBS R AR AR K BE 6,000,000 7T REZR
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

20. RMTB AR 2 & (58)

TEMBRARFBNOT: (&)

(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value Percentage of equity
registration and of issued and attributable to
Name operations paid-up capital the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect
M B BETRARE
& REEHE BAZEHE FAFEIGEZETSLE TEEH
HE e
Digital China Macao Commercial Offshore Macao MOP1,000,000 = 100 Distribution of IT products
Limited P . P9%1,000,0007T P HITE &
MBS RPI R EFE ERE AR
Fuzhou Digital China Company Limited** Mainland China HK$10,000,000 = 100 Distribution of IT products
@M MBS H R AR B K B 75 #10,000,0007T P ITE @
Changsha Digital China Company Limited** Mainland China HK$20,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
RO METEH R AR B A BE 78 #20,000,0007T DIHITE @
Digital China (Hefei) Company Limited** Mainland China HK$10,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
NS (R E)BR AR B K BE 75 #10,000,0007T DEITE &
Cellular Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
BRKREFRAR Bt AT REER
Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.* Mainland China RMB60,060,000 = 60.98 Technology development and promotion,
BNEBSEREROERAR R B K A K %60,060,0007T technology consultancy and services,
computer systems services and business
of financial specialized equipment
BRI B B B R - BT AR A B AR
FEBRSRY  ARSRBBIRE
eSS
Digital China Information Service Co., Ltd.* Mainland China RMB340,000,000 o 60.98 Systems integration services, application
WMNEBERRERNHERDA- B K BE A R #340,000,0007C software development, maintenance and
outsourcing, consultancy and training
services
RAEKRYG - EARMGRE
RERINERE - 7RI IR
Digital China Software (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$13,000,001 - 60.98 Investment holding
10 B A BV E R AR RBREBRES 13,000,0013 7T REER
Digital China Advanced Systems Limited Hong Kong/ HK$400,000,000 = 60.98 Systems integration
WMNBBEERRGEERAR Mainland China 75 #400,000,0007C AR
B/ REKE
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20. RMIB AR 2% & (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(Continued)

TEMBRAAFBNOT : (&)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value

of issued and paid-up

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Name operations capital the Company Principal activities
Direct Indirect
M B BETRHRE
£ REEHE BAZEHE FASEIGEBESLL TEEH
HE e

Digital China Advanced Systems Service Mainland China RMB800,000,000 = 60.98 Systems integration systems, software
Limited* B A A R #800,000,0007T development and maintenance services
18N BSR4 & KBRS B R A A REERRY - BHRERRERE
Shanghai Digital China Information Technology ~ Mainland China RMB10,000,000 = 60.98 Systems integration services, software
Service Co., Ltd.* B K A K %10,000,0007T development and maintenance services
EEBMMEEEERMREERAR AFEKRYE  BHRBERRERS
Digital China Financial Software Ltd.** Mainland China HK$100,000,000 - 60.98 Research and development, application
BMNEBERERGERAR B K 75 #100,000,0007T and maintenance of software products
AHERZARERAE
DA K% 12 4 FE AR R AR 25 PR 7

+ The English names of these companies are direct + HERRIZEXABIERAEMBELZF

transliterations of their Chinese registered names. =R
A The Chinese names are the trade names but not the official A HZERAZPNEWIES A WIFHE
names of these companies. HEH -
# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC # BREFBEEZEIMBELADINEDE -

law.

1

Registered as Sino-foreign joint ventures under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Except for Digital China (HK) Limited, Digital China Limited,
Digital China Technology Limited, Digital China Advanced
Systems Limited, Digital China Networks (HK) Limited,
Digital China Macao Commercial Offshore Limited and
Cellular Investments Limited, the statutory audits for the
above subsidiaries were not performed by Ernst & Young,
Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young
global network.
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21.

22.

168

DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) the subsidiaries are unsecured,

interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

INVESTMENTS IN  JOINTLY-CONTROLLED

21. FEUL(FEA) B B8 & R kI8

FEY (D M B RRIRATDEIER - 28K
EETEEED -

22. RAREHI AR 2RE

ENTITIES
Group
AEEH
2013 2012
—g-=5 —T——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT ok
Share of net assets EihEEFE 126,601 33,224

The Group’s trade receivable balance due from a jointly-
controlled entity is disclosed in note 28 to the financial

statements.

AEERE-—HEAERZEHNEEZBKE SR
RS BRI BR O ML B 7 HR AR M 28 e
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22. INVESTMENTS
ENTITIES (Continued)

Particulars of the principal jointly-controlled entities are as

IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED

22. WARZEHIBE 2 E (E)

TREAREHEEZHBOT:

follows:
Percentage of
ownership
interest
Place of Particular of attributable to
Name registration registered capital the Group Principal activities
BE XEEEERSA
& = i 2 5L i 2h HMERFE HEESESL FTEEFR
Digital China Technology Industry Mainland China Registered capital 49  Investment, development
Investment Co., Ltd.** Ei N 175 RMB100,000,000 and management on
MBI R R EFKREFREERF" EERIIIE- N technology industry
A R #100,000,0007C projects
M EXHANRKRE -
e 2% L 1B
Digital China (Shanghai) Capital Mainland China Registered capital 49 Capital management, and

Management Co., Ltd.*" B K B RMB50,000,000

HMMNBE (LB EEEREERAR" AEMEAR

A R #50,000,0007T

+ The English names of these companies are direct +
transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

A Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member A

firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

fE MBS IEAE B BR A A | 2012/13 F 3R

enterprise management
consultancy
BEEEEMMEBEERT
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X 1

o T

FHMEBL KGN EBHM ALK GTAIE
BHREMEIRBEKRERER -
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22. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 22. REARESICEZRE(E)
ENTITIES (Continued)
The above jointly-controlled entities have financial years HAZEHCE 2V BREFERATZA=
ending 31 December. The consolidated financial statements ‘1‘ Ei cIREMBREFEH —A—HZE=A
are adjusted for the material transactions between the ST ALEAFRESNCEEASEE 2 EKX
jointly-controlled entities and group companies between 1 RHEITHE -
January and 31 March.
The Group’s shareholdings in the jointly-controlled entities AEERERESICZEZBRETSBAQF
are held through the subsidiaries of the Company. i Np==N 7%75
The above table lists the jointly-controlled entities of the EERBLEMBCAEELRIZES S EY
Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally AEEAFE EERE %%jﬂﬁ$%l
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial BEEFEZERBHD EFRAMIEEA
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of HEESDEER - ﬂﬂ?iléfﬂaaiﬁ)j’\fbﬁ
other jointly-controlled entities would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
All the jointly-controlled entities have been accounted for B kA2 ) 1 5 B e a5 5 P bt B 7% ¥
using the equity method in these financial statements. RO o
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINFAEELRZESI B E 2 HBERE
information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities: O
2013 2012
—E—-=% —F—=
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT ok
Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ EMEHRESDEZ
assets and liabilities: BEERBE:
Current assets M EE 269,497 15,939
Non-current assets EMENE E 2,705 50,363
Current liabilities mEAE (36,752) (32,582)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (108,849) (496)
Net assets BEFE 126,601 33,224
Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ FEAEFERIIE G % 2 ¥ 4&
results:
Total revenues FEE N 30,878 27,648
Total expenses 4R > (23,284) (30,770)
Tax I8 (597) (468)
Profit/(loss) after tax BrEE R A (E1E) 6,997 (3,590)
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23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 23. REEERAI 2 &
Group
&
2013 2012
—E—-=% —T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Share of net assets (& EFE 329,388 405,924
Goodwill on acquisition WEEEZEE 352,588 374,815
681,976 780,739
The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances due AEEEK (B ZMBE AR ZERES
from/(to) associates are disclosed in notes 28 and 30 to the IR 3k & B B 50K 3K 4 #h 0 B3R B A L B 1
financial statements, respectively. R M FE28 .30 °
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBE QNG ZFRBROT:

Percentage of

Place of Particular of issued ownership interest

incorporation/ shares held/ attributable to
Name registration registered capital the Group Principal activities

MR BHECETRG & AEEELREA
& B H B, & A =518 BESES TEER
DigiWin Software Co., Ltd.*" Mainland China Registered capital 19.81# Provision of ERP software
SERGERNHBEBAF" AR B K RMB90,000,000 and related services
& A 12 HLERPEX {4 K
A R 90,000,000 A @R
HC International, Inc.** Cayman Islands Issued share capital 19.94% Service provision of B-to-B
EHEEBERAR HERS HK$56,555,175 e-commerce
BTG KE®ERH TR

75 56,555,1757T
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23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

+ The English names of these companies are direct
transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

# These companies are accounted for as associates of the
Group as the Group is able to exercise significant influence
over the companies because it holds 20% of the voting
power of the companies.

N Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member
firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

* Listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The total market value of
the Group’s listed shares as at 31 March 2013 was
HK$495,008,000.

An impairment of HK$110,620,000 (including impairment of
goodwill of HK$72,314,000) was recognised for investment
in an associate with a then carrying amount of
HK$261,730,000 because there were objective evidences
that there is significant decline in the recoverable amount of
the Group’s investment in the associate. At 31 March 2013,
the investment in the associate was reclassified to an
available-for-sale investment because, in the opinion of the
directors, the Group lost its significant influence over the
associate as a result of the issuance of certain convertible
instruments by the associate that have the potential to give
the owners of the instruments the voting power over the
financial and operating policies of the associate.

The above associates have financial years ending 31
December. The consolidated financial statements are
adjusted for the material transactions between the
associates and group companies between 1 January and
31 March.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

All the associates have been accounted for using the equity
method in these financial statements.

23.

KBS RR A (E)
v BEARZEXEBNERERRMBRZY
XA -

# AEEEAULER
RAAEATE
ETE0k kNI

AI20% K) =R HE - HIE R
A E AR NIEAARNE

A SFRBERB LRGN EB MR L K ERTAIE
BREMRIRBEKBMEZ -

* REBBERGMEBERATBIER £/ - B
—E-CFZACt+ B AEELTRE
T{E 458 & 7% #495,008,0007T °

REBERERB ALEE—HMRBERARZE
BEZAE£BEAEERNRL  MALEHE
R [ (B /A7 #261,730,000 7T (FHERE E B AT)
2 B FHR R E A5 #110,620,0007T (B 15
B {E BB E72,314,0007T) - EFR A AR
B AT BT T A - ZA T AN
FrEEHERY LBEATNT B EESEREN
BIERAE BRASEXREZYEILEE QA
MEAFE AHR-_ZTE—ZFZ/F=+—
B WREBEARZRECEHT D EAAHRDY
EZHRE -

ERBEARZHBFERB T A= —
A GapBRERAEH—A—AE= A=+
—EUEBEARNRARE 2 EARSET
B -

EXRR/LERMBIAEEBERRHARE
BAFEZXEEEAFEREAEREE
FEZERNED  cEFR /M L HAMEZ
REEH  BEREBBERITE -

a2 ARHERERIEN
iE o

It Bt 7% 3R % 5

Digital China Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2012/13



Notes to Financial Statements BA &R MisE -0

31 March 2013 ZZ—=F=A=+—H

23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

23. REEZE NAl 2 & (
TEIFAEEYL AT 2 HEERES (5

information of the Group’s associates extracted from their BEHEERE)
management accounts:

2013 2012

—F—-=%5 —ET—CF

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETIT BT

Assets BE 2,391,194 4,394,134
Liabilities =R (1,184,108) (1,740,663)
Revenue A 1,425,328 3,311,442
Profit i ) 102,980 228,892

2 > JL >
24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24. AR E 2 A
Group
&

2013 2012

—E—-=%5 —E——4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BEETIT BT

Listed equity investments, at fair value: tHEZRKE @ BAF(EE:

Hong Kong BB 119,700 107,619
Japan SN 140,045 —
259,745 107,619

Unlisted equity investments, at cost FELEMERKE  EHKRAE 175,457 109,127
Convertible promissory note AEBAEES 38,750 —
473,952 216,746
Less: Accumulated impairment losses B BETREE B - (2,425)
473,952 214,321
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24, At EEZ K E (B)
(Continued)

The movement in available-for-sale investments during the RAFEAN AIHEECKREZHIT:
year are as follows:

Revaluation
Cost gain/(loss) Total
fE{EW 2/
A 1{E B ia gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

BT IT BT IT BETIT

At 1 April 2012 N-_E——FPA—H 187,417 26,904 214,321
Additions 0 310,458 58,931 369,389
Transfer to the investment HE S N EEE AT
in an associate ZIRE (211,712 (110,578) (322,290)
Transfer from the investments AN E QR
in associates ZIRE 212,532 = 212,532
At 31 March 2013 RZE—=F
—A=+—8 498,695 (04,743) 473,952
The above investments consist of investments in equity LA EPREREFKRE  ZEREWE
securities which were designated as available-for-sale ERAUHHESMEE -
financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon
rate.
The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments RHERERBERERER A& FHERR
at the date of approval of these financial statements were &) TE B #226,245,0007T °

HK$226,245,000.

The Group’s unlisted equity investments are measured at NEE 2 IE LTRSS E LK AE R ES
cost less impairment. The fair values of these unlisted - mREBEHEBENSEMG HEREES
equity investments cannot be measured reliably because B ERAREEQAFEE  WEEAEFE
the probabilities of various estimates within the range FLTERINE AT EE-

cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair

values.
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25. DEFERRED TAX 25. EIER A
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during BELCHIBEEERBERAEFENESHOT
the year are as follows:
Group &
Deferred tax assets EEHIEEE
2013
—E—-=%
Losses
available for
offsetting
against future
taxable Asset
profits provisions Others Total
ST
RIRFERB
Az EE EERE Hit et
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETR BETR BETR BETR
At 1 April 2012 RZTE——4F
mA—H 14,285 78,863 66,427 159,575
Deferred tax credited/ REFZ AL =K
(charged) to the income FREFA L (FIBR)
statement during the year ZIRET I8 (14,338) 47,236 13,773 46,671
Exchange realignment e H 53 1,118 843 2,014
Gross deferred tax assets R=—E—=%=H
at 31 March 2013 =t+—HZEE
MIAE E R - 127,217 81,043 208,260
175
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25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 25. IEETIE (&)
Group (Continued) EEE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE

Unrealised

losses from
intragroup  Revaluation

transactions of properties Others Total
KEA
XHEEZ

KEREE MEEM Hit @t

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’°000

EBTR EHTR EBTR EBTR

At 1 April 2012 R-ZE——4F
MmA—H 39,239 30,487 57,714 127,440
Deferred tax charged/ REERNER =R
(credited) to the income SEICYAGPN)
statement during the year 2 B FE T IR 13,839 3,460 (16,433) 866
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 & 417 340 630 1,387

Gross deferred tax liabilites WRZZ—=%=H
at 31 March 2013 =t+—HBZIEL
HIEaEERE 53,495 34,287 41,911 129,693

Net deferred tax credited to AN E RN EW R &K

the income statement FETAZEER

during the year (note 11) TSR (M az11) (45,805)
Net deferred tax assets RZE—=F=H

recognised in the =t+—HELH#E

consolidated statement B 75 71K 0 3= P T

of financial position RZBELEHRIBE

at 31 March 2013 =R 78,567
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25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

25. IRERMIE(E)

Group (Continued) EEE(E)
Deferred tax assets EEHRIBEEE
2012
T4
Losses
available for Fair value
offsetting adjustment
against future Asset of other
taxable profits provisions receivables Others Total
AR K 88 E A fE U
7R 2R FE R KIBZ
MafcErE BERE EBEAER 2Q2THAM #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
BT BETT BETT BETT ABETT
At 1 April 2011 MN-E——F
mA—H 26,822 38,713 24,334 40,091 129,960
Deferred tax credited/(charged) 7N [ R £ UR 25
to the income statement KHBFAS
during the year (kR 2
i (13,202) 38,066 (24,686) 24,738 24,916
Exchange realignment b 5 58 & 665 2,084 352 1,598 4,699
Gross deferred tax assets RZZE——F
at 31 March 2012 =A=+—H
ZIEERIE A
E R 14,285 78,863 = 66,427 159,575
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25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

178

25. IR T (48)

Group (Continued) EEE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities BREHRIEA&R
Unrealised
losses from
intragroup Revaluation of
transactions properties Others Total
SER
RPEEZ
REHRBE =g EHAh, BET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
VST T ST T ST T ST T
At 1 April 2011 R-ZZE——%F
mA—H 31,289 22,136 36,272 89,697
Deferred tax charged to REERNER =R
the income statement FBR 2 BT
during the year I8 6,813 7,598 19,908 34,319
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 2 1,137 753 1,534 3,424
Gross deferred tax liabilites WZZ——F= A
at 31 March 2012 =t+—HZEE
MIEREAR 39,239 30,487 57,714 127,440
Net deferred tax charged to AFEERNEW R
the income statement R ZIEER
during the year (note 11) TRRRE (AL 11) 9,403
Net deferred tax assets R-E——F=A
recognised in the =t+—HELHE
consolidated statement B 75 71K 0 = P T
of financial position at RZEBELEHRIBE
31 March 2012 =R 32,135

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
HK$86,072,000 (2012: HK$121,775,000) which are due to
expire within five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the subsidiaries in which the losses arose. These
tax losses and certain deductible temporary differences of
HK$22,692,000 (2012: HK$32,090,000) have not been
recognised as deferred tax assets since they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been making losses for some time.

AEBREFBABEZHRBEBERAEBE
86,072,0007C (= & — = £ : & %121,775,000
L) TAREKEEABSEBZHBARZRAK
JERRFER  HMEBRAFTRER - ARULSH
BEEBMETOUHNREREEZEAEE
22,692,0007T (ZZ —=4 : & #32,090,0007T)
REBELEEE—BRERZHBERAR - Ik
MRABEEHREEE -
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25.

20.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Group (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement has
become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rates are 5% and
10%.

At 31 March 2013, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of
the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In
the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled HK$1,228,713,000 (2012:
HK$739,348,000) at 31 March 2013.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

INVENTORIES

25.

EAERTE(E)
FEEE)

BEHREAREE)
BEFBEEMESHE  PBRKKEZIINHE
BERERAMEEEEDRKRS - BIE10% 2T
EBRTBNH - ZRTR_EENF—H—H
BEERYBERAR-_ETLF+-_A=+—H
CREEZAN WASEEEREBEFEEM
RPEAEHBRATH_EENF—A—H
BEE AR TR EHMEBEN
B o fﬁ’**EPIﬂ*éﬁwl\l&;éf%zmﬁ%%i%
EEFEFMAERSHE MERZENHREX
A TREE - AEEZHE %m%%w&w%

R-E—=F=ZA=+—8  ®iAEBLRF
B REZHBARERRKELRF Z BN
BHRmME  WARRTMELCHE -5
RAEEARBER  ZEMBATEITE DR
ZEF R TE—=F=ZA=1+—H8  @)h
BAEZHBARZNEEBZEREEZR
BEEREIATNECHBECRE) BBE
1,228,713,000c (= T — = F: & ¥
739,348,0007T) °

ARABRABRRSAZBE -
% ]

TEMABMEHRRE

26. 78

Group

XEE
2013 2012
—F—=% —F——F
HK$’000 HK$000
BETR ok

Trading stock B51FE

5,793,742 5,154,490
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27. DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS 27. B (BN EHEFZHKIE

Group
&
2013 2012
—E—-=5 ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
EBETT BT I
Gross amount due from contract BErfAEMEWGIE Z BIKEL
customers included in other KPERIBZ B
receivables 388,985 515,583
Gross amount due to contract BEff AEtENRBZENELH
customers included in other payables KPR ZB%8 (39,660) (48,796)
349,325 466,787
Contract costs incurred plus recognised BB E E £ 2 & %K A 11 E R
profits less recognised losses to date s AR B T R S 18 1,830,785 1,276,636
Less: Progress billings B HE R (1,481,460) (809,849)
349,325 466,787
28. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 28. BINEB IR A N EWEE
Group
&
2013 2012
—E—-=%F —ET——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT I
Trade and bills receivables JE W B 5 1R 5K 11,147,895 11,513,335
Impairment BB (823,135) (725,908)
10,324,760 10,787,427
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28. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 28. EW B FRANEWEIE ()
(Continued)

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEEFZUEERFANEBERR TE%% (S
credit, except for new customers, where payment in N HE—REERHEFEMNKRE - EEH
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally — A A30E180K ° $El¥Tﬁﬂiuﬁl@E§\H& b4
30 to 180 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control HEWmBRECEE UREEEEEINM -
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control BREEERRRAERE BEEETHR
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are SBEIREE c AEBEARRREERITEEWN
reviewed regularly by management. The Group does not EHRmAEEEMMNAEEREE - BRES
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its MR SR BB o

trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the REEER - REZAHFTERNBRBER
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and FEU E 5 iR 3k K JE W R 4B 2 IR e 9 AT 5 1% 40
net of impairment is as follows: N
Group
AEE
2013 2012
—g—-=f —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR BT T
Within 30 days 30K A 5,013,732 4,616,485
31 to 60 days 31£260K 1,396,454 2,494,412
61 to 90 days 61Z290K 816,325 547,398
91 to 180 days 91E180K 1,671,920 1,842,493
Over 180 days B #@180K 1,426,329 1,286,639
10,324,760 10,787,427
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28. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

182

(Continued)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

28. R B ZIRF N RWRE(E)

EWE SRR MERB 2 ZEFBNT

Group

xE
2013 2012
—E-=f —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
At 1 April R A—H 725,908 689,303
Amount written off as uncollectible AU E 2 i 5 & 58 (10,906) (7,588)
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) TR 2 Rk E B 18 (AT 7£7) 116,948 19,5614
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR (15,892) —
Exchange realignment b o 32 7,077 24,679
At 31 March R=A=+—H 823,135 725,908

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$21,135,000 (2012: HK$145,831,000) with
a carrying amount before provision of HK$29,285,000
(2012: HK$232,422,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables related to
customers that were in financial difficulties and only a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

LANEFEEKE SRS ZRERE2ENR
B 18 B IR T B A 78 1629,285,000T (- E——
& 1 B #282,422,0007T) 2 18 5| FE UK E 5 1R 3K
BB B BB 21,135,000 (ZE——4F:
75 #5145,831,0007T) °

BRI EKEZRRZBETTAREPHEAL
7 B R B SRR R IR SRR B AT e ) o
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28. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 28. EW B FRANEWEIE ()

(Continued)

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are
not collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

THREREBEZEEESRALEBRER 2K
R OMFBAOT :

Group
AEH
2013 2012
—T—=% —FT——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRI T ST
Neither past due nor impaired A EH B RBE 8,501,130 9,313,844
Less than 30 days past due 0 H D 30K 814,584 476,425
9,315,714 9,790,269

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of the
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are
amounts due from associates and a jointly-controlled entity
of the Group of HK$1,772,000 (2012: HK$772,000) and
HK$78,000 (2012: Nil), respectively, which are repayable on
similar credit terms to those offered to the major customers
of the Group.

fE MBS IEAE B BR A A | 2012/13 F 3R

AEBMARBEZEBBERTIEZEETE
FER WEEOHABHERRIBZLHE -

B HAR (B 3 M ORE 2 FE IR K T R T8
UEFAR  REEFPEASERNAREMNE
ARk RIBBERR ARREERR/A
MZERBITBEFTRFELRERE  TRZ
ERFPZEEEEYEE ANEE MR RER
REBERAR AR B E -

AEBEKEZGRALERZESEDIERE
WARESZ ZMBL 28 K—BEERZEH
¥ 7 FED R AAEE 772,000 (ZE——4F:
FEME772,0007T) M B 78,000 (ZE——4F :
/) WEEBDREBRETFAEEXIEZRF
2L EEKRREE -
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28.

184

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Financial assets that are derecognised in their
entirety

At 31 March 2013, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by reputable banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order to
settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of HK$184,290,000. The
Derecognised Bills have a maturity from one to six months
at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the
Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of
the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the
Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the
Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full
carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the
associated trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to
repurchase these Derecognised Bills equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised
Bills are not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or
loss on the date of transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No
gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively.

28. R B ZIRF N RWRE(E)

EEBRUAEHERZEMEE

NZE—=ZF=ZA=+—H AEEREET
HEFEEFTRNEZBNRITEMNNE TE
WEE((KRIEEREE] - UBEERFZSH
EENENESERI REERBAAE
184,290,0007C - MEREHIR - RILTERZ
NERENT—Z2XEA - RIEFBEZEEL
WMZSEPERITHEL RIEERZEFEA
HASERBBER(BEILRD - ESFR
B AEEDEBEBRIEERZEREARITD
Efe M EER - At » EERIERZRIEER
ZENEEAENESRANZEIEERE - K
SEABES R IEERERREE &L
BREZEENATRRSAMEHOESEIE
ERESERERTE - ESRAE  AEEHE
BRRIEBEREZENAFEELIEKX -

AEER AKEYERBERILERRRE
ZEBAETAER AKRELERFEIR
ERAFEANK R B °
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29. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. He RIREFEEY
Group Company
AEHE ARA T
2013 2012 2013 2012
—¥-=F T Z¥T-=% "—T—_fF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETR ST T BT T ok i
Cash and bank balances 5 & RIRITH 4 3,530,666 3,785,901 1,912 1,974
Time deposits JE #3757 3K 658,853 468,065 - —
Cash and cash equivalents BRERBESEEYD 4,189,519 4,253,966 1,912 1,974

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
equivalents of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$3,880,271,000 (2012: HK$3,670,551,000).
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term
time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

1N EIS AR AR AR | 2012/13 ¥R

RMERR  AEBUARBE(TAREDEE
2B e RReEEY A H AES,880,271,000
TT(ZF — =4 : B ¥3,670,551,0007T) - A R
BAGEBRARAREMEY - AW - BIFPEH
REZHNEEBREF REE NERSES
BHT AEEEBEEEBEREETIIESE
BeBRITHARBR B BAEMER -

RITERDIRERBITERNELFH A X
AR BHMERERNERPLA-—RE—
FAE  KAKENERRESFLME @ LR
FRIEFE M A B B3 77 AR R B ERF B - SR 1T
EHERNOHYBENCEMEEREZR
1T °
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30. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is

30. BN EZIRZ M EMNEIE

RBEHR  ZHZAHFERNESRR KL
ENEEZREDITFHBDOT

as follows:

Group

AEEH
2013 2012
—E—=%F —ET—=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETRT BT T
Within 30 days 30K A 5,981,589 5,829,962
31 to 60 days 31£260K 1,992,868 3,303,573
61 to 90 days 61E290X 1,247,136 1,104,136
Over 90 days B 1BO0K 1,651,892 2,077,801
10,873,485 12,315,472

Included in the Group’s trade and bills payables are
amounts due to associates of the Group of HK$1,446,000
(2012: HK$1,839,000), which are repayable on similar credit
terms to those obtained from the major suppliers of the

Group.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled within a period of 30 to 180 days.

186

AEBEENESRARENZERSEBIERE
NAEBZzZEBLEARZRBAEE
1,446,0007T (= Z ——4F : j5#1,839,0007T) °
WERBRTDIBREAEEZEHEFNETZ
BUEEGRREE -

FERT B B R B MR - I —ARHNB0E180K
HIRAEME -
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31. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. PTEE T A

Group

AEEH
2013 2012
—E—-=%5 —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
EBETT BT

Assets BE

Forward currency contracts RHEELS 4 53,511 92,440

The Group has entered into various forward currency
contracts to manage its exchange rate exposure. Net fair
value gains of such derivative financial instruments
amounting to HK$113,981,000 (2012: HK$181,922,000) were
credited to the income statement during the year (note 5).

The above transactions involving derivative financial

instruments are conducted with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

1N EIS AR AR AR | 2012/13 ¥R

AEBEFVZEHRPEBAHUEE LEX
Ef - ETOTASHRIENQAFEEFRZE
& B #113,081,00070 (= T — = F: B &
181,922,0007T) 5T A RAFE R Yz 7= (i 7
5) e

P FETAEERIAZRSHEEER TR
T R 4D 8 2 RITHETT ©
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 32. [MEIRITER
2013 2012
—E—-=% B F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity ~ HK$’000
BRI B A R
(BS L) HHE #EFT (o) BB BETT
Group AEHE
Current i Bh
Bank loans, unsecured SRTER EEH  0.95-5.60 2013-2014 2,211,709 1.98-7.87 2012-2013 1,468,521
Bank loans, secured RITER B 6.30 2013-2014 24,682 6.56-7.54 2012-2013 106,184
Current portion of long term  KHEIRITER ZRE
bank loans, unsecured BB{n - I 0.99-1.78 2013-2014 529,500 0.99-6.78 2012-2013 749,190
2,765,891 2,323,895
Non-current FEFHE
Bank loans, unsecured RITE R - MKMW 1.34-2.83 2014-2015 2,712,494 0.99-1.85 2013-2014 1,692,000
5,478,385 4,015,895
Company VNG|
Current 8D
Bank loans, unsecured WITER - EBEA  1.38-1.85 2013 738,751 — — —
Non-current FEiRE
Bank loan, unsecured SRITER - EEE - 1.85 2013 390,000
738,751 390,000
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 32. Mt BRITER(E)
(Continued)
Group Company
AEH AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—=F T Z¥-=%F =Z—ZT——F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETIT BEETIT BT T BT T
Analysed into: DITEAE
Bank loans repayable: JEEZERTER:
Within one year —FR 2,765,891 2,323,895 738,751 =
In the second year E-FNR 1,162,500 529,500 — 390,000
In the third to fifth years, FE=FZF
inclusive EFERF(BIE
HEMFE) 1,549,994 1,162,500 - —
5,478,385 4,015,895 738,751 390,000
Notes: W1t :
(@  The Company guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans @ RWMEBR ARAFERETAEERTE

of HK$4,459,373,000 (2012: HK$3,236,110,000) at the end of
the reporting period.

Certain of the Group’s bank loans of HK$24,682,000 (2012:
HK$24,410,000) extended by a financial institution to a
subsidiary of the Group, Digital China Jinxin Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Beijing Jinxin”), were secured by fixtures and office
equipment with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$25,721,000 (2012: HK$26,657,000) at the end of the
reporting period in favour of Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech
Guaranty Co., Ltd., an independent third party, for securing
a guarantee issued by such pledgee on behalf of Beijing
Jinxin at the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, a subsidiary of the
Group, Digital China Technology Limited, entered into a
facility agreement with a syndicate of banks for a three-year
loan facility of US$150 million for the purpose of financing
general working capital of the Group. Included in the
Group’s non-current bank borrowings of HK$1,163 million
(equivalent to US$150 million) as at 31 March 2013
represented the syndicated loan repayable in three years
from the date of the drawdown and were guaranteed by the
Company.

1N EIS AR AR AR | 2012/13 ¥R

A NEA,459,373,000L (Z T —ZF B

3,236,110,0007T) fEHH HE R

NEB ZREIRTE R A B ¥24,682,0007C
(ZZ——4F : 7 124,410,0007T) 2 1 £ B #
BRFAEE 2 —HEHBRRSMNEESE
REROBRAR(EREE]D)  TUARHE
B HIRE (B 4258 &8 #25,721,000T (=&
—— 1 : B#26,657,0007T) KB RHAER
BERYF—BBLE = RPN R E
REBRRE  WERBABRAREKILEREE
ZERERZER-

REE—T——F=A=+—HIEFERN &
SEZ-RNBARMMNBEBENEERER
REERERT - DREGE  BRHEER
10EBETZ=FERME - BIEREEN
—REEES  BER-ZT—Z=ZF=ZA=+
—AAREEZFERDRITERRBE163A
&L (1508 & T) BANIR A A HR A
“FRNEEZREER  THARBREE
& o
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32. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

32. MRIRITER(E)

By et (&)

(d) At 31 March 2012, certain of the Group’s bank loans of d R-ZE——F=ZA=+—H8 KEEETIEFT
HK$81,774,000 extended by financial institutions to a B DRk AE81,774,000T © 2 A B
subsidiary of the Group, Beijing Digital China Si-Tech B TAEE 2 — KB A R L = 1 N 25
Information Technology Co., Ltd. (*STQ”), were secured by a BREIFEERMKROBERAT(EESR] 1
property situated in Mainland China with a value of WRZZE——F=A=+—REEBEASK
HK$26,422,000 and trade receivables with an aggregate 26,422,000 AR Bl KBE 2 —TEME R HE
carrying amount of HK$64,021,000 at 31 March 2012, and R T B 48 %8 A 8 564,021,000t 2 TEW E 5
8,229,004 issued shares of STQ in favour of Beijing R FR A K B FT #98,229,004 % B 2 17 I 1D
Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd., an independent BEERF—MBLE = RPN BHIER
third party, for securing a guarantee issued by such pledgee BRAR  WERABRARRERFZER
on behalf of STQ at 31 March 2012. PER Z B4R ©

(e)  Except for bank borrowings of HK$1,253,994,000 (2012: ) BB #1,253,994,000 (ZFE —Z—F: B K
HK$1,458,876,000) and HK$4,193,538,000 (2012: 1,458,876,0007T) & & #4,193,538,0007T (=
HK$2,035,739,000) which are denominated in Hong Kong T — 4 :2,035,739,0007T) 2 $RITE A LA B
dollars and United States dollars, respectively, all bank BITRETIEN  ABERTEFHEAAR
borrowings are denominated in RMB. KEDIME o

.
33. BOND PAYABLE 33. EN{EF
Group
XEEH
2013 2012
—T—-=F —T——F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BB BT
Current k2 37,023 —
Non-current B - 36,615
37,023 36,615
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33. BOND PAYABLE (Continued) 33. B EH (&)

Note: In September 2010, the Group completed the acquisition of Mg RZZE—ZTFNA AEEEKABILE=

the remaining 89.56% equity interest in Beijing Jinxin
Technology Co., Ltd. (now named as “Digital China Jinxin
Technology Co., Ltd.”) from independent third parties (the
“Acquisition”). Beijing Jinxin was owned as to 10.44% by the
Group prior to the Acquisition and subsequent to which, it
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. In August
2010, i.e., before the Acquisition, Beijing Jinxin and twelve
other companies being independent third parties of the
Group (collectively referred as the “Issuers”) issued “2010
Collective Bonds of Zhongguancun High-tech SME” (“2010
Bonds”) to institutional and public investors in Mainland
China through the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The
aggregate principal amount of the 2010 Bonds is RMB383
million, of which Beijing Jinxin accounts for RMB30 million
(equivalent to HK$37 million). The fund raised by Beijing
Jinxin was applied to the development of its ATM network
construction project. The 2010 Bonds which carry interest at
a rate of 5.18% per annum, will mature in August 2016, and
are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed in full with
joint liabilities by Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty
Co., Ltd., an independent third party, from the first to third
years of the issuance (“ZGC Guarantee”). At the same time,
ZGC Guarantee is guaranteed by Beijing SMEs Credits Re-
guarantee Co., Ltd., and also guaranteed by Beijing Jinxin
for the principal amount of the 2010 Bonds it accounted for
(i.e., RMB30 million). The Investors’ Put Option and the
Issuers’ Full Redemption Option in respect of the 2010
Bonds may be exercised under the following circumstances:
if the Issuers can provide a guarantor with good reputation
before the conclusion of the interest period in the third year
of the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, investors may opt to
hold the 2010 Bonds in full or in part and/or exercise the
Investors’ Put Option to sell the 2010 Bonds back to the
Issuers within five working days from the publication of the
announcement in respect of information regarding the
continuing guarantee; and if the Issuers cannot provide a
guarantor with good reputation before the conclusion of the
interest period in the third year of the issuance of the 2010
Bonds, the Issuers shall redeem the 2010 Bonds in full.
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FBIE RIS EREROBRAR (GRS
BlNSBESERIEBRMERAR DG T2
89.56% M5 ([ BB D(R L AT - AEEE
WAL RE(E210.44%05#) - IRtk EE%
tREERALTEE —W2EREWBRT -
RZZE—ZFN\AEIRKELZSEHR TR
R A REERT - REMOE(KREEZ
BUE=ZH)GRBIBITADBERRINEER
ST BITHEE A ARIE383E &It 2 [20104F
FRENSHRTR N EEEAERI(ZE—
TEEE)FPEAEZHRELATRES
RS EMRTESFSEABARBIEEL
(HEEEBITEEL) EENESARNER
ATMB B ERIER - W T —ZSFEHFHNTF
FEA5I8BEBER-_ZE—XF/\AZE I
MBYE=FtRPENERERBERAR
B T TFEHFREFEFFEE=F2
BHEKGTURENESTETRBERIH
BNER]D R BB E=FERFA/ DD
X EABERERAAAPENERREHE
R MEREEEAEE_T—ZFELHH
tREEMETESSBEBIAREI0EET)
MPEANERREEER W —ZTFEH
RUTEBEREEEELEREREREITAR
PREERLE BERHTARZSE—ZFEEH
BEoFAHEHRAIEREER TMERA
BREAEERERTABLEEERBERLRE
BRAGRIERANREBEEZBRBHFE
TE-ZTFEEER/RTFEREREES S
T-EFEHEAERBITA BBITARZE
—EFBEHFNE-FHEHMAIREIRMESE
BRITHERA BIBTAAZEELRN-Z
—TFEF o
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. f& 7N
Shares % 13
2013 2012
—F—-=% —T——F
HK$°000 HK$’000
EEET T BT T
Authorised: SRR
2,000,000,000 (2012: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,0000% (=& —— 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2012: 2,000,000,0000% ) & J& (B 75
HK$0.1) each oA (ZE ——F : BI04
TL) 2 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER K
1,093,463,581 (2012: 1,092,734,581) 1,093,463,581/% (- T —— £ :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 (2012: 1,092,734,581% ) & i% [ B 7
HK$0.1) each O (Z T —— 4 : B0
JC) 2 E B 109,346 109,273

A summary of the movements in the Company’s issued
share capital and share premium account during the years

REBEE-_ET—=FxK-_FT——F=A=+—8H
EFER  ARARMBERITIRAR KD &ER

ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 is as follows: BEIE LT
Number of
ordinary Share
shares in Issued premium
issue capital account Total
21T 21T % 3
T iE e E % it {8 IR et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT AETT AETT
At 1 April 2011 R-ZZE——FMA—H 1,091,212,581 109,121 2,041,222 2,150,343
Exercise of share options (note) 17 1% B& I 4% (A1 72) 1,522,000 152 11,484 11,636
At 31 March 2012 and R-ZT——F
1 April 2012 ZA=+—Hk
—ZT——FmA—H 1,092,734,581 109,273 2,052,706 2,161,979
Exercise of share options (note) 171 & I # (41 52) 729,000 73 5,630 5,703
At 31 March 2013 A= —=4F
=H=+—H 1,093,463,581 109,346 2,058,336 2,167,682
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

35.

Shares (Continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2013, the subscription rights

attaching to 727,000 (2012: 1,521,000) and 2,000 (2012:
1,000) share options were exercised at subscription prices at
HK$5.89 and HK$15.04 per share, respectively, resulting in
the issue of a total of 729,000 (2012: 1,522,000) ordinary
shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration of
HK$4,312,000 (2012: HK$8,974,000). An amount of
HK$1,391,000 (2012: HK$2,662,000) was transferred from
the employee share-based compensation reserve to the
share premium account upon the exercise of the share
options.

Share-based incentive schemes

Details of the Company’s share option schemes and
restricted share award scheme are included in note 35 to
the financial statements.

SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES
(@) Share Option Schemes

The Company operates two share option schemes.
One of the share option schemes was adopted on 18
July 2002 (the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) and the
other share option scheme was adopted on 15
August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”) (the
2002 Share Option Scheme together with the 2011
Share Option Scheme, hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Share Option Schemes”).

The principal terms of the Share Option Schemes are
as follows:

() Purpose

The Share Option Schemes seek to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions or potential
contributions made or to be made by the
qualified persons (as defined below) to the
Group, to motivate the qualified persons to
optimise their performance and efficiency for the
benefit of the Group, and to maintain or attract
business relationships with the qualified persons
whose contributions are or may be beneficial to
the growth of the Group.
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34, IR (48)
B 6y (48)
Wit REE-_ZE—=F=ZA=+t—HIFER "

727,000 (=& ——4F : 1,521,0001p) & 2,000
B (=T —=4F :1,00019) [ B RE#EZBER
W B A AR 78 #5.807T I 8 #615.04 T 2 R
IEEEITE - Btk - A5F729,000 (=& —=
F :1,522,0000%) #REEB LI 2B
LA #8318 & R (B A7 84,312,000 (2 — =
& 1 B 8,074,0007T) T IABE 1T o R BERLE &
ITER - A 8B 1,391,000t (2 ——4F:
75 #62,662,0007T) M BEE AN EE
e HEERETRMDEER -

R # 3 Bh =t 8l

B B A ) B IR £ R S R AR 1) 5% D
1 0 5 5 10 Lk B 75 98 2 I 285 <

. AR B T S

R M gt 8l
ARBEIEMEBRETS - Ep— (B
RSN -_ET_FLAHN\R(I=Z
ToFBREFIDEMA Mx— @B
BEASR_FE——F N \ATRA(=Z
——FEEEGFEDERN(CET_FRH
BEFEI R T —FEREASET
N Al BRER Al -

BRI M EZGERAT

n Hs
BREEEERANEHNEER
AT (BEEBRETXOHAEEMES
HBIEL 2 BRI ATRE Z BB - #
NHBEERALTRAEE 2 s
BEFLBRESREZRE Wi
FHAARERERALNERH
% AEBAIWERMEEXEA
RASENERE -
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35. SHARE-BASED

194

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)
(@) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

()

(i

(Iv)

Qualified persons

Any part-time or full-time employee or officer or
director (including executive, non-executive or
independent non-executive directors) of any
member of the Group or of any associated
company, or any supplier, agent, customer, joint
venture partner, strategic alliance partner,
distributor, professional adviser of, or consultant
or contractor to, any member of the Group, or
the trustee of any trust pre-approved by the
board of directors of the Company the
beneficiary (or in case of discretionary trust, the
discretionary objects) of which includes any of
the above-mentioned persons.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares available for
issue under the 2002 Share Option Scheme was
86,303,308 and under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme was 109,206,058, which represents
7.89% and 9.99% of share capital of the
Company in issue as at the date of this report
respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each qualified
person

The maximum number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted
under the Share Option Schemes and any other
share option schemes of the Company to each
qualified person (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company then in issue. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of
the Company.

35. A A BB At & ()

(a)

RE Iz 5T B (48)

(1)

(my

(V)

B&EBAL

AREETMKERRSHEMEZ RN
AlzEAzBEARBESERSZAA
BEF (BENT - FFRTHE L
FATES) IAKEETAKER
AlzEmitEm K2 -FF - -4
SR OREUBMBREME D8
B BEXRARARERNAER
EARRFEFTGRCHEMT @A
B EBEAAL ZEMEFEGE
HAZEER  ASEERENY
RIZEFEAN

EaEHEE

T -FRRERT ST 3
12 & &= # B /86,303,308
B mE S ——FHEREFET
AEETZROESEE A
109,206,0580% * % RGN F 3 B
Bl 2 RA R B2 %17 IR A7.89% &
9.99% °

BEAEBALTTERZERH
B
BEEERATHEEMNT_EAH
R B BB A ot 8| R AN R AME M A
i B R A At BI R R 2 FE AR (B
RETERAEARITR)  EITERET
RBETRETETZESROEE
THBEARAERDEHITRN
1% - ERE— SR BBEB I LR
ZERE  9AFERRRARRRK
RARGLHIMER  HAMEE -
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35. SHARE-BASED

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)
(@) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(IV) Maximum entitlement of each qualified

v)

person (Continued)

Any grant of options to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-
executive directors of the Company (except
when the independent non-executive director is
the grantee of such options).

Any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company or any of their respective associates
must, in addition to obtaining the approval of the
independent non-executive directors of the
Company, be approved by the shareholders of
the Company in a general meeting if such
proposed grant of share options, when
aggregated with all options (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) already granted to
such substantial shareholder or independent
non-executive director during the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such
grant of options, would (i) entitle that relevant
person to receive more than 0.1% of the total
issued share capital of the Company for the time
being; and (ii) represent an aggregate value in
excess of HK$5,000,000 based on the closing
price of the shares of the Company on the
Stock Exchange at the date of such grant.

Timing for exercise of options

The period during which an option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Schemes shall be the period set
out in the relevant offer letter, provided that such
period must expire on the date falling on the
tenth anniversary of the relevant offer date.

fE MBS IEAS A BR A A | 2012/13 F 3R

35. R BB At & ()

(a)

RE R HE ST &8I (48)
(Iv) BEEERATTERZESHE

v)

(&)

ERAARAES - THRASRKE
BERRIMESTEZIHBEARLE
PRt - WREANRTE] 2B IETT
EFETERIRLTREREAR
ANZBIIEMITER)RA

EMAARARZ EBREBERIELIE
WITESARSSACHBBEARD
FEALRERS  EERR N 2 R
TEEEZARNEREZAL (8
EZAER) T —ERHEANEE T
ZEITERREBLIERITEEZF
ERERECTRE2CITE  EHK
MATE) S (\FZEBALE
TR B 9 AR B AR B AR A R B B B B
1T AR AR 48 B e 0.1% ¢ K (i) 3% AR A A
O ZEHBSEBR ATz KT
BFrE - H@BE BB E5,000,000
JL 0 BIBR T BB A QR B IEH
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T ERARRRELE -

TR EZ AR
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35. SHARE-BASED

196

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)
(@) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

(Vi)

(v

Acceptance of offers

An offer of the grant of an option shall be
accepted by the grantee on or before the last
date for acceptance of such offer as set out in
the relevant offer letter, which must not be more
than 28 business days from the relevant offer
date. A consideration of HK$1.00 shall be
received by the Company on acceptance of each
offer.

Basis for determination of the subscription
price

The subscription price shall be the highest of (a)
the closing price of the shares on the offer date;
(b) the average of the closing prices of the
shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; or (c) the nominal value
of a share.

(VINl) Life of Share Option Schemes

The 2002 Share Option Scheme and 2011
Share Option Scheme shall remain valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing
from 18 July 2002 and 15 August 2011,
respectively, being the dates on which such
schemes were deemed to take effect in
accordance with their terms.

35. A A BB At & ()

(a)

RE Iz 5T B (48)
(V) EREH
B ZNBNE R EL KT

BENZEN  RERBES A
BEANR AR - MR S8R
EHZOBEEET z28EE XA -
GIE B4R ENEARA T AR
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35. SHARE-BASED

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)
(@) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The following table shows the movements in the share
options under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during
the year and the options outstanding at the beginning
and end of the year:

35. R BB At & ()

(a) FBRx#ERTEI(E)
TR E_FTT_FHERETE B
BERAFERNZEE  UERREFENR

FREARITE 2 BB A

Number of share options

MR EKE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding Subscription
as at during during during as at price per Date of Exercisable
Grantee 1/4/2012 the year the year the year 31/3/2013 share grant period
R=T—=%F RZB—=%
mA—B KEE KEE *&EE =A=+—H
-3 PN 1 K 1T £ AR AT & AR K HAITE SRIBE RHEHBEH TEH
(HK$)
(note iij) (note i) (note if)
&%)
(B atiii) (B 2t1) (K 72i)
Directors S
GUO Wei BR 960,000 - - - 960,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
LIN Yang w15 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
Other employees HithgS 3,844,000 - (727,000) - 3,117,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-20/05/2016
4,949,000 e (2,000  (202,000) 4,745,000 15.04 11/01/2011 11/01/2012-10/01/2019
2,000,000 £ — (2,000,000) £ 13.288  15/06/2011  15/06/2012-14/06/2019
In aggregate At 12,753,000 —  (729,000) (2,202,000) 9,822,000
H &t -

Notes:

(i)

(i

(ii)

(iv)

The subscription price of the options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

All options granted are subject to a vesting period of
four years with 25% becoming exercisable on the first
anniversary, 25% on the second anniversary, 25% on
the third anniversary and 25% on the fourth
anniversary of the respective dates of grant.

The weighted average of the closing prices of the
Company’s shares immediately preceding and at the
dates of exercise of options were HK$13.21 and
HK$13.23 per share, respectively.

No options were granted and cancelled under the 2002
Share Option Scheme during the year.
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(i)

(i

(ii)

R RO ) P (B 2 25 B AL
RS R A A R A B L 0 A T 35

B o
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FRA 3% 2 BB A R 19 32 I A R B PO 4R 1
BEH - H2s% A iR & A AT
m—IRFEZ AFBRTTE - 26% A M
BEZARBITE  265%FRm=BF
ZERBITE - R25% A KM MAE 2
BRIETITEE -

AATBMREEBREREITEAIR

TERZMEFHWTED R ASRE
#13.217C & 75 #513.237T °
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BB Ao M BT BB JE X HUH o
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35. SHARE-BASED
(Continued)

(@) Share Option Schemes (Continued)

198

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at general meetings.

Since the adoption of the 2011 Share Option Scheme,
no options were granted, lapsed or cancelled under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The fair values of the share options granted during the
prior years amounted to HK$53,000,000, of which the
Group recognised share option expenses of
HK$2,720,000 (2012: HK$16,421,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2013.

The fair values of the share options granted under the
2002 Share Option Scheme were estimated as at the
dates of grant, using a binomial model, taking into
account of the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. The following table lists the
inputs to the model used:

35. R A BB At & ()

(a)

RE iz #E 5T 81 (4])

BRETEETHAAZERBEANK
RRGLEEMERN -

AWM T —FRRE B B
BB AR U = T — — 4 T U T B
R EY o

RBEFERBRHERENLFEER
A AB53,000,0007T - REE-Z—
—FZRA=T—HIEFER  AEBER
BE I HE R S BB 162,720,000T (ZE ——
F ¢ 3 116,421,0007T) °

E_ZT_FBEREFITAROER
BzZAFEEDNENEEHEAREZ
AABRAGEE  EFEFEBEREZR
HARSR S - TREINIRAERE Z &
BER:

Granted on:

R :

15 June 2011
—g——%
AA+EH

11 January 2011 21 May 2008
—B——%5 —BENE
—A+—H ARA=+—H

Dividend vyield (%)
REX(BEDL)

Expected volatility (%)
T8 B 8 (B 2 k)

Historical volatility (%)
BERE(ED L)

Risk-free interest rate (%)

ERBRAME(BESLEL)

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share)
N RRE (BB T)

3.5 per annum
BF35

47 per annum
FF47

47 per annum
& F47

1.8 per annum
B F1.8

13.06

3.5 per annum
BF35

48 per annum
G448

48 per annum
T F48

2.1 per annum
FF21

14.98

3.5 per annum
BF35

45 per annum
FE45

45 per annum
T F45

2.6 per annum
FF26

5.89
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35. SHARE-BASED

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Share Option Schemes (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the
historical data over the past three years and is not
necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may
occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual
outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was
incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
9,822,000 (2012: 12,753,000) share options outstanding
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme. The exercise in
full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the
issue of 9,822,000 (2012: 12,753,000) additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$982,000 (2012: HK$1,275,000) and share
premium of HK$100,286,000 (2012: HK$133,919,000)
(before issue expenses).

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Company’s RSA Scheme was adopted on 28
March 2011 for the purpose of rewarding and
motivating, among others, directors (including
executive and non-executive) and employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Participants”) with
the shares of the Company. The RSA Scheme is
intended to attract and retain the best available
personnel, and encourage and motivate the
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Group and the Company’s shares by aligning their
interests with those of the shareholders of the
Company.

fE MBS IEAG A BR A Al | 2012/13 F 3R
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(a)

(b)
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35. SHARE-BASED
(Continued)

(b) Restricted Share Award Scheme (Continued)

200

INCENTIVE SCHEMES

Pursuant to the RSA Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee of the RSA
Scheme from the market out of cash contributed by
the Group and be held in trust for the relevant
Participants until such shares are vested with the
relevant Participants in accordance with the provisions
of the RSA Scheme. The shares of the Company
granted under the RSA Scheme and held by the
trustee until vesting are referred to as the RSUs and
each RSU shall represent one ordinary share of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the trustee
purchased 23,274,000 shares of the Company at a
total cost (including related transaction costs) of
HK$335,873,000 and a total number of 24,929,000
RSUs were granted to the Participants. No share of
the Company had been purchased by the trustee
during the year ended 31 March 2013.

A total number of 1,067,200 (2012: 130,000) RSUs
were lapsed under the RSA Scheme during the year
and the number of RSUs outstanding as at 31 March
2013 is 23,731,800 (2012: 24,799,000). All RSUs will
be vested on 1 August 2014 subject to fulfilment of
certain performance targets.

The fair values of the RSUs granted were calculated
based on the market price of the Company’s shares
at the respective grant dates. The expected dividend
yield of 3.5% per annum and the risk-free interest
rates ranging from 0.633% to 1.154% per annum have
been taken into account when assessing the fair value
of these RSUs.

The weighted average fair value of the RSUs granted
during the year ended 31 March 2012 was HK$12.53
per share. The Group recognised the RSUs expenses
of HK$62,267,000 (2012: HK$74,097,000) into the
consolidated income statement during the year ended
31 March 2013.

35. R A BB At & ()

(b)

X PR Bz 4 28 Bh =t B (48)

RIBE RSB A BN A &) - RS A
RRFEEEFABALEERR 2R S
RHHLEBEARNRRRE 2 BRI AE
ETARERA2EERE EEEHER
DRI Z BRI 22 B R &) 2 R 5K 57 88
THEEZ2EE - EXRGI 0D REE S
TERYYTHEXAFEEEZERB RN
BAZRBIBD - &R 2R RN R
K BRARRE O E BB

REBEE-_Z——F=A=+—B1ItFE
N XTEARER SN (BEHEEZSEH)
& #335,873,000C B A K A 7
23,274,000 % % 15 Jx #£ 3% 124,929,000 %
ZREIRD FLEE  REE_T—=
FZA=+—HILEFERN LTALE
BEARQFRMD -

RAFERN  EXRHZMDEEET
A1,067,2000% (= & — — 4 : 130,000/%)
ZRABDERBIER-_ZT—=ZF=A
=+—H#AB23,731,800f (— T ——4:
24,799,000 Z R HIfn - EFEH T
FEBER  IAXBRHBROBERZZ
—OFENA—BEB -

EETERIBRNOAFEEADEER
ARABRMAREREBHOTETE - B
AEXRHBROMNATFTEERESEZETRE
HARS B R A& H3.5% N E B F R R F
FF0.633% E1154% °

RBE-_Z——F=A=+—H1ItFE
N EREREBRRG M INEFS AT
BEAEREEI2E3T REE-_Z—
=F=R=+—HFERXN  AEEZRER
AWEmRANERZRHR G BB
62,267,000L(= & — = F: H ¥
74,097,0007T) °
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36. RESERVES

(a)

i

36. f#

Group (a) &%
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the AEERAFER LFEZHENIEBR
movements therein for the current and prior years are FHoEII NP BRR 2 EEER
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in FERA -
equity of the financial statements.
Reserve funds fHEES
Reserve funds are reserves set aside in accordance FEEEAAEBERNTPRREZNBER
with the relevant PRC regulations applicable to the AETFEBEERBL 2RE - 25/
Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China. These reserve HESTANUEKIERIER BTN
funds can be used to offset accumulated losses but HERBZHTADIE °
are not be distributable in the form of cash dividends.
(b) Company (b) EAT
Employee
Share Employee share-based
premium Contributed share compensation Retained
account surplus trust reserve profits Total
LA B% 93 3% 1
B8 [-1=4
% 43 it 8 iR BAERE BREES MefE KRBEHN @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
k=3 ST BT AB¥ETT BT AT ABETT
At 31 March 2011 R=ZT—F
=A=+—~H 2,041,222 623,689 (24,041) 16,423 146,931 2,804,224
Profit for the year and AN A &
total comprehensive REEE2A
income for the year W 5 1B FR - - - - 398,628 398,628
Exercise of share options 77 fi & i #& 34 11,484 = = (2,662) = 8,822
Share-based A 242
compensation B < 35 = = = 90,518 — 90,518
Contribution to employee EEKRZE S
share trust R 35(b) - —  (335,873) - —  (335,873)
Final 2011 dividend —T——F
N HA AR B = = = = 7,796 7,796
Proposed final 2012 BT ——F
dividend REAAR 2 13 = = = —  (424,986)  (424,986)
At 31 March 2012 RZE——F
=A=+—~H 2,052,706 623,689  (359,914) 104,279 128,369 2,549,129
Profit for the year and N s A &
total comprehensive REE2E
income for the year W 25 1B 58 = = = = 483,848 483,848
Exercise of share options 17 {1 &% % 1# 34 5,630 = = (1,391) = 4,239
Share-based AR 242
compensation i & 85 = = = 64,987 — 64,987
Proposed final 2013 BK-—T—=4%F
dividend REAAR B 13 = = = = (414,592)  (414,592)
At 31 March 2013 RZE—=F
=A=+—~H 2,058,336 623,689  (359,914) 167,875 197,625 2,687,611
201
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36. RESERVES (Continued)

202

(b) Company (Continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the fair value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a corporate
reorganisation in preparation for the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the
Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended) and the
Bye-Laws of the Company, the contributed surplus
can be distributed to the shareholders, provided that
the Company will be able to pay its liabilities as they
fall due, and subsequent to the distribution, the
aggregate amount of its total liabilities as well as the
issued share capital and premium is less than the
realisable value of its assets.

The employee share-based compensation reserve
comprises the fair value of options or RSUs granted
under the share-based incentive schemes which are
yet to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for employee benefits in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The amount will either be
transferred to the share premium account when the
related options/RSUs are exercised/transferred, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related
options/RSUs expire or be forfeited.

36. f##(8)

(b)

XA (&)
ARBZEANBBRERBEREBART
BPEBRXAER EMMETZ AR
AEAMBENBRAR ZBROERFE
ERRNARBRERRIMMETZ RN E
B2&®E REABREQFEGEER)
RARRBZARAE - A BERA 5K
FTHRE  EARBLEARENERDH
ZIER - MEZBADIKE  ARE)Z4E
BEREAMEEITRAGEEDEREER
ERR#IRE -

VAR A1 B 2 BN & 17 1 e AR R R D
FEITZEET - WARITHEMBERESL
ERHBOZAFEERRBK  FHEHEAR
L B MR F2AH AR I AR ZE
ARV o RRBAE TR I
MITHE,/BE%E  ZFEETHESRE
A ER - ERBBREZR
BB MR ERR BAREAR
Gl
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37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIE

During the year, the Group entered into the share transfer
agreements for the disposal of its equity interests in certain
subsidiaries for total considerations of HK$318,472,000.

Details of the net assets disposed of under the share

R} E

S

transfer agreements and the financial

summarised below:

impacts are

37. HEMBAF
RAEE P - AR BT SRR 8 E 5 3%
EETHBARDZRIE REXAES
318,472,0007T °

REBRONEEHBEMINBEEEFERE
MBEERRNT

2013
—E—-=%
Notes HK$’000
B & BETRT
Net assets disposed of: LEEEFE:

Property, plant and equipment Wz BER&E 15 88,126
Cash and cash equivalents BehIREZEEY 83,522
Inventories &8 666
Trade and bills receivables B W E 5 IR 3 65,162

Prepayments, deposits and other T8 3R I8 I b fE Y 5k IR
receivables 280,717
Trade and bills payables BB SRR (29,845)
Other payables and accruals EMEMNRIERERER (313,417)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Bt 2 ERITE R (94,127)
Non-controlling interests FE 1 AR 2 (13,344)
67,460
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEZEE QR 2 W 5 251,012
318,472
Satisfied by cash SRHRBES 280,707
Satisfied by other receivables AT A B b FE U IR 37,765
318,472
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37. HEMBAR(E)
HESHHBARZRERESSENRA

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

An analysis of the cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents

in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: FREZ AT

2013
—E—=%5
HK$’000
BETRT
Cash consideration BHeRE 280,707
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of ERERSRREEEYD (83,522)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEZHEAMBRARI 2 RENEESH
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ER7D TN - 197,185

38. KABE
(@) R|EHF TRREHEBRERES

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(@)

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities

not provided for in the financial statements were as HRBEWT
follows:
Group Company
K AAT
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E—=F 2 ZFT-=% —_ZT—_F
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT #EETRT ABETET
Guarantees given for banking BB AREMFE A
facilities utilised by subsidiaries ZIRITREE R4
ZHER - — 6,457,775 5,240,398
Guarantees given to suppliers for &M B A Al 2 £ F
subsidiaries e R 2 B R - — 3,236,026 3,881,261
— — 9,693,801 9,121,659
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued) 38. HABEE)

(o) A few companies within the Group have been involved b) —Z2E=ZFRLXESEAHRLA KA
in certain civil litigation proceedings brought by a third BAAREAMRLE TEBNEEREMD
party in Hong Kong and Mainland China concerning AMREFD - ZBE=ZFTRZEFLE
the use of certain intellectual properties. The third NAERAZENEEENER  ED
party had made certain allegations regarding the right EBETEE LEREBEEERE L EE
to use such intellectual properties by such companies BEHNERE ZEFERABMBEREIE
of the group. The Directors have considered the Bl EER AR AR o

relevant facts as well as advice received from external
legal advisers and are of the view that it is not
practicable to predict the outcome of such
proceedings at this stage.

39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 30. KEHELH
(@) As lessor (@) fEBHAA
The Group leases its investment properties (note 16 to AEEREBELEHETHEHAERED
the financial statements) under operating lease ¥ (Y BMRMsE16) > Frad A
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms MAF-_Z201F  BABKRKBTEEKX
ranging from two to five years. The terms of the MPEZNRFS  WIHAGREERT
leases generally also require the tenant to pay NEHRABEHES -

security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market

conditions.
At 31 March 2013, the Group had total future RZE—=F=ZA=+—8  RELXEHEH
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable MHEHBPEI 2T BB &=L
operating leases with its tenants falling due as A& B B A RE WER 2 KRR B E TR
follows: ONE
Group
AEHEH
2013 2012
—E—-=F —EF——F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T
Within one year —F RN 10,460 1,898
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 5 —FZFH5F
(BEEREME) 11,999 —
22,459 1,898
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39. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 30. KEMELH (&)

(Continued)
(b) As lessee (b)

The Group leases certain of its office properties and
warehouses under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for properties are negotiated for terms ranging
from three months to ten years.

At 31 March 2013, the Group and the Company had
total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

fEBZEBEA

AEERBEEEHELHHEEES TH
REPERER - FIRTENEROHE
RF=ZEAEL+F -

RZZT—=F=A=+—H REFRFT
ARz KE2MEE  AEERARAE
HAXNZARZFERENKWT:

Group Company
AEE AAT
2013 2012 2013 2012
—¥-=f T Z¥—=% T

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EETT ABETT #EETRT AEBTT
Within one year —F R 107,451 137,101 6,441 6,341
In the second to fifth years, F_FEFRF
inclusive (BIEEREMF) 89,161 114,100 4,594 8,735
After five years HF 1% - 712 - —
196,612 251,913 11,035 15,076
40. COMMITMENTS 40. HAE
Apart from the operating lease commitments detailed in Br B X BT sEQ)rF it & E L HEIN - A
note 39(b) above, the Group and the Company had the WEBR AEERARFEL AT E AR
following capital commitments at the end of the reporting Z
period:
Group Company
& AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
—¥-=F5 T ¥-=% "—T—_F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
BETR 7S T T BETT 75T T
Contracted, but not provided for: & 25 #4918 7k ¥ & :
Land and buildings T REF 630,631 76,863 - —
Capital contributions payable ) — 2R
to a jointly-controlled entity TEFE 21,597 — - —
652,228 76,863 — —
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) Transactions with related parties:

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group
had the following material transactions with related
parties during the year:

4. BEBEBALTRS
(a) HEFEANLTZRS:

BRI 15 Mk B2 2% FR
HREHRIN AKRERAEREREGUAT
BREFEALZRS:

Group
AEH
2013 2012
—E—-=%5 —_EF—=
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Bt iF EETR BETT

DigiWin Software Co., Ltd.* and its AEE 2 HE AT
subsidiaries, associates of the Group: SREESHRMNER
RalkEMBAA :
Provision of IT services by the Group AN B R EITIR S 0] 7,260 8,239
Provision of IT services to the Group ) 2N 58 (B 42 (1T AR 75 0] - 1,607
PinHu Digital China BoHai Science & KEBE 2B & RF] -
Technology Co., Ltd.*, an associate a A N EAS 1BE
of the Group: RMEERAR :
Provision of IT services to the Group ) 72N £ B 42 T AR 75 (i) 6,392 6,168
NingBo Digital China HongBo Information 7 & B 2 Bt & A A -
Technology Company Limited*, B UIE €N ]
an associate of the Group: EERMBRAR :
Provision of IT services by the Group AN E B IR EITARE (i) 1,651 2,061
Digital China-Octopus Information Systems 785 B 2 # & #28 &l 1
Service Limited* (“DC Octopus”), N ES\ER
a jointly-controlled entity of the Group: =R RSB AR AR
(e \ZzRE] :
Provision of services by the Group 7N £ B 12 1 AR 75 0] 1,993 —
Provision of services to the Group M) 2N £ B 42 (AR 75 (i) 2,449 -
Digital China Technology Industry REE 7 HEEH
Investment Co., Ltd,* (“DCTII”) and ¥ MBS R E
its subsidiary, jointly-controlled entities of XEBREBREFEAF
the Group: (TR ESIRE )
FEWBAR:
Interest income of the loan B2 A BB A (ii) 26,473 =
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41,

208

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties:
(Continued)

(b)

Notes:

The prices for the provision of IT services/services were
determined at rates mutually agreed between the
Group and the corresponding related parties.

Interest income is charged with reference with the
market interests rates.

The English names of these companies are direct
transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)

Details of the Group’s trade balances with the
jointly-controlled entities and associates as at the
end of the reporting period are included in notes
28 and 30 to the financial statements,
respectively.

The loan of HK$222,140,000 to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of a jointly-controlled entity, DCTII,
included in the Group’s prepayment, deposits
and other receivables at 31 March 2013, are
secured by the entire interests on DCTII held by
another joint venturer of DCTI, interest-bearing
at a rate of 16.15% per annum and are
repayable within one year. In addition, a loan of
HK$52,163,000 to DC Octopus, a jointly-
controlled entity of the Group, included in the
Group’s prepayments, deposits and other
receivables at 31 March 2012, was unsecured,
interest-bearing at a rate of 6.56% per annum
and was repayable within one year.

41,

BB ALRF (&)

(a)

(b)

5 [

S

£ [
(0

BEALZzx5: (&)

RETIRE X RGZEBRLRIEAEE
HEEEALE S HEMEE

Y B B ) S SATH 35 B RS L fE o

RERAZEXEEDEZERMERL
ZRXEHE -

BATZHEREHE:

PERR » AL EEERES B
ENBENR2ESRGBZHBDY
BB P It B 7S R 3K B 7E28 %30

W-ZT—=FE=A=+—8 M\
R ¥ SEREEEREZSE
& FREl 2 B AEE#222140,000
L BREEAEBZEMNRE &
S REMEBRE  LERHSE
REEEREZS—GELENH
BEM@MNEBRIEEERENS
HREZETERER BFRK
16.15%5H 8 - WHEN —FRNEE o
RN RZE——F=A=+—8"
mERZEHISEEE EBRERE
75 #52,163,0007T © BIEE AL E
ZHEMRIE - e R EMEWRR
H O HWERALEERF BFRK
6.56%FTE + WK —FRNEE -
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41.

(Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group:

BB ALRF(E)

() FXEMREFZAS | :

2013 2012

—E—=% —F——F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BEFT BT T

Short term employee benefits SHIE SR A 14,028 13,758

Post-employment benefits EEERT 123 109

Share-based compensation VARS 10 215 2 B & 11,164 15,285
Total compensation paid to key SNGARBEEASR

management personnel 4 25,315 29,152

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 9 to the financial statements.

N EISERR AR AR | 2012/13 F#
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42, wERE oz e T A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial NIERR ST EENZREERT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
2013 —E—=F
Group XEEH
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial
assets at fair
value through Available-
profit or loss for-sale
— held for Loans and financial
trading receivables assets Total
BRAEEE
GTEREN
SREE BRR ot E
- HIEEE BWHIE Z2HEE @t

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EETR EBTR EBTR EETR

Available-for-sale investments AHHEZRE - - 473,952 473,952
Trade and bills receivables U E 5 iR 3R K e M 2R R — 10,324,760 — 10,324,760
Financial assets included in BERBNRIE &
prepayments, deposits and other K EL A fE W SR IE R
receivables ZEMEE - 1,097,646 - 1,097,646
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMITA 53,511 - - 53,511
Cash and cash equivalents HERBREEEY - 4,189,519 - 4,189,519
53,511 15,611,925 473,952 16,139,388
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42. LR REl Dz

(Continued)
2013 (Continued)

Group (Continued)
Financial liabilities

—E-=KE#

rEEH &
EHMAR

SR T A (&)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHBRAGE

ZERBRE

HK$’000

BETT

Trade and bills payables BB SRR & ENEE 10,873,485
Financial liabilities included in other BEREMmEMNRIERERERASD

payables and accruals Zamas 1,799,830

Interest-bearing bank borrowings M ERITE R 5,478,385

Bond payable JEREH 37,023

18,188,723
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42.

212

TR RE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 2. BERNE Dz T HE(E)
(Continued)
2012 —E—-—F
Group XEEH
Financial assets SREE
Financial
assets at fair
value through Available-
profit or loss for-sale
— held for Loans and financial
trading receivables assets Total
RAFEE
FFEEED
PREE BER R At E
— BEEE BKRHIE ZemEE #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT T BB T
Available-for-sale investments AfEEZRE - — 214,321 214,321
Trade and bills receivables FEY & 5 ik 3 R E KR & = 10,787,427 = 10,787,427
Financial assets included in BEREBENKIE  &Ze
prepayments, deposits and other K2 EL A fE W SR IE AR
receivables ZERMEE = 958,261 = 958,261
Derivative financial instruments MESMITA 92,440 = = 92,440
Cash and cash equivalents ReREEEEY = 4,253,966 — 4,253,966
92,440 15,999,654 214,321 16,306,415
Financial liabilities SHBE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REHK AT E

Z AR

HK$'000

ok

Trade and bills payables JENE SRR R ENZEE 12,315,472
Financial liabilities included in other BERHEMENREARERERTD

payables and accruals JEmBE 1,737,989

Interest-bearing bank borrowings Be B ERITE K 4,015,895

Bond payable ERHE S 36,615

18,105,971
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 42, EHNE Dz e/ TE(E)
(Continued)
Company AAT
Financial assets EWMEE
2013 2012
—g—=%F —E——4F
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
ERRERRE ERREWRIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETIT 7T I
Financial assets included in BERENRE ZE&k
prepayments, deposits and other H th & W A
receivables ZEMEE 19,503 8,713
Due from subsidiaries JE W Bf /88 A B 3k IR 3,936,457 3,625,593
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁ%&ﬁ‘i\%{ﬁ% 1,912 1,974
3,957,872 3,636,280
Financial liabilities co =R
2013 2012
—g—-=%5 —E——4F
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
REERATE REHKATE
ZEREE ZERBaE
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETIT BT T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Mg B ER1T 738,751 390,000
Financial liabilities included in other BERHE ﬁﬂﬂE ﬁmlﬁ NIBRERF
payables and accruals ZERBE 15,945 13,525
Due to subsidiaries AR ENGI B ] 894,949 992,502
1,649,645 1,396,027
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43. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 43. RV EBEFR
As at 31 March 2013 and 2012, the carrying amounts of RZE—=FR=ZF——-F=HA=+—H 'K
the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments EEERARRZEBMTAZIEEERENFE
approximated to their fair values largely due to the short BEE TERAZFITAHEAIE -
term maturities of these instruments.
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AEBEATIHERABEEREENeHITA
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: ZNTEE
Level 1: fair value measured based on quoted price Em—: RFEEFEERBEETRMS
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets TEBRECREAZ)NBEEEK
or liabilities BfE
Level 2: fair value measured based on valuation EHm=: RFEBENEEREMBEAFEER
techniques for which all inputs which have a EERTENTHA=ZMENEE
significant effect on the recorded fair value are K 6] % B 5% B A9 i (B 10
observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: fair value measured based on valuation EH= RYEEFEEREBEYHERAFEE
techniques for which any inputs which have a BEERFZENTHEARTIZER
significant effect on the recorded fair value are A ER S B 6 T 35 BUR ) R (B B ls (1
not based on observable market data BRI FHAE)
(unobservable inputs)
Assets measured at fair value: RAFEEFENEE:
Group rEH
As at 31 March 2013: RN-ZE—=f5£=H=+—H8:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Eh— EH= EH= et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EBETT EETR EETR EETR
Available-for-sale investments: AHEEZRE
Equity investments EmZE 259,745 - - 259,745
Derivative financial instruments T4 &8t T E - 53,511 - 53,511
259,745 53,511 - 313,256
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43. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

44,

43. AEBESZR

(#)

Assets measured at fair value: (Continued) LAFEEAENEE: (8)
Group (Continued) rXEEHE)
As at 31 March 2012: N-ZE——-f=H=+—H:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EH— = EHm= Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T ook BT T E¥EF T
Available-for-sale investments: AEHEZRE:
Equity investment ERIRE 107,619 = = 107,619
Derivative financial instruments T4 &8t T A = 92,440 = 92,440
107,619 92,440 — 200,059
During the year, there were no transfers into or out of WAFER  TEAATFEEFSEASEH

Level 3 fair value measurements (2012: Nil).

The Company did not have any financial assets at fair value
as at 31 March 2013 and 2012.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings, a
bond payable and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s capital expenditure and operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade and bills receivables and trade and bills payables,
which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including
principally forward currency contracts. The purpose is to
manage the currency risks arising from the Group’s
operations and its sources of finance.

PINBIBIER AR QA | 2012/13 3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, market risk, foreign
currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s
accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in
note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s borrowings
with floating interest rates.

At 31 March 2013, HK$5,243,730,000 (2012:
HK$3,598,162,000) of the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings bore interest at floating rates. The Group
believes that the exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates is minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating
rate borrowings).

81 % B B B 3R B AR MR (48)

ZﬁﬁlﬁmﬁlﬁFﬁIZiZIEH ﬁﬂfﬂ
788 m%ﬂ CHNEER R - E B R ROR B
MRk BEERALEEE? X*EI—L 22
B BRABGRSANT - ASENEBEITAE
TAMEABRE NI B HRENMT24 -

== a1 b&

AEBFER TSN EEHRABREZEAR
SERIBNEFRZEREM -

EA* —ZF#ZA=+—H8 AEEsHEE
KA #5,243,730,000 L (ZF ——F : B E
3,598,162,0007T) I & )2 B M| K51 B - K& E
HE 15 T BR 2 Th 35 FI) 3= & &) [ B 88 88 4 o

R|ERR - TRERAIEAEZAERZE (M
Hfth 8 BRI &) RS BB W AT i A GF
BIPNEERZHZE)NBRE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit
basis points before tax
EEEH A B i A it F
(P& %) wan, (GRD)
HK$’000
BT T
2013 —_EF£—=
HK$ borrowings BEE R 100 (66,357)
HK$ borrowings 7S B R (100) 66,357
2012 T ——F
HK$ borrowings S E R 100 (49,312)
HK$ borrowings B R (100) 49,312
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Market risk

The Group trades in financial instruments including
derivatives.

Market risk represents the risk that the fair values or future
cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market variables, such as interest rates and
foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to market
risk through its derivative financial instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures mainly arise from purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the wunits’ functional currencies.
Approximately 16% (2012: 14%) of the Group’s purchases
were denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the operating units making the purchase. In
order to minimise the impact of foreign exchange exposure,
the Group has entered into forward currency contracts with
creditworthy banks to manage its exchange rate exposure.

fE MBS IEAG A BR A Al | 2012/13 F 3R
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the RMB exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

81 % B B B 3R B AR MR (48)

o ¥ JEL B (4])

T%ﬁ\,\mﬁ’\#&iﬂ;ﬁﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁa TENIER

CAKENETAEN(HREBEERR
1$Eﬁ NP EEZEFHHNARBERNGIEE
EEHNGPRE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
RMB rate before tax
ANREBEE B i wi it F
7 (B 1K) wan, (GRD)
% HK$’000
Epalsd BT T
2013 —T—=F
If RMB weakens against US$ EANREHEEETEE (1) (60,793)
If RMB strengthens against US$ BEARBHEETER 1 60,793
2012 —EF——F
If RMB weakens against US$ EAREHEETTER (1) (51,828)
If RMB strengthens against US$ EAREHEEEITRE 1 51,828

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale
financial investments, other receivables and certain
derivative instruments, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. The Company is
also exposed to credit risk through the granting of financial
guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in note
38 to the financial statements.

fEEE kR

AEBERERUREEBEZFR =T ETT
R - AEBZHRRRAHABEAERIER
HZEFETERAZERA -

AEEEMEREE (BRREMREEFEY
AHHEZERRE - RMbBKIRRRETOT
’_{IE\)ZFEJ—L TJEHEAX%;T%ELZ’JP)TE&Z
i P A 2 & REBEMAEFRZFIAZ
IREE - AR Tﬁl%mf,\ﬂﬂxﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘%?%
BRE - - SFBEHR UL SRR LSS o
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Over 90% of the Group’s customers and
operations are located in Mainland China. Concentrations of
credit risk are managed by industry sector and customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables are
disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade and bills receivables) and projected cash
flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank borrowings and other available
sources of finances. In addition, banking facilities have been
put in place for contingency purposes.

fE MBS IEAG A BR A Al | 2012/13 F 3R
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 44, B EREEBEZEREE(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) B i LB (4R)
The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s LUTEHIAEBRERARNGRIFERR SR E
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, EXEBE (RIEBECFTAME R IRRETE) -
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, was as
follows:
Group AEE
2013
—E—-=%5
3 to less
Less than than 1to Over
3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
=F
ZEAUT +ZEAMN —ERFE BBAF wst

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$’000
EETRT #BEFR BEFTR BEFTR BETR

Interest-bearing bank borrowings M 8 8R 1T E & 1,441,159 1,407,344 2,786,307 — 5,634,810
Bond payable ERES 479 37,333 - - 37,812
Trade and bills payables FE B SR K

B R & 10,490,840 382,593 52 — 10,873,485
Other payables b &S 5 IE 1,318,893 480,937 - — 1,799,830

13,251,371 2,308,207 2,786,359

18,345,937
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

44, B EREEBZEREE(E)

Liquidity risk (Continued) e B R B (48
Group (Continued) AEEBEGE)
2012
—E—C_fF
3 to less
Less than than 1 to Over
3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
=%
=@BANRT +=Z@EAA —ERF BB AF BEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
BEFT AT BT A%Fr AET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M 88817 E 1,143,656 1,237,437 1,721,842 —  4102,935
Bond payable R ES 474 1,423 37,421 — 39,318
Trade and bills payables ERESER KR
&N R & 12,086,776 228,544 152 — 12,315,472
Other payables H b S 5RIE 1,251,760 486,229 = - 1,737,989
14,482,666 1,953,633 1,759,415 — 18,195,714
Company EAT
2013
—F—=f
3 to less
Less than than 1to Over
3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
=F
=Z@EAUT +ZEAAN AE—F AEEB et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETR EETT BETR EETT BETR
Interest-bearing bank borrowings Mt 28R 17 E 7% 350,741 392,872 - - 743,613
Due to subsidiaries FESH BB 2 Bl 5K IE 894,949 - - - 894,949
Other payables H {th B 5018 15,945 - - - 15,945
1,261,635 392,872 - - 1,654,507
221
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A4, IFRAREIRBZE MBUR(B)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) B i LB (4R)
Company (Continued) AAT (&)
2012
—T—_4F
3 to less
Less than than 1 to Over
3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
=2
=EART +TZEARN —ZhF HBALF st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETIT BETT BETT BETT BETT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings i 88817 & F 1,735 5,204 394,703 — 401,642
Due to subsidiaries FEASHF B R R FE 992,502 = = = 992,502
Other payables b A 5 IE 13,525 = = = 13,525

1,007,762 5,204 394,703 — 1,407,669
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012.

1M RS IEAE B BR A A | 2012/13 F 3R
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44, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. The
Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio as low as
possible. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank
borrowings, a bond payable, trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital represents equity attributable to equity holders of
the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

44,

R EIEBFE B R(E)

EXEEER)

AEEEREEABRREREN  ZHLETIH
BEFERANBENMABEFBIMAE - K
SENBRECEREVEREERARGILTSE
FHEEKY - BEFRBREMEBRITEN &
MES BNESERANENRE - EMEN
RERBEREARRELASEFEY - EX
RRERFRREGES NREPARZE
ERERET:

Group

&
2013 2012

—E—-=%f -z
HK$’000 HK$’000
EBETIT BT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings WEIRITER 5,478,385 4,015,895
Bond payable IS ESH 37,023 36,615
Trade and bills payables JEHE SR A X BN E R 10,873,485 12,315,472
Other payables and accruals HEMEMNRBELRERER 3,041,381 2,728,849
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERREEEY (4,189,519) (4,253,966)
Net debt BEFHE 15,240,755 14,842,865
Equity attributable to equity holders N AR R R R

of the parent 7,826,498 6,821,187
Total capital BE KR 7,826,498 6,821,187
Total capital and net debt BERMBEFR 23,067,253 21,664,052
Gearing ratio EEBEX 66% 69%
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45. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Due to the restructuring of the “Distribution” segment,
“Systems” segment and “Supply Chain Services” segment
during the current year, comparative amounts of the
operating segment information in note 4 have been restated
to conform with the current year’s presentation.

46. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 18 June 2013.

N EIS AR AR AR | 2012/13 F#
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Five-Year Financial Summary

IFMGRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-

AEBBEREYRFERZECAMEEZINE

controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, BR¥E BAE BERIFEBREZBMENT -
as extracted from the published audited financial statements, is
set out below.
RESULTS E
Year ended 31 March
HEZE=A=+—HILEE
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
ZE-=F ZT——F ZT——F ZZT-TF ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT ok BT T BT T BT T
REVENUE KA 73,498,913 70,319,367 56,803,774 50,178,281 42,326,342
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B % A1 g5 A 1,851,274 1,653,166 1,264,841 1,047,990 736,222
Income tax expense Fr88iE A (332,122) (314,478) (208,502) (174,288) (126,936)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A i A 1,519,152 1,338,688 1,056,339 873,702 609,286
Attributable to: EBEN:
Equity holders of the parent NE R R AE S 1,367,369 1,244,813 1,005,385 824,299 641,145
Non-controlling interests I VR IR 7 2 151,783 93,875 50,954 49,403 (31,859)
1,519,152 1,338,688 1,056,339 873,702 609,286
> = == RN == N\ /
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BEHEFEBRER
INTERESTS
As at 31 March
W=A=+—H
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
—E-=F T ZT——F ZZT-TF ZTTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EETT ook 7S ¥ T ok ook b
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 28,407,870 26,821,783 19,945,575 15,669,789 11,546,225
TOTAL LIABILITIES FEN=N (19,736,736)  (19,298,356)  (13,374,742) (10,996,406)  (8,315,305)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS  JF#% i =5 (844,636) (702,240) (537,837) (472,555) (90,984)
7,826,498 6,821,187 6,032,996 4,200,828 3,139,936
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